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WELCOME 
It gives us great pleasure to introduce the Annual Report and Accounts for East and North 
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the year 2020/21. This report is a 
statutory document, setting out how we have performed over the past twelve months, our 
governance arrangements and how we have managed our finances. It is also our chance to 
tell you about some of the achievements of which we are particularly proud and explain 
how we have overcome our biggest challenges. 
 
This report covers one of the most extraordinary years in the history of the National Health 
Service and one in which we have seen the NHS at its very best. The continued 
commitment and dedication of staff to deliver good care under relentless pressure is a 
source of great pride for us and we know just how hard our people have been working 
since the pandemic began. Thank you to everyone who works or volunteers in health and 
social care for looking after our patients and keeping our communities safe.  
 
The Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) in which we work is very 
experienced in pulling together in times of challenge. (See page 15 for more on the ICS).  
Throughout the COVID-19 response and recovery, our providers in the acute, community, 
primary care, mental health and third sector have worked tirelessly with us as 
commissioners of health services to deliver safe and effective care for patients. This joint 
response to an emergency situation has accelerated the integration and collaboration of 
health and social care organisations across our area. 
 
Although the pace of some of the ICS’ transformation work has slowed this year as the 
system dealt with the operational challenges of the pandemic, we have seen many positive 
changes that will have long lasting benefits. We are pleased to have overseen many 
improvements; from a revolution in digital access to healthcare to the extension of virtual 
wards, giving more people the care and support they need without requiring a hospital 
stay. You can read more about these key projects and the many more taking place in our 
area to improve patient care later in this report.  
 
As we write this introduction, the NHS continues to deliver the biggest vaccination 
programme ever seen in this country. Our GP practices have been at the forefront of 
vaccinating people at greatest risk of becoming seriously ill from COVID-19, while still 
keeping primary care services running for patients. We would like to publicly express our 
thanks to everyone involved in protecting those most vulnerable to COVID-19. This includes 
our GP practices, our CCG staff, our providers, our partners in local authorities and the 
voluntary sector. This report is testament to everyone’s collective efforts over the past year 
and we hope that you will find it a useful and interesting read. 

https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/home/about-us
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PERFORMANCE REPORT: 
OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 
This section contains a summary of our performance as an organisation 
during 2020/21 plus a flavour of the work we do. You can read more about 
our work at: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk  
 

ABOUT US 
We are the local NHS organisation which plans and pays for the health services used by 
almost 613,000 people who live in our area. Led by local GPs, the CCG works closely with 
clinicians, patients and partner organisations to decide how our annual budget of more 
than £890m should be spent.  

We aim to:  

• work closely with GPs, patients, partners, managers, community groups and clinical 
colleagues from all sectors to commission the best possible healthcare for our 
patients within available resources  
 

• reduce health inequalities and achieve a stable and sustainable health economy by 
working together, sharing best practice and improving expertise and clinical 
outcomes for patients  
 
 

 

 

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/
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WHAT IS COMMISSIONING?  
We use information and evidence about local services and people’s experiences of them to 
look at whether those services are meeting people’s needs. If improvements or changes are 
needed, we work with our GP members, the organisations which provide services and local 
people to put forward new ideas or ways of delivering care. 

The CCG as part of the Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) has 
developed system-wide strategic plans to set out how health and social care organisations 
will improve the services and care provided to patients whilst remaining within the budgets 
we are allocated.  

NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance sets out what is required of NHS 
organisations and covers system planning, full operational plan requirements, workforce 
transformation requirements, the financial settlement and the process and timescales 
around the submission of plans. In 2020/21, this guidance was suspended in order to 
enable the NHS to respond to the urgent operational needs brought about by the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
 
Our role is to:  

• ensure health services are high quality  
• involve local people in planning and improving services  
• make the most effective use of the money given to us to improve services for patients 

 
Our strategic objectives, which guide our work, are available on our website. Performance 
of the organisation is regularly reported to and discussed at the CCG’s Governing Body, 
which met virtually in public four times during 2020/21. The Boards of the three CCGs in 
Hertfordshire and West Essex also met together for the first time in January 2021. 
 
The papers for all CCG Governing Body meetings are published on our website and the 
public can observe meetings online.  An ‘Integrated Performance and Quality Report’ is 
presented at each meeting, enabling the Governing Body and the public to track how the 
local health system is performing over time.   

You can also read our previous Annual Reports online here.  

  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/operational-planning-and-contracting/
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/our-strategic-objectives
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/our-annual-report
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ABOUT US INFOGRAPHIC 
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TYPES OF COMISSIONING 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG buys services from organisations which provide patient 
care, including GPs, NHS hospitals, mental health and community trusts, voluntary 
organisations and independent organisations. We also fund the cost of medicines and 
treatments prescribed by GPs and nurse prescribers.  

In 2020/21, we commissioned services in the following ways:  

• as the co-ordinating commissioner, where our CCG has the biggest share of activity 
and holds the contract, allowing other commissioners to be associates to the 
contract. Examples of this include contracts with East and North Hertfordshire NHS 
Trust and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust.  
 

• as an associate commissioner, where another commissioner has the biggest share 
of activity and holds the contract, allowing East and North Hertfordshire CCG to be a 
party to the contract. Examples of this include contracts with Princess Alexandra 
Hospital NHS Trust, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust and Cambridge 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  
 

• as a joint commissioner, where funding is pooled with partners and services are 
commissioned using that combined budget. Examples include mental health and 
learning disability services, where funding is pooled with Hertfordshire County 
Council (HCC) and Herts Valleys CCG to commission care, mainly from Hertfordshire 
Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust and from HCC’s adult social services. 
We also jointly commission services from community and voluntary sector 
organisations with Hertfordshire County Council.  
 

• as lead commissioner, where we procure services on behalf of other CCGs. For 
example, we are the lead commissioner for the Integrated Urgent Care service (NHS 
111) which covers the whole of Hertfordshire.  

• as a delegated commissioner, where we assume full day-to-day responsibility for 
commissioning general practice services, although the legal responsibility remains 
with the national organisation NHS England. NHS England also commissions 
specialised services and services provided by dentists, pharmacists and 
optometrists. The CCG has a duty to assist and support NHS England to carry out 
these functions and secure continuous improvement in the quality of primary 
medical services.  
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We have strong governance arrangements in place to oversee the delivery of the priorities 
for patient care identified in the CCG’s operational plan. We work together with other 
organisations in our local health and social care system to achieve these priorities, where 
appropriate. For example, the Urgent Care Network involves representatives from across 
health and social care. This means that joint decisions can be made to ensure that people 
are not admitted to hospital when there is a better option for their care. Good partnership 
working also helps patients to be discharged from hospital in a timely way when it is the 
right time for them to leave. 

 

PROVIDING CARE 
As a commissioning organisation, we do not directly care for patients. Acute hospital 
services - where a patient receives short-term treatment for a severe injury or illness, an 
urgent medical condition, or during recovery from surgery - are provided for our residents 
by NHS hospital and community trusts, NHS foundation trusts and other independent 
providers of health services.  
 
The CCG has contracts with more than twenty providers and we also pay for care at other 
Care Quality Commission (CQC)-registered providers where needed. The main hospitals our 
patients use are East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS 
Trust and Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
Community services - such as district nursing, therapy and dietetics - are mainly provided to 
people in their homes, in local clinics, in schools and in our community hospitals by 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT). Mental health and learning disability services 
are provided by Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust who work 
closely with the CCG to promote greater integration between mental and physical health 
and social care.  

For urgent care, our patients use the Integrated Urgent Care service delivered by HUC 
through NHS 111. There are also minor injuries services at Cheshunt and Bishop’s Stortford 
and the Urgent Treatment Centre at the New QEII Hospital. 

The CCG also commissions around twenty other community providers to deliver services 
including termination of pregnancy, vasectomy, IVF, end of life care, non-emergency 
patient transport and optometry. 

 

https://www.enherts-tr.nhs.uk/
https://www.pah.nhs.uk/
https://www.pah.nhs.uk/
https://www.royalfree.nhs.uk/
https://www.hct.nhs.uk/
https://www.hpft.nhs.uk/
https://hucweb.co.uk/
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The healthcare organisations with whom the CCG spent more than £5m in 2020/21  
– together with the broad categories of care they provided - are set out here: 

Provider  Service category  
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust  Acute  
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust  Mental Health  
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust  Acute  
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust  Community and Minor Injuries  
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust  
(including Chase Farm Hospital)  

Acute  

East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust  Ambulance and non-
emergency patient transport  

Cambridgeshire University Foundation Hospital Trust 
(including Addenbrookes Hospital) 

Acute  

Herts Urgent Care (HUC) Integrated Urgent Care  
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust  Acute  
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  Acute  

 
12.6% of the CCG’s budget (a total of around £111m) is spent on primary care services. 
More information about our expenditure in 2020/21 can be found from page 98.   
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THE NHS LONG TERM PLAN 
As medicine advances and health needs change, the NHS has to adapt so that we have a 
service fit for the future. The NHS Long Term Plan sets out how the NHS can overcome the 
challenges it faces, such as staff shortages and growing demand for services, by:  

Doing things differently: the NHS is giving people more control over their own health and 
the care they receive, encouraging more collaboration between GPs, their teams and 
community services, as ‘primary care networks’ (PCNs), to increase the services they can 
provide together for very local populations. NHS organisations are working closely with 
their local partners across a wider area, as ‘Integrated Care Systems’, to plan and deliver 
services which meet the needs of their communities.  

Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities: the NHS is stepping up its work to 
tackle some of the most significant causes of ill health, including new action to help people 
stop smoking, overcome drinking problems and avoid Type 2 diabetes, with a particular 
focus on the communities and groups of people most affected by these problems.  

Backing our workforce: there are national and local plans to strengthen the NHS workforce 
by training and recruiting more professionals, providing more clinical placements for 
undergraduate nurses, more medical school places, and more routes into the NHS such as 
apprenticeships. The national ‘people plan’ outlines how the NHS will be made a better 
place to work, so more staff stay and feel able to make better use of their skills and 
experience for patients.  

Making better use of data and digital technology: the past 12 months has shown that the 
NHS is innovative and able to respond quickly to make the most of digital solutions to 
enhance patient care. We want to use technology more in the coming years. 

Getting the most out of investment in the NHS: the NHS must identify ways to reduce 
duplication in how clinical services are delivered and reduce spend on administration 
where this is appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://youtu.be/W19DtEsc8Ys
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ournhspeople/
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HERTFORDSHIRE AND WEST ESSEX INTEGRATED CARE 
SYSTEM (ICS) 
What are integrated care systems? 

Integrated care is about giving people the support they need, joined up across the NHS, 
local councils and other partners. It removes traditional divisions between hospitals and 
GPs, between physical and mental health, and between health and social care services. In 
the past, these organisational structures have meant that too many people experience 
disjointed care. 

Integrated care systems (ICSs) are partnerships between the organisations that meet health 
and care needs across an area, to plan and deliver services in a way that improves the 
health of the wider population and reduces inequalities between different groups. 

In May 2020, the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP) was granted Integrated Care System (ICS) status.  

The three CCGs in Hertfordshire and west Essex have a joint accountable officer and a 
shared CCG management team is in place to support this new leadership.  The three CCGs 
remain as separate entities with responsibility for delivering local services and with their 
own governing bodies and constitutions.  

With each part of the country now ready to function as an ICS, NHS England and NHS 
Improvement has asked the Government and Parliament to establish Integrated Care 
Systems in law. Decisions on legislation will be made by Government and Parliament during 
the summer of 2021. The ICS will move forward with developing its governance structures 
in line with this process.  Progress on implementing the vision outlined in the ICS strategic 
plan was paused in March to enable health and social care organisations across 
Hertfordshire and west Essex to focus on managing the implications of COVID-19.  

In the ‘restoration and reset’ phase with planned activity back up to more usual levels, the 
ICS strategic plan has guided us in ensuring that we deliver the transformation needed in 
our services. In some areas, COVID has enabled some of these changes to be more rapid  
– for example offering appointments and consultations remotely. There are also some key 
workstreams, such as cancer and mental health which are subject to additional scrutiny to 
ensure we continue to focus on improving patient outcomes as set out by NHS England and 
Improvement. 

 

 

https://youtu.be/mz4FFE2y8PM
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/pbm/2021/hwe-ics-partnership-board-pack-09022021.pdf
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/pbm/2021/hwe-ics-partnership-board-pack-09022021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
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During 2020/21, the ICS focused on:  

• Enhanced arrangements for co-ordinating urgent and emergency care. These were 
put in place across the ICS at the start of January to support our hospitals in 
responding to intense and sustained pressures. 
 

• Workforce planning. Supporting health and care staff and looking after their health 
and wellbeing during the pandemic has been a cornerstone of this workstream. The 
system continues to prioritise and protect those that are most vulnerable within our 
workforce. A co-ordinated approach to risk assessments for our Black, Asian and 
Ethnic Minority workforce was put in place in the spring based on the effects of 
COVID on those populations. Extensive communications work has taken place to 
encourage BAME staff to take up the vaccine. The ICS has also established processes 
with local authority and NHS organisations, to enable the sharing of staff, 
particularly to support the COVID vaccination programme.   
 
The Hertfordshire and West Essex Health and Care People Plan was developed this 
year, aligned to the four key pillars of the national NHS People Plan. A detailed 
analysis of recruitment and retention of nursing, health care support worker and 
care support worker roles is being undertaken. 
 

• Restoring planned care. The Hertfordshire and West Essex system is leading the 
way in using shared data to oversee clinical prioritisation of patients waiting for 
elective surgery. The ICS is supporting NHS hospitals to work with independent 
providers to see and treat patients as quickly as possible. 
 
The ICS also worked with providers to introduce Patient Initiated Follow Up (PIFU). 
This gives patients greater control over their hospital follow-up care and to initiate 
their own appointments as and when they need them. This might be when they 
have a flare up of their symptoms or change in their circumstances, rather than 
having their appointments at routine intervals as is traditionally offered. This helps 
avoid unnecessary routine appointments and makes it easier for patients to book 
appointments when they really need them. 
 

• Community Mental Health Transformation. The ICS submitted a bid to NHS England 
and Improvement to enhance adult community mental health services over the next 
three years. We will build on the work we’ve already done to ensure there is no 
‘wrong front door ‘ to access care, to provide a full range of appropriate services for 
those severe mental health needs and develop integrated and personalised care 
and support plans.  
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• Deploying digital solutions. The ICS was part of a national pilot to trial Facebook 
‘Portals’ within care homes to enable residents to see and talk to their close family 
face-to-face whilst in isolation due to COVID-19.  105 Facebook Portal devices were 
provided free of charge across Hertfordshire and west Essex. After the pilot the 
devices were gifted by Facebook to the settings involved to keep and continue to 
use if they wish. Feedback has shown that being able to connect with family 
virtually has had a positive impact on the wellbeing of residents. Working with the 
frailty programme, the ICS also provided one iPad to all residential and learning 
disability care homes to enable secure and reliable video consultations between 
residents, GPs and multi-disciplinary teams. 
 

Providers working together 

As part of the new ways of working, providers of healthcare will be expected to collaborate 
where possible. This could be where providers of similar services (for example, acute 
hospital care) work together across the ICS area to provide care for a population or where 
providers of different types (for example, acute, community and mental health) co-operate 
to join up care at a very local level.   
 
These provider collaboratives are mostly at an early stage of development, and NHS 
England and NHS Improvement will provide further guidance this year. 
 
Some services are already commissioned at county level as part of joint arrangements with 
Herts Valleys CCG and Hertfordshire County Council. Where it is best to commission 
services at a county, ICS or regional level, those arrangements will continue.   
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COVID-19 TIMELINE 

The following timeline aims to summarise the key COVID-related events that 
affected the Hertfordshire health system during 2020/21. More detail about 
the CCG’s work to support the pandemic response and recovery can be 
found later in this report.   

 
March 2020  
Incident 
Control Centre 
established at 
Charter House 

Changes to services 
• New triage system at Lister emergency department. All minors now 

seen at the Urgent Care Centre at the New QEII Hospital  
• Move to virtual appointments across all health services 

Staffing changes 

• NHS staff risk assessments began 
• CCG staff predominantly move to working from home 
• Some CCG staff redeployed to support NHS111 and care settings  

April 2020 
Peak of first 
wave in 
Hertfordshire 
 

Changes to services 
• Routine hospital services paused nationally 
• Respiratory ‘Hot Hubs’ enabled safe assessment of patients with 

suspected COVID in primary care 
• Voluntary and council support for patients who were ‘shielding’ 
• Continuing Healthcare assessment process put on hold nationally 
• ‘The NHS is open’ public communications campaign began 
• Urgent dental hubs established by NHS England and Improvement 

COVID Testing 
• Roll out of COVID testing in care homes and for hospital inpatients 
• Local mobile COVID testing units established for essential workers 

Supporting partners 
• Infection prevention and control team supports local providers to 

access appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
• Observation training and equipment rolled out to care homes 

May 2020 
Public 
guidance on 
the wearing of 

COVID Testing 
• COVID testing expanded, initially to essential workers and their 

households, then to anyone with symptoms. New drive through 
testing sites added weekly 

• National NHS Test and Trace service launched 
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face coverings 
issued 

Supporting partners 
• Care home support locally enhanced service launched 
• CCG worked with providers to re-start services that had paused  
• Additional training provided to care homes on PPE 

June 2020 
Easing of 
lockdown 
restrictions 
and shielding 
guidance 
 

Changes to services 
• All community providers re-opened services and ENHT re-opened 

referrals for routine patients 

Staffing changes 
• Most redeployed staff started to return to the CCG 
• NHS staff take part in COVID antibody testing programme 

July 2020 
Face covering 
guidance 
extended  

Working with system partners 
• CCG begins to develop system-wide winter plans 
• Hertfordshire County Council publishes local COVID outbreak plan 
• Hertfordshire ‘Play your Part’ public information campaign launched 
• ‘Your COVID Recovery’ website launched 

August and 
September 
2020 

Recovery 
• CCG worked with ICS partners to develop recovery plans 
• Most providers return to pre-COVID levels of referrals into services 
• CCG worked with trusts to help patients be seen more quickly using 

independent sector  
• Continuing Healthcare deferred assessments re-started 
• Planning to make Charter House COVID-secure to enable more CCG 

staff to work there safely 

October and 
November 
2020 
National ‘tier’ 
and lockdown 
system 
introduced 
amid rising 
COVID cases 

• Acute waiting lists prioritised to ensure those in most need are 
treated first 

• Long COVID service was commissioned  
• Planning for COVID vaccination programme started  
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December 
2020 
Hertfordshire 
placed under 
highest tier 
restrictions 
 

Changes to services 
• Numbers of COVID patients in Hertfordshire hospitals significantly 

increased 
• Launch of ‘Think NHS 111 First’ 

COVID vaccinations 
• First COVID vaccinations given in Hertfordshire at Lister hub  
• GPs established first PCN vaccination centres  

January 2021 

Hospitals 
remain very 
busy with 
COVID and 
non-COVID 
patients  

Changes to services 
• Oximetry at home pathway was rolled out 
• Overnight urgent care services at QEII temporarily stopped to 

enable better use of staffing resource at the very busy Lister 
Hospital. Patients encouraged to use the NHS111 service before 
leaving home 

COVID vaccinations 
• COVID vaccinations began at all GP-run sites and for housebound 

patients 
• First HCT-run large scale vaccination centre opens at Robertson 

House, Stevenage 

February 2021 
Numbers of 
COVID 
patients starts 
to decline at 
our hospitals 

COVID vaccinations 
• More large scale and pharmacy vaccination centres open 
• Transport to vaccination centres put in place for eligible patients    

Partnership working 
• Rapid COVID testing available for people not showing symptoms  
• Shielding programme extended to protect more people 
• Surge testing takes place in Broxbourne to detect new variants 
• COVID information champions launched 

March 2021 

Roadmap 
published by 
government to 
ease COVID 
restrictions  

• More large scale vaccination centres open 
• Rapid COVID testing encouraged for secondary school pupils and 

their families 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE 
 

At the time of writing, the NHS remains in one of the most challenging periods in its history. 
2020/21 has been a year of unprecedented complexity; one in which as a society we have 
experienced terrible losses and where we have seen the very best from our dedicated NHS 
people.  We have excellent relationships across the health and care system in Hertfordshire 
and our well-established partnership working has helped us weather the storms we have 
faced, finding solutions that keep the care and safety of our patients at the centre of 
everything we do.  
 
Looking back, we have many reasons to be proud of the work we have done to protect our 
population from the direct and indirect impact of COVID - working to reduce the spread of 
the virus, treating those who have contracted it, and ensuring that our population can 
access good quality healthcare services when they need them.  
 
Our GP practices, hospitals, community and mental health trust colleagues have 
transformed the way that care is provided this year, for very many thousands of acutely 
unwell COVID patients as well as those using the health service for other conditions. Vital 
health services have been maintained throughout the pandemic and this report will 
highlight some of those. We are determined to build on the best of the innovation and new 
ways of working that have been put in place this year, to ensure that health and care 
services remain accessible for our communities, making the best use of our resources. 
 
In this section of the report I hope to set out some of the key performance of our 
organisation and the risks faced east and north Hertfordshire system over the past 12 
months. You can read more about our strategic risks on page 128. 
 
Nationally, mandatory performance reporting was reduced from 1 April 2020, with only the 
statutory reporting requirements on four hour waits for A&E services, cancer waiting times 
and ‘referral to treatment’ ambitions continuing. 
 
This year’s annual report will therefore not contain a full performance analysis, but a 
snapshot of how our two local hospital trusts, East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and 
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust achieved against these national standards, where 
data is available. You will find this information on pages 46 - 53.  
 
This report will instead highlight the work undertaken by the CCG alongside its system 
partners to manage the COVID pandemic in both the ‘response’ and ‘restoration and reset’ 
phases. 
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The CCG’s role in the COVID pandemic 

As an NHS commissioning organisation, we have a responsibility to establish an Incident 
Control Centre (ICC) to co-ordinate our health system’s response to COVID-19. In addition 
to the established ‘director on call’ rota, which ensures that issues affecting the 
performance of services are resolved or escalated out of normal working hours, an 
additional rota system was put in place to specifically manage the demands of running an 
effective response to COVID at all times. Our staff moved primarily to a working from home 
model, with representatives from every team working in our COVID-secure office in 
Welwyn Garden City on a rotational basis to support the ICC.  Our IT infrastructure and 
supporting software was quickly upgraded to enable remote working. The organisation has 
fully embraced the new agile working environment which gives individuals more flexibility 
to carry out their roles while meeting their other home responsibilities encountered during 
the pandemic.   
 
Partnerships 

The CCG plays a key role in the Hertfordshire Local Resilience Forum (LRF), with senior 
representation at the Strategic Co-ordinating Group, and at the various multi-agency cells 
which feed into it. This has enabled us to be at the heart of decision-making for the 
pandemic, sharing our expertise, our system knowledge and our staff. Whilst this does not 
describe the full extent of our work, the CCG has made significant contributions to the cells 
focused on protecting residents in care homes, the establishment of GP-led vaccination 
centres, the rapid deployment of testing protocols and sites, outbreak management and 
communications – helping our residents to understand government restrictions, supporting 
them to access care and services safely and come forward for their COVID vaccination. 
 
You can read more about the CCGs role in managing the pandemic response on page 86. 
 
Primary care  

Our GP practices have risen to the significant challenges presented by COVID-19. Although 
they are working differently, practices are very much open and here to help patients with 
their health concerns. During the first wave of the pandemic, following guidance issued by 
NHS England and Improvement, GP practices focused on delivering priority care, including 
supporting people with long term conditions, ensuring those with mental health needs 
were supported and keeping childhood immunisations up to date.  

Our GPs continued to refer patients for tests and treatments for suspected cancers and 
sought advice and guidance from secondary care clinicians where needed, but much 
routine, elective care was paused to allow hospitals to look after emergencies and patients 
with COVID-related illness.    
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In March, our practices began to triage all appointment requests from patients.  This 
helped to ensure that those who really needed a face-to-face consultation could be 
prioritised and patients who could be helped through an online or telephone advice service 
were assisted in this way. Telephone appointments and online contact through eConsult, 
were well-received by many patients who have adapted quickly to the new way of 
communicating with their GP.  GPs have been able to work in a more flexible way, including 
from home while self-isolating, thanks to the efforts of our IT provider (HBL ICT) to source 
equipment like laptops and cameras and put in place the appropriate secure systems to 
manage care remotely. Information governance protocols were updated enabling sharing 
of data to take place across groups of practices. Because of the increase in remote 
consultations, at the end of 2020/21 primary care were offering more appointments than 
were available pre-pandemic. 
 
Through primary care networks (more about these on page 43), ‘hot’ sites, for treating 
patients who had suspected COVID symptoms, and ‘cold’ sites for everybody else, were 
introduced in primary care, to ensure that patients who might be COVID positive  were 
cared for separately from others, helping to protect patients and more vulnerable staff. 
Practices collaborated to share their staffing resource so that patients who needed to be 
seen face-to-face for care such as dressings and essential injections could still receive that 
care.   
 
Over the course of the year, GP practices, like other frontline health services, were directly 
impacted by COVID outbreaks which led to staff unable to work because they had 
contracted the virus or were self-isolating. This increased the pressure on primary care at a 
time when they were already managing a very heavy workload.  
 
However, the co-operation and close partnerships at the heart of our primary care 
networks enabled our GP practices to continue operating throughout the pandemic in spite 
of workforce challenges.  When the time came to plan how COVID vaccinations would be 
delivered, those relationships allowed our GP practices to be innovative in their thinking.  

Out of hospital care 

In line with other NHS Trusts, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust was issued with initial 
guidance by NHS England in March to change its services in order to support the system-
wide response to the pandemic. This involved pausing or reducing the activities in some 
services as well as enhancing provision to protect the most vulnerable and care for as many 
people as possible in community settings rather than in acute hospitals. All community 
services remained open to receive referrals, with the most urgent patients still being 
prioritised during this period. 

https://www.hblict.nhs.uk/
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To support the people who needed care the most, HCT increased the capacity and 
capability of its Prevention of Admission and Discharge Home to Assess services and fast-
tracked the use of new technologies such as electronic prescribing, virtual consultations 
and self-management materials. 
 
Mental health services 

Mental health and learning disability services delivered by Hertfordshire Partnership 
University NHS Foundation Trust remained open during the pandemic but with a revised 
service model. Face-to-face contact was kept to a minimum to keep service users and staff 
safe with digital services extended for patients who would benefit. 

COVID presented new challenges for services working with people in a mental health and a 
learning disability setting, with recognised legal complexity regarding the use of the Mental 
Health Act, the Mental Capacity Act and the Coronavirus Act for ensuring compliance with 
infection prevention and control measures.  
 
Urgent and emergency care performance 

Our NHS 111 and integrated urgent care provider, Herts Urgent Care (HUC), rapidly 
adjusted its service model as a result of the pandemic. Throughout March 2020, the NHS 
111 advice line became the first port of call for the management of the COVID pandemic for 
the Hertfordshire population. On average the 111 call centre receives around 32,000 calls a 
month but at the peak of the pandemic’s first wave was taking 75,700 calls a month.   
 
With an increase in calls, HUC had to draw on all available resource to help manage the 
demand, redeploying the clinical staff working in the out of hours and in the ‘acute in-hours 
home visiting service’ it provides for the CCG to help manage and triage calls. HUC 
developed a separate COVID-19 queue to direct calls with suspected coronavirus to clinical 
advisors. In addition, primary care offered up their extended access appointments and the 
Hertfordshire CCGs redeployed some staff to manage the COVID testing pathways for key 
workers and NHS staff. 
 
The impact of this significantly larger call volume was that more calls than usual were 
‘abandoned’ by the caller and the average time to answer calls increased. Fewer callers 
were directed by NHS 111 to contact their GP and more people received advice over the 
phone. Once the national COVID 111 service was launched in late May, call volumes to our 
local NHS 111 service returned to more normal levels.   
 
Our main hospital provider, East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, began planning for 
COVID-19 at the end of January 2020. In March, a separate COVID emergency department 
and front door triage process was created at the Lister Hospital with all minor cases moved 
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to the Urgent Care Centre at the New QEII Hospital.  
 
Later in the year, capital investment into the emergency department was used to enhance 
the radiology provision and expand the assessment and ‘same day emergency care’ area at 
the Lister. 
 
Ward reconfiguration took place to enable core services such as critical care, respiratory, 
cardiology, renal and vascular care to continue. Critical care capacity was increased over 
time from its normal baseline of 16 beds to 42 beds, which meant that all patients who 
required critical care could be looked after appropriately. These structural changes within 
the hospital were designed in such a way that they could be put in place within a very short 
timeframe to enable the trust to manage the second wave of COVID cases.       
 
Throughout this year, NHS staff have shown great flexibility, compassion and immense 
resilience in the face of sustained pressure often at great personal sacrifice. Many have 
taken on new responsibilities and worked increased hours to support colleagues and keep 
services running. On behalf of the CCG and our partners I want to thank those staff for their 
commitment.    
 
During 2020/21 the total number of A&E attendances decreased as people adhered to the 
local tier restrictions and national lockdowns, however those who did attend were more 
likely to need to be admitted to hospital than in ‘normal’, pre-pandemic circumstances. This 
increased the pressure on the department and patient flow through the hospital.   
 
Other acute performance 
 
Throughout the pandemic, the CCG has been in regular contact with our acute and 
community providers to ensure we are aware of any temporary changes to services that 
might impact on our patients. The CCG’s medical directorate clinically reviewed any 
proposed changes to ensure they were in line with best practice and NHS England speciality 
guides. 
 
In order to prepare hospitals for the anticipated surge in the number of critical care beds 
needed, our providers paused the majority of their routine outpatient and diagnostic work 
from March to June 2020.   
 
The services which continued were made safe for patients by using telephone or video 
consultations where medically appropriate and introducing measures, like one-way systems 
and limited numbers in waiting rooms. 
 
With routine and elective care paused, waiting lists have significantly increased this year. 
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Referrals for specialist investigation or treatment are recovering to pre-pandemic levels and 
continue to be monitored as part of demand and capacity planning. Plans are in place to 
reduce patients’ waiting times for diagnostic test, operations, cancer treatments and 
outpatient appointments, including the continued use of independent sector capacity but 
remain a significant risk to the system. Clinicians are assessing all the patients on their 
waiting lists according to their clinical need, to ensure that these are prioritised 
appropriately in line with national guidance. Direct GP booking of some diagnostic tests and 
procedures, for example endoscopy, has paused to allow priority patients to be seen.  The 
CCG has also been working with  trusts to put in place new ways for patients to access  
diagnostic technologies, like ‘FIT’ home testing kits for detecting bowel cancer. 
 
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust continued to provide a timely cancer service 
throughout the pandemic and performed very well against all cancer standards in 2020/21. 
Investigations and treatment of cancers were prioritised and the trust was supported in 
delivering a service by local independent hospitals Ramsay Pinehill and One Hatfield. 
 
As the pandemic reached its initial peak in the spring, the number of patients being seen in 
an acute setting for non-COVID issues was much lower than at equivalent times in previous 
years, including a reduction in the number of patients being investigated for cancer 
symptoms. The CCG established an ‘avoidance of harm’ group to ensure that the health 
system encourages those with serious conditions to seek help when they notice symptoms 
of concern. We are working with primary care to ensure that screening programmes in 
practices, such as cervical screening, are restored to normal levels as soon as possible. 
 
The CCG’s Cancer Steering Group also reviews the performance of the local health system 
on cancer and identifies areas for improvement. With an initial reduction in ‘two week’ 
urgent lung cancer referrals seen during the first wave of the pandemic there has been an 
increase in late-stage presentations of lung cancer, which has sadly led to greater mortality. 
Ensuring that there is enough x-ray capacity to diagnose lung cancer as well as to assess 
people with COVID will help to reduce delays for people at the start of their cancer 
treatment.  The steering group will monitor the number of people referred for these 
procedures and their health outcomes very closely. 

A review of services provided at Mount Vernon Cancer Centre is underway with University 
College London Hospitals (UCLH) appointed to provide these services from April 2022. Work 
continued this year to explore the feasibility of developing a new cancer centre on the 
Watford Hospital site, to give Hertfordshire patients access to cancer services closer to 
home. 
 
The limited data we have on acute trust performance during 2020/21 can be found on 
pages 46– 53. 
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Restoration and reset of services  

As I have previously mentioned, bringing acute hospital services back to pre-pandemic 
levels is progressing well, with the priority being to run all services and maintain capacity 
for future COVID surges if they occur.  
 
The national expectation was that organisations were to return to near-normal levels of 
activity by the winter of 2020. While excellent progress has been made on this, 
appropriately managing patients waiting for their care continues to be a priority for our 
providers.    
 
Our hospital and community trusts are reviewing those patients waiting for elective 
treatment, focusing on those who have been waiting the longest and prioritising those at 
greatest clinical need. Additional catch up clinics are running including in the evening and at 
weekends and the independent sector are being used to support this.   
 
While inpatient visiting is still more restricted than pre-pandemic, in more recent months, 
maternity services have adapted to enable partners to safely support women for longer 
before, during and after birth and inpatients are able to have limited visitors who have 
booked a visiting slot. 
 
As we start to restore health services to pre-pandemic levels, there are more opportunities 
to join up our working as a health system, adopting digital solutions and creating more 
flexible roles to deliver integrated care across patient pathways. We will continue to use a 
‘population health management’ approach to understand, demand and plan services 
effectively. There is a great deal of work taking place to prevent unnecessary admissions to 
hospital, including creating more same-day emergency care and ambulatory care pathways. 
For patients who are preparing to be discharged from hospital, we have increased the 
capacity of our supportive ‘discharge home to assess’ services and post-COVID 
rehabilitation and support. 

By the autumn of 2020, activity levels in our mental health services were coming back into 
line with the previous year and our community services had started to recover service 
delivery levels and reduce waiting rimes. It is anticipated that demand for mental health 
services will rise – HPFT predicting a 30% increase as a result of the pandemic. Work 
continues in mental health and learning disability services and in particular in IAPT (talking 
therapies) to prepare for this. 
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Winter challenges 

The second wave of COVID-19 proved to be very challenging for all the NHS organisations 
that serve the Hertfordshire population and impacted the restoration of planned care. 
Acute hospitals were extremely busy through December and January, with a high acuity of 
patients and increasing numbers of COVID-positive cases affecting bed management, and 
staff self-isolation and sickness impacting on organisational capacity. Community services 
and mental health services also faced daily challenges to meet the needs of our residents. 
 
East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust was able to quickly reintroduce successful 
measures from the first COVID wave and submitted a daily status report covering new and 
total COVID cases in both general and critical care beds; staff absences due to COVID 
related issues; COVID related deaths and mortuary capacity to enable the system to 
monitor emerging issues.  

There was an internal focus on improving patient flow through the Lister hospital by 
starting the planning needed for each patient’s successful return home as soon as they are 
admitted to hospital. This has helped to reduce the average length of stay for patients in 
hospital – helping them to return home to complete their recovery in familiar surroundings.  
 
‘Virtual wards’ were developed to help safely monitor patients’ health at home, preventing 
avoidable hospital admissions and giving patients support to monitor their own blood 
oxygen levels. You can read more about these initiatives on page 34. 
 
COVID-19 vaccination programme 

The COVID vaccination programme has been one of the success stories of the past twelve 
months. Plans were developed very quickly and have been responsive to changes brought 
about by vaccine supply issues, adjustments to the priority groups for vaccination and 
changes in the guidance for second doses.  
 
The collective effort and goodwill shown by GPs, their practice staff and our colleagues in 
community and hospital trusts as well as the enthusiasm of the general public should not 
be underestimated. It has been a source of great pride that the vaccination programme in 
Hertfordshire and west Essex has helped to protect so many of our oldest and most 
vulnerable residents and staff. A local decision that all people with learning disabilities and 
their carers should be invited to have their vaccination by the end of February was made 
ahead of the guidance changing nationally.   
 
By the time this report is published in June, we will have made excellent progress towards 
vaccinating all over 18s in line with the priority groups identified by the Joint Committee on 
Vaccinations and Immunisations (JCVI).  
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The latest vaccinations data is published online, including a breakdown of vaccination 
numbers at CCG level here. 
 
There are currently four different vaccination routes which work alongside each other to 
reach all parts of the population:  
 

• hospital hubs – where we know the Pfizer vaccine can be stored safely. These were 
the first sites to go live with the Lister Hospital hub opening on 9 December 

• GP-led sites – in clinics and community venues, staffed by GP practices working 
together 

• vaccination centres – larger scale sites and community pharmacies linked to a 
national vaccination booking system with letters sent out to invite people to come 
forward for their vaccination 

• a roving model to support care homes and the housebound and those who might 
otherwise struggle to access services, including people who are homeless and the 
Gypsy and Traveller community. 

 
Following a call-out to medically-trained professionals to come forward and support the 
vaccination programme, a number of retired or former clinicians, or those with time to 
offer, put themselves forward. All our vaccination sites have also been able to make use of 
local volunteers who have selflessly given up their time, often in freezing conditions, to 
help vaccination clinics run smoothly. I speak on behalf of all our GP practices to say thank 
you for your support.  
 
Everyone who is vaccinated will need a second dose of the vaccine around 8-12 weeks after 
the first following a change in the recommended schedule from the original manufacturer 
guidance of a three week gap. This change has enabled us to reach a greater proportion of 
the population and give them an initial level of protection more quickly.  
 
During 2020/21 there were thirteen GP-led Primary Care Network (PCN) vaccination sites 
running in east and north Hertfordshire1, staffed by GPs, nurses with a further ten in the 
Herts Valleys CCG area. All offered appointments as quickly as the supply of the vaccine 
allowed. In April 2021, as the vaccination programme moved into its second phase of 
vaccinating the under 50s, some GP-led sites made the decision to step back from 
vaccination to enable a return to delivering primary care services. Access to vaccinations 
remained good for our local population through the provision of large-scale sites, pharmacy 
provision and remaining PCN sites. 
 

 
1 From May 2021 when the vaccination programme moved on to cohorts 10 onwards, some PCN sites in east 
and north Hertfordshire withdrew.  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/covid-19-vaccinations/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/statement-from-the-uk-chief-medical-officers-on-the-prioritisation-of-first-doses-of-covid-19-vaccines
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LRF organisations including district councils, Hertfordshire County Council and 
Hertfordshire Constabulary have been heavily involved in supporting GP practices to bring 
the vaccine into people’s local areas in a safe and secure way, ably supported by volunteers 
recruited and managed by local voluntary organisations and patient participation groups.  
 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is running large scale vaccination centres across 
Hertfordshire, west Essex, Bedfordshire, and Milton Keynes giving our population a wide 
choice of options.  
 
Transport assistance is also available for those who need it to reach their vaccination 
appointment.  
 
The vaccine is safe and effective for the vast majority of people but all LRF organisations in 
Hertfordshire are cognisant that some people may be hesitant to have the vaccine so we 
are working with community groups to encourage people who might have concerns or 
need extra support to have their vaccination. We worked closely with clinical leaders to 
communicate clearly about the decision to limit use of the AZ vaccine to people aged 30 
and over in April 2021. There is a particular emphasis on meeting the information, cultural 
and language needs of people from Black, Asian or other minority ethnic backgrounds and 
on bringing the vaccine to those who may not be linked into local health services, such as 
the homeless. In May 2021, following the JCVI’s recommendation to reduce the interval 
between first and second doses (from up to 12 weeks to over 8 weeks) for those in cohorts 
1-9 in light of a new COVID variant taking hold globally, the health system in Hertfordshire 
and west Essex worked together to bring forward vaccinations for those eligible.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Finally, I would like to end by noting that the CCG once again achieved an ‘outstanding’ 
rating from NHS England and Improvement as part of the NHS Oversight Framework.  The 
framework comprises of 50 indicators selected to track and assess variation across policy 
areas covering performance, delivery, outcomes, finance and leadership. 
 
We are one of only a handful of CCGs in the country to have achieved this accolade for the 
fourth consecutive year. It is an honour for me to lead an organisation whose staff work so 
hard to improve the health and care of the population we serve.  This rating is testament to 
the efforts of our CCG employees, volunteers and GP practice colleagues.   
 
As we look forward into the next year, we will continue our close alignment with Herts Valleys 
and West Essex CCGs. As a CCG we must continue to ensure we support staff through any 
future changes in the way that health and social care services are organised, while remaining 
focused on improving the health and wellbeing of our residents and staff.  
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It’s also important to recognise that we can only achieve the improvements we want to see 
through continuing to maintain effective partnerships with the wider health and care system.  
 
The pandemic this year has made these links stronger than ever and we will continue to 
strive to ensure that our patients receive the best quality care, despite the challenges we 
face every day. 

 

THE CCG’S WORK IN 2020/21 

The projects on the following pages are some examples of the work we have 
undertaken to improve patient care over the past twelve months. There isn’t 
space to include all of our projects here, but you can read and watch more 
about what we do by visiting our website.   
 
RESPONSE TO THE COVID PANDEMIC 
eConsult 

Virtual and telephone consultations became the norm in all our GP practices this year. 
Patients use the eConsult system on the practice website to ask a question or to complete a 
questionnaire for medical advice. This enables people to get help and advice safely without 
needing to be seen face-to-face if that’s not necessary. During 2020/21, more than 228,000 
eConsults were submitted.2  

  
Hot sites 

At the start of the first wave of the pandemic Clinical Directors and their Primary Care 
Networks led the rapid roll out of thirteen ‘hot’ sites in primary care. Hot sites, or hubs, 
were designated practice spaces where patients with suspected COVID could be seen safely 
and separately from other patients. This enabled GP practice sites to remain open for other 
patients who needed face-to-face care. Some hot sites were established in portakabins 
with others working collaboratively at a nominated GP practice site to provide a face-to-
face appointment service to patients.  These were an important development to enable 
patients with respiratory symptoms to see a clinician and to ensure that primary care staff 
felt supported and safe to care for patients who could be COVID positive.  
 

 
2 More than 6,000 ‘eConsult’ cases took place during an initial five-month pilot in 2019/20 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/
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Looking after patients who are ‘shielding’ 
 
The Shielded Patient List is a record of people thought to be at high risk of complications 
from COVID-19 due to current health condition or a serious illness they have had in the 
past. NHS and social care organisations use the list to identify patients and offer them 
advice on how to protect themselves, how to access care and signpost to help with 
shopping, collecting medicines and other care needs. Government guidelines strongly 
advised ‘clinically extremely vulnerable’ people to stay at home at all times, apart from 
going out to exercise or attend a medical appointment. This guidance remained in place 
until August 2020, when shielding was paused due to low levels of COVID circulating in the 
community. 

Hertfordshire County Council and its partner organisations supported shielding residents 
with deliveries of food parcels and medication as well as crisis intervention for people in 
financial difficulty or needing urgent support, as well as mental health support, befriending, 
wellbeing visits or transport for medical appointments.  

In December 2020, with transmission of COVID increasing, clinically extremely vulnerable 
patients were advised to shield once again. In February 2021, the shielding programme was 
extended to protect more people. This was in response to evidence that some people are 
at higher risk due to multiple personal and health risk factors including age, gender, 
ethnicity, BMI, the medicine they are taking and whether they live in an area of 
deprivation. Of the extra 1.7m residents being included on the shielding programme 
nationally, 12,800 were Hertfordshire residents. They joined the existing group of around 
41,000 residents advised to shield until 31 March and who would be prioritised for a COVID 
vaccination.  
 
 
Access to testing 
 
The CCG supported the Hertfordshire testing and swabbing cell with the roll out of large-
scale PCR COVID testing for the public.  From late May, people with symptoms of COVID 
could book a test online or via a phone helpline and book an appointment at a number of 
drive-through mobile testing sites and regional testing facilities across the county. Testing 
kits were also available to be delivered to and collected from people’s homes. As the year 
went on, more site locations were added and in the autumn, sites where you didn’t need to 
arrive in a vehicle were also opened offering a wide choice for Hertfordshire residents. 
Information was communicated every week to the public through local newspapers, radio 
and social media and through emailed newsletters issued by local councils and partners.   
In early September the demand for COVID testing peaked and during September testing 
appointments via the national booking system were in short supply.  
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With one in three people with COVID not showing any symptoms, Hertfordshire County 
Council led on the development of rapid (lateral flow) testing pathways for: 
 

• areas of significant community transmission, such as the borough of Broxbourne 
during December 

• key workers and people who couldn’t work from home   
• widespread community testing to detect new variants  

 
 
Volunteers step up to support  

Hertfordshire County Council through its ‘volunteering and people assistance cell’ has 
provided invaluable care to thousands of Hertfordshire residents affected by COVID during 
the year.  As well as co-ordinating the delivery of food and medication, volunteer 
organisations have helped deliver rapid testing kits In Broxbourne to identify cases of new 
COVID variants, helped schools carry out COVID testing and have marshalled and welcomed 
people at vaccination centres. Around 3,800 volunteers have now signed up with 
Communities 1st, providing 27,000 hours of support to vaccination sites.  

 

       

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.communities1st.org.uk/


Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
_____________________________________________________________________    34 

Monitoring people’s oxygen levels at home 

For older and more vulnerable people with COVID, knowing how to spot when their 
breathing is getting worse can help save lives. Patients are being monitored at home using 
a ‘pulse oximeter’, a small monitor which clips to a finger, to measure their heart rate and 
their oxygen saturation levels three times a day. 

They record their results using either an app or a paper diary. Patients have frequent check-
ins with their GP practice to monitor changes in their oxygen saturation and are also 
provided with a patient information guide about what to do outside of these appointments.  

This remote monitoring is able to identify those at risk of significant deterioration earlier. 
Those patients whose levels are worrying are either supported by primary care, referred for 
oxygen therapy or taken to A&E. Pulse oximetry is particularly useful for identifying ‘silent 
hypoxia’ (low oxygen levels when someone doesn’t have the tell-tale signs of shortness of 
breath).  

Patients who don’t have a friend or relative to collect their monitor for them are having one 
delivered by local volunteers.  

Our Hitchin and Whitwell PCN were early adopters of pulse oximetry, starting their service 
in mid-2020 with support from local dentists who were unable to perform their regular 
duties. 
 

COVID Virtual Wards  

During the first wave of the pandemic, as the number of patients seriously ill with COVID 
increased, GPs set up new ways to monitor those patients who were unwell but didn’t need 
to be admitted to hospital.       

‘Virtual wards’ were established in some areas, including Stort Valley and Villages where 
patients were provided with oxygen saturation monitors and were contacted daily by their 
practice. During evenings and weekends the virtual ward was overseen by a GP working as 
part of the ‘extended access’ team. This helped patients to be cared for at home and to 
allay their worries in a potentially frightening situation.   

The CCG worked with system partners to implement a large scale virtual ward in response 
to wave two of the pandemic when there was significant and sustained pressure on 
healthcare services. 
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The ward, run by Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, was mobilised quickly and has been 
able to bring COVID patients out of hospital and back home earlier and support the growing 
numbers of patients whose COVID symptoms were serious but who didn’t need the 
specialist breathing equipment or respiratory care provided in hospital. 
 

Long COVID virtual clinics 

Long COVID virtual clinics were established in some PCN areas during the summer and 
autumn offering virtual support and face-to-face group consultations when government 
restrictions allowed. In November 2020, Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust’s COVID 
rehabilitation clinics launched to provide physical and psychological support for patients 
who are experiencing ongoing symptoms and complications after having the virus. The 
service is delivered by a multi-disciplinary team which includes a community GP, 
pharmacists, physiotherapists, pulmonary rehabilitation, respiratory nurses, speech and 
language therapists, dietitians, occupational therapists and clinical psychologists. The team 
works closely with colleagues in social care, hospitals, mental health and the voluntary 
sector to deliver a holistic approach to each patient’s care. 
 

Communicating with our residents 

Throughout the pandemic, keeping our population informed has been a key priority. The 
CCG worked with other public sector bodies in Hertfordshire to jointly plan and share 
information and guidance with local people, through a range of channels, often at short 
notice. In a rapidly changing situation, we worked to principles developed by the 
Hertfordshire Behavioural Science Unit which uses the best available evidence to:  

• Help people focus on what they can do to prevent the spread of the virus 
• Provide clear and specific information so people know what they are being asked to 

do and when they need to do it 
• Provide people with positive things they can do to stay safe and well 
• Design messages and services to make it as easy as possible for people to take them 

up. 

 
 

 

 

 

https://hcc-phei.shinyapps.io/covid19_public_dashboard/_w_a711fae6/


Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
_____________________________________________________________________    36 

Protecting our population – COVID vaccinations  

More detail on the CCG’s role in planning and delivering the COVID vaccination programme 
can be found on page 28. Below are some of the stories from our residents who have been 
vaccinated during 2020/21. 

Ken Ayling and his partner Lyn White both jumped at the opportunity to book an 
appointment when they were contacted by their local GP practice.  Ken, a Broxbourne 
Borough Councillor said: “We’ve really missed face-to-face contact with our families and 
have only been able to see grandchildren through the car window recently. My son moved 
to Canada and we weren’t able to give him the send-off we would have liked, so that was 
very hard.   

“Stepping forward to have the vaccine as soon as possible is not only about protecting 
ourselves and being able to see our loved ones – we want to encourage others to get 
vaccinated as soon as they are called up.” 

Nigel and Rosemary from Letty Green just outside Welwyn Garden City were the first 
people in line to be vaccinated at the Roche vaccination site which opened in early 
February.  The couple have been married for 50 years and had their vaccinations sitting 
side-by-side. “We are very happy to be getting our vaccinations – we have only really been 
going out to medical appointments so it’s good to be here today.” 

Pamela Kenny, 87 years old from Hertford, was pleased to get her vaccine at Robertson 
House in Stevenage. She said: “People were so kind. It’s been a good experience. Everybody 
has been so helpful and the wait has been short. Nothing to worry about.” 
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OTHER PROJECTS 
 
Pharmacists in the practice team 

With clinical pharmacists working as part of GP practice teams, we have been able to 
support more patients, particularly those with long term conditions who take a 
combination of different medicines every day.  

PCN clinical pharmacists help GPs with repeat prescriptions and questions from patients. 
They check that patients being discharged home from hospital have the right medication. 
They also carry out detailed medication reviews, ensuring patients are only taking the 
medicines they actually need for their current condition. With the support of social 
prescribers, they talk to patients to help them understand how their medicines work and 
why it’s important to take them in a particular way. For patients with breathing problems 
like COPD, this has been particularly valuable to keep their condition stable through COVID 
and the cold winter.    

 
Easier access to mental health support 

Our GP practices have been working hard this year to improve the care for patients who 
have complex mental health needs. Working with Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS 
Foundation Trust, mental health specialists liaise directly with GPs to receive referrals 
direct from the surgery. We have developed structured ‘one stop’/physical and mental 
health checks for people with severe mental health issues and have better aligned our drug 
and alcohol support services with mental health teams.  

Patients across Hertfordshire can access urgent mental health support through NHS 111, 
selecting option 2 at the start of the call. This puts people in touch with a mental health 
professional quickly and easily.  For those with mild to moderate mental health needs we 
have also been developing a more proactive wellbeing service integrating physical exercise 
and voluntary sector for activities and support. 

 
First contact physiotherapy 

In some of our localities, patients are able to see a physiotherapist for an assessment and 
treatment plan, without needing to first be referred by a GP.   Musculoskeletal problem (pain 
in muscles, bones, ligaments and tendons) is common and quick access to a physiotherapy 
assessment is very popular with patients. The project has also reduced pressure on GPs, 
freeing up more appointments for more patients with more complex needs. 
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Caring in care homes 

Supporting our most vulnerable and complex patients continues to be one of our top 
priorities. There are an estimated 12,000 people living in east and north Hertfordshire who 
are considered to be either moderately or severely frail. Frailty puts people at increased 
risk of emergency admission and means they are more likely to physically decline in the 
event that they are admitted to hospital. There is evidence that advanced planning for 
patients with frailty reduces the risk of them having to go into hospital as an emergency, 
and ensures that the care they receive is truly patient centred.  

Each care home in east and north Hertfordshire is linked to a GP practice which supports 
them with the ongoing medical needs their residents might have. A team of staff with 
different clinical skills including GPs, nurses, pharmacists and dieticians discuss complex 
cases and can organise other specialities as the need arises via the Integrated Community 
Team. Their combined expertise makes sure that no-one has to be admitted to hospital 
who would be better looked after at their care home. Regular ‘ward rounds’ take place, in 
person, and during the pandemic, virtually where appropriate.  

In the Stort Valley and Villages PCN area, all the care homes are trialling, ‘all-in-one 
telehealth kits. These measure vital signs, record photos and perform multiple assessments 
based on national tools from, amongst others, the Royal College of Physicians, to check 
health.  Early signs of decline are flagged before an illness worsens and this is helping to 
prevent residents needing to be admitted to hospital as an emergency. 

In Welwyn and Hatfield, a community matron and a pharmacist have been employed for a 
pilot to assist care home residents. The matron supports care home staff as well as seeing 
and treating patients. This give timely access to advice and treatment for care home 
residents which helps them recover more quickly and maintain their independence. 
 

Keeping people connected 
 
‘Social prescribing’ is when GPs, nurses and other health professionals refer people to a 
non-medical service that can help them. This can support patients to get the help they need 
more quickly and reduce the number of appointments someone makes with a GP. In 
Hertfordshire, a team of Community Navigators now provide help both in the community 
and in hospital, accessed through the ‘Herts Help’ advice line and website. Herts Help made 
and received 145,000 contacts this year, with many people needing support to manage 
through COVID lockdowns.  
 
Each of our primary care networks employs a social prescriber, with some also having a 
health and wellbeing coach, who support patients by: 
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• Putting them in touch with local support organisations and creating individual plans 
to make sure people have the help they need going forward  

• Proactive calls to carers of dementia patients to ensure they are supported  
• Helping with health walks (when COVID restrictions allow) 
• Carers coffee mornings 
• Developing resilience and wellbeing in families 
• Doorstep deliveries and welfare checks for vulnerable elderly patients  

 
In Cheshunt, a weekly group has been established for patients experiencing low mood and 
isolation. Held at a local church, each session had an activity such as seated rock and roll, 
art lesson, a ‘bake off’ and festive flower arranging with materials and refreshments 
generously provided by the local Tesco community champion. PCN pharmacists and 
physiotherapists have also supported these groups giving advice and answering questions. 

 
Anticoagulation Services 

In September 2020, anticoagulation services in North Hertfordshire (for people who take 
medication such as Warfarin) was successfully transferred to a new provider, Hertfordshire 
Community NHS Trust, with no interruption for patients. 

During the transition period, patients were consulted about the changes. Some were 
concerned about going somewhere new for the service, as many access the clinic via their 
local GP practice. The CCG and HCT worked together to ensure that existing sites could 
continue to be used and patients were able to remain local to receive their anticoagulation. 

 
New roles in primary care  
 
This year, we have continued to strengthen our primary care workforce by expanding the 
range of clinicians seeing patients in GP surgeries and Primary Care Networks. 
Physiotherapists, pharmacists and paramedics are now working alongside doctors, nurses 
and healthcare assistants, making it easier for patients to see a health professional with the 
right skills quickly. We have explained these new roles to patients, helping people to 
understand why they might be seeing a different clinician than they have done previously. 
Other staff, such as occupational therapists, are also becoming increasingly involved in 
services outside of hospital.   
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Think NHS 111 First  
 
In December, the NHS introduced a new way for patients to access urgent care with people 
being encouraged to contact 111 before coming to an emergency department.  
 
The aim is to make it easier and safer for patients to get the right treatment when they 
need it, without waiting a long time to be seen in A&E. Waiting times in our emergency 
departments continue to be higher than we would like. Reducing these is a priority to 
ensure timely access to emergency care for our residents. 
 
Anyone going online to www.111.nhs.uk or calling the free NHS 111 number is given a 
thorough assessment and then helped to find treatment, which could be their local 
pharmacy, their GP surgery or, for the first time, a booked appointment at an A&E 
department or urgent treatment centre. 

An appointment system ensures that everyone who needs urgent care help can be seen 
safely and comfortably.  This way of working enables our residents to get the help they 
need without spending time in a waiting room where the likelihood of contracting COVID, 
flu or other viruses is increased. 

NHS 111 can also book appointments with people’s own GP surgeries or local pharmacy 
and can immediately divert a call to the ambulance service if necessary.  
 
 
More on-the-day appointments 

This year, practices in Bishop’s Stortford and Sawbridgeworth trialled a ‘same day’ COVID-
safe health clinic for common respiratory and winter illnesses.  Patients are triaged virtually 
by their practice and if they believe that they need to be seen face-to-face or need an 
examination for conditions such as a chest infection, tonsillitis, ear pain, sinusitis or a 
feverish child, they will see one of the clinicians at the hub.    
 
 
Electronic prescriptions available everywhere 

It is now even easier to collect prescribed medication thanks to the electronic prescriptions 
service. The vast majority of prescriptions in our area are now issued electronically, 
removing the need for GPs to issue paper copies. Since April 2020, more than 4,806,000 
prescriptions in our area were sent electronically straight from GP practice to pharmacy, 
often in just a few minutes. 96% of all prescription items were sent electronically, up from 
79% at the same point in 2019.  
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This service has been helping patients who regularly get a prescription for the same 
medication but with more consultations being held on the phone or online, it is also used 
for one-off courses of medication, so that patients do not need to come to the practice in 
person.  

 
Everyone is welcome in primary care  
 
The vast majority of our residents are registered with a GP, but we are aware that some 
may not be. This could be for many reasons, including not knowing how to register, feeling 
anxious about using health services, being homeless or not feeling like they have the 
correct form of identification. A national campaign began in February 2021 to encourage 
everyone to register with a GP – not only to make sure they can access care for their 
medical needs, but also so that they can be called for a COVID vaccination when they are 
eligible.  People do not need to provide proof of address or their immigration status in 
order to register with a GP practice.   

GP access cards have been distributed by Healthwatch and voluntary organisations to 
vulnerable communities who are less likely to be registered with a GP. The card, similar in 
look to a credit card, is accompanied by a welcome letter and will provide details of how to 
register with a practice. 

 
GP patient survey results 

The general practice patient survey results were published in July 2020. A sample of 
patients from each GP practice is selected at random to answer the survey. The results 
show that our patients’ overall experience of their practice has improved slightly on the 
previous year, remaining close to, but below the national average. Around half of our 
practices improved their scores. The survey results were shared with practices and 
examples of good practice, both locally and nationally, were included in the revised 
Resources Guide published early in 2021.  The Quality Team supported practices with lower 
scores and will continue to do so through quality visits.  Practices were encouraged to 
collate wider feedback on appointment and access in regard to remote consultations/ 
experiences of appointments and online use and to work closely with their Patient 
Participation Groups. 

 
 

 

 

https://www.gp-patient.co.uk/downloads/slidepacks/2020/06K%20-%20NHS%20EAST%20AND%20NORTH%20HERTFORDSHIRE%20CCG.pptx
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Supporting teenagers with their mental health 

Young people in Hertfordshire have access to a range of virtual support for their mental 
health and wellbeing including ‘Health for teens’, Kooth.com and this year, GP practices in 
Hertford and Ware partnered with HPFT to offer additional support for patients aged 11-18 
and their families. A small team of nurses with skills in this area work with individuals, 
either on the phone or face-to-face and can refer on to more specialist child and adolescent 
mental health services (CAMHS) if needed.  In Stevenage, the PCNs have funded additional 
counselling sessions to support children in schools experiencing mental health issues. 

 
It’s good to talk about death 

Across east and north Hertfordshire, health and care services want to encourage people to 
think about death. By tackling a difficult subject head on, we can help people to think about 
the end of their life and plan for it, so that decisions aren’t made at a time of crisis and 
more people in their final weeks can die in a place of their choosing, be that at home, in a 
hospice or in hospital. 

In Hertford and Ware, our GP practices are working with local partners to produce leaflets 
for the public and hold virtual workshops to help people have conversations with their 
families and make sure their wishes are considered.  

In February a survey was launched across the CCG area to gain vital feedback on end of life 
care to help improve services and share learnings.  We know that for anyone who has lost a 
loved one, it will be a very difficult and sensitive time. Learning from the experiences and 
insight of relatives and carers is a vital way in which we can improve the care that is 
provided. 

 
Supporting patients who regularly use the emergency department  

Our GP practices in Welwyn Hatfield have been focused on understanding emergency flows 
to hospital and the needs of their population. GPs have used practice data to review 
patients who are frequent users of hospital services to see if extra community or social 
support can be provided to these patients to help them manage their condition at home.  

 
 

 

https://www.healthforteens.co.uk/?location=Hertfordshire
https://www.kooth.com/
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PRIMARY CARE NETWORKS 
 

What are Primary Care Networks? 

PCNs are groupings of GP practices that serve populations of between 30,000 and 50,000 
registered patients between them.  

By working more closely together in groups, together with other health and care staff and 
patient representatives in their local area, GPs can provide more proactive, personalised, 
coordinated and joined-up health and social care. 

This population size is recommended so that Primary Care Networks remain small enough 
to provide the personal care valued by both patients and GPs, but large enough to have 
impact and economies of scale that come through better collaboration.  

While GP practices have been finding different ways of working together over many years, 
the NHS Long Term Plan and the new five-year framework for the GP contract, published in 
January 2019, put a more formal structure around this way of working.  

Primary care networks (PCNs) will eventually be required to deliver a set of seven national 
service specifications. Three started in 2020/21: structured medication reviews, enhanced 
health in care homes, and supporting early cancer diagnosis. The planned addition of four 
new PCN services - anticipatory care (with community services), personalised care, 
cardiovascular disease case-finding, and action to tackle inequalities, will not take place 
until 1 October 2021 at the earliest, given the re-prioritisation required as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and vaccination programme. 

Each PCN will also have its own list of priorities for their population, and they may deliver 
care in a slightly different way.  

Although primary care networks will be delivering services, primary care networks are also 
expected to think about the wider health of their population, taking a proactive approach 
to managing population health and assessing the needs of their local population alongside 
commissioners like the CCG to identify people who would benefit from targeted, proactive 
support. 
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Primary care and GP practice changes  

At the time this report is published (June 2021), there are twelve PCNs in east and north 
Hertfordshire. The following changes have taken place since 1 April 2020 to the 
configuration of PCNs and practices: 

• The large PCN in the Lower Lea Valley area which covered a population of more 
than 76,000 split into two:  
 

o Broxbourne Alliance (comprising of Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre, 
The Maples Health Centre and Warden Lodge Medical Centre) 

o Lea Valley Health (comprising of Abbey Road Surgery, Cromwell and 
Wormley Medical Centre, High Street Surgery, Stanhope Surgery and 
Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre) 
 

• Changes were made to the Welwyn Garden City and Villages PCN. From 1 April 2021 
Bridge Cottage Surgery has become part of Hitchin and Whitwell PCN and Peartree 
Surgery joined Welwyn Garden City PCN.   
 

• Haileybury College is now a branch of Hailey View Surgery rather than a standalone 
practice. 
 

• King George and Manor House Surgeries in Stevenage merged in April 2021 
retaining both premises. 
 

• Castlegate Surgery, Hertford and Church Street Surgery, Ware merged in April 2020 
to form New River Health. The practices have been working together for some time 
offering a wide range of services across both sites. 
  

In 2020/21, PCNs developed workforce plans which set out how they were going to use the 
budgets provided under the Additional Role Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS). Some 
underspend was anticipated so PCNs wishing to accelerate their recruitment plans were 
able to bid for unclaimed funding for the remainder of the year.  An ICS system-wide 
collaborative approach is being developed to support PCNs with the recruitment of new 
ARRS roles from 2021/22.  

This year, PCNs played a pivotal role in the success of the COVID vaccination programme. At 
pace, and with considerable ingenuity, Primary Care Networks set up safe, efficient clinics 
capable of vaccinating many hundreds of patients each per day. These GP-led vaccination 
sites have worked alongside the large-scale vaccination centres, hospital hubs and 
pharmacies to offer choice, flexibility and accessibility for patients. 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/primary-care-networks-pcns
https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/expanding-our-workforce/
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Improving primary care premises  

Last year’s report confirmed that Central Surgery at Sawbridgeworth, Guessens Road at 
Welwyn Garden City and Knebworth Surgeries all completed major premises projects. All 
three practices have praised their improved facilities, particularly during the pandemic. 

2020 has been another busy year for improving premises. All Estate Transformation 
Technology Fund (ETTF) projects funded by NHS England secured full business case 
approval and work has started on all sites. The schemes due to complete this year include 
the move of Parsonage and South Street Surgeries into the under-utilised Kitwood unit at 
Herts and Essex Hospital which will undergo major transformation; Dolphin House’s new 
purpose built premises on the former fire station site at Ware; Puckeridge and Standon 
Surgery will double in size with its new extension and Stanmore Medical Centre will extend 
into its adjacent vacant area once the refurbishment works finish. 

The High Street Surgery project in Cheshunt completed during the first week of June 2021 
and Wallace House, Hertford has concluded successful negotiations with CHASE Homes for 
new surgery premises at the Bircherley Green development having obtained business case 
approval from the CCG and NHS England and Improvement. 

The CCG’s relationship with local authorities has strengthened and we are beginning to see 
developer’s contributions being secured to enable funds to be accessed for specific primary 
care facilities projects. 
 
In recognition of the additional roles to support GMS and PCN strategy planning, at the 
beginning of February 2021, the premises team completed and shared with each PCN 
Clinical Director a detailed workbook of primary care data, housing forecasts and capital 
projects as a support tool for each PCN. This can be used as a baseline for formulating 
future strategies. 
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SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE 2020/21 
Nationally, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, some mandatory reporting was stopped 
from the 1 April 2020 with reporting only continuing in 2020/21 for areas of statutory 
requirement: A&E 4 hour waits; ambulance response times; cancer pathways and waiting 
time ambitions. 

In line with most of the acute sector nationally, the reconfiguration of services at providers 
in response to COVID-19 (to increase capacity for COVID-19 patients and put in place 
necessary infection control measures) together with the significant challenges to staffing, 
has impacted performance throughout 2020/21. Plans are in place to recover performance 
during 2021/22. 
 

A&E four hour operational standard  
There is a national requirement that 95% of patients attending A&E are treated, admitted or 
transferred within 4 hours of arrival.  Over 2020/21 the total number of A&E attendances 
decreased in line with local and national lockdowns, however patients attending A&E were 
more unwell putting pressure on A&E departments and flow through the system.  
Performance at both East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Princess Alexandra 
Hospital NHS Trust continued below standard with providers achieving 83.47% and 81.63% 
respectively, however both performances were an improvement on 2019/20 levels. Overall 
CCG performance was 77.13%. 
 
Focused work streams were introduced in response to the pandemic with the aim to 
improve patient assessment, flow and discharge:  

• A&E services were reconfigured and split into COVID and non-COVID pathways to 
create better flow;  

• To support the significant challenges to staffing, the UCC at the New QEII Hospital 
was closed overnight in January 2021 on a temporary basis with clinical staff 
redeployed to the Lister Hospital to support with the increasing number of COVID-
19 patients; 

• Work continued across the system to provide alternatives to admissions including 
community-based streaming of COVID patients and expansion of community 
support for sub-acute COVID patients including virtual ward and remote monitoring 
with rapid access to acute advice; 

• Implementation of the ambulance handover action plan - improving pathways and 
minimising time taken for ambulance handovers;  
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• Increased use of alternative urgent care pathways for same day emergency care, 
including ambulatory emergency care, frailty and surgical assessment;  

• Roll out of ‘Think 111 First’ to encourage the use of the NHS 111 service as a means 
of accessing A&E or alternative service where A&E was not the appropriate choice; 

• Implementation of professional standards and escalation protocols; 
• Surge and escalation planning across the ICS; 
• Development and implementation of COVID Oximetry at Home models and 

implementation of COVID virtual wards to maximise available capacity; 
• Continued development of the Princess Alexandra Hospital ‘out of hospital care 

model’, implementation of the REACT frailty service and new build assessment and 
ambulatory care wards/service. 

 

Response times to ambulance calls 
Ambulance services are measured on the time it takes from receiving a 999 call to a vehicle 
arriving at the patient’s location. There are four categories of call with associated required 
average response times: 
 

• C1 People with life threatening injuries and illness (mean response time of 7 
minutes) 

• C2 Emergency calls (mean response time of 18 minutes) 
• C3 Urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 120 minutes) 
• C4 Less urgent calls (90% of calls to be responded to within 180 minutes) 

The East of England Ambulance Trust has had a challenging year with the impact of COVID-
19, but achieved the response time standard in 20/21 for C4 calls.  C1 to C3 standards were 
not met for the year, however performance has improved from 2019/20 in all categories.   

EEAST Ambulance Response  Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2020/21 

C1 People with life threatening 
injuries and illness  <7 minutes 6:55 6:58 7:02 9:09 7:31 

C2 Emergency calls  <18 
minutes 17:52 21:31 23:25 22:04 21:13 

C3 Urgent calls  <120 
minutes 86:18 138:25 162:51 155:49 135:37 

C4 Less urgent calls  <180 
minutes 139:39 157:59 196:18 207:32 175:22 
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Waiting times for cancer treatment 
 
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients with suspected cancer. There are a 
number of government pledges on cancer waiting times: 
 
Two-week waits 
 

• A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients referred with 
suspected cancer symptoms; 

• A maximum two-week wait to see a specialist for all patients referred for 
investigation of breast symptoms, even if cancer is not initially suspected. 

31 days 
 

• A maximum one month (31-day) wait from the date a decision to treat (DTT) is 
made to the first definitive treatment for all cancers; 

• A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is surgery; 
• A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a course 

of radiotherapy; 
• A maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the  

treatment is an anti-cancer drug regimen 

62 days 
 

• A maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent referral for suspected cancer to 
the first definitive treatment for all cancers; 

• A maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS cancer screening service to the 
first definitive treatment for cancer;  

• Local target; maximum 62-day wait for the first definitive treatment following a 
consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the patient (all cancers).  
 

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust  

East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust was able to continue to provide a timely cancer 
service throughout the pandemic and performed very well against all cancer standards in 
2020/21. 

Both ‘2 week wait’ urgent cancer GP referrals and breast symptom referrals continued to 
meet standards for 2020/21.  31 day performance also achieved standard for all pathways; 
with the exception of subsequent surgery, due to decreased theatre capacity over COVID.   
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After returning to meet standard in November 2019 for the first time in over 4 years, 
performance against 62-days to first definitive treatment was maintained well across 
2020/21, with the trust achieving 86.10% for the year against the 85% standard.   
 
Performance against the 62 days following screening referral fell below standard, however 
screening programmes were paused during the pandemic and numbers going through the 
service throughout 2020/21 were very small.   

Work has been ongoing between the trust and CCG to continue to improve cancer 
pathways, with action plans in place by specialty.  The CCG has a Cancer Steering Group 
which discusses issues of performance against the national cancer waiting standards, 
national guidance and reviews and agrees ways in which cancer pathways can be improved. 
 
 
Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust 

In contrast, performance at Princess Alexandra Hospital fell below standard in the majority 
of areas in 2020/21 with the impact of COVID-19 on staffing and capacity affecting cancer 
pathways.   

Performance against 62-day first definitive treatment deteriorated throughout the year 
achieving 64.05% against the 85% standard; this is in comparison to a performance of 
81.47% in 2019/20.   

Significant improvements were made in reducing the number of patients waiting over 62 
days in March 2021 however, which is expected to continue into 2021/22.  There are 
systematic clinical and operational reviews of long waiting patients in place together with 
detailed action plans by tumour site to address shortfalls in delivery and achieve recovery.  
System partners are working together to create a shared PTL to ensure there is equity of 
access to cancer treatment across the system with mutual aid support in place.      

The table below shows cancer performance at CCG level which is for ENHCCG patients 
attending any hospital. With the majority of CCG patients attending ENHT and PAH, the 
performance at these providers has a significant impact on CCG performance. 
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Table: Cancer waiting times for all CCG patients 3 
 

Cancer Waiting Times at CCG level Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2020/21 

Two 
Week 
Waits 

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for 
patients referred urgently with 
suspected cancer by a GP 

93% 95.67% 90.26% 93.05% 96.07% 93.54% 

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for 
patients referred urgently with 
breast symptoms (where cancer 
was not initially suspected) 

93% 91.85% 94.10% 90.35% 96.06% 93.25% 

31 Day 
Waits 

Maximum one month (31-day) 
wait from diagnosis to first 
definitive treatment for all cancers 

96% 97.25% 96.01% 96.87% 95.58% 96.38% 

Maximum 31-day wait for 
subsequent treatment where that 
treatment is surgery 

94% 93.97% 91.51% 93.81% 88.41% 91.72% 

Maximum 31-day wait for 
subsequent treatment where that 
treatment is an anti-cancer drug 
regime 

98% 100% 100% 99.43% 98.34% 99.46% 

Maximum 31-day wait for 
subsequent treatment where that 
treatment is a course of 
radiotherapy 

94% 99.12% 98.58% 98.03% 98.20% 98.46% 

62 Day 
Waits 

Maximum two month (62-day) 
wait from urgent GP referral to 
first definitive treatment for cancer 

85% 80.75% 82.10% 81.73% 80.41% 81.30% 

Maximum 62-day wait from 
referral from an NHS screening 
service to first definitive treatment 
for all cancers 

90% 25.00% 46.15% 81.58% 74.14% 66.94% 

Maximum 62-day wait for first 
definitive treatment following a 
consultant's decision to upgrade 
the priority of the patient (all 
cancers) 

85% 89.55% 79.59% 87.10% 81.02% 84.23% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 Q1 is April to June; Q2 is July to September; Q3 is October to December; Q4 is January to March. 
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Referral to Treatment Times (RTT)  
Under the NHS Constitution there is a performance standard related to patients waiting for 
treatment; the standard being that 92% of patients on an incomplete pathway should be 
seen within 18 weeks.  In response to COVID-19, routine elective treatments have been 
stood down at peak times of the pandemic throughout 2020/21; this has caused an 
increase to numbers on elective waiting lists and the length of time to treatment. 
 
The table below 4 details the RTT performance for East and North Hertfordshire CCG 
patients for 2020/21.  
 

RTT Waiting Times Target Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

18 Weeks 

Patients on incomplete non-
emergency pathways (yet to 
start treatment) should have 
been waiting no more than 
18 weeks from referral 

92% 53.75% 64.04% 72.21% 62.76% 

 
This standard has not been met for East and North Hertfordshire CCG patients during 
2020/21 with both ENHT and PAH below standard, 60.36% and 62.38% respectively at year 
end.    

In line with national and local directives to increase capacity for COVID-19 patients, routine 
elective activity was paused at peak times of the pandemic throughout 2020/21.  As a 
result, the number of CCG patients on an incomplete list increased over the year together 
with the number of patients waiting over 18 and 52 weeks.   

Clinicians have reviewed all patients on their elective waiting lists and risk-stratified 
patients according to clinical need in line with the national Risk Stratification programme; 
patients have been booked and treated in order of clinical priority.  Independent sector 
capacity has been utilised for elective pathways where possible throughout the year, with 
NHS capacity being increased at peak times of the pandemic.  Work is also underway across 
the ICS to jointly review demand and capacity and offer mutual aid where possible.   

Moving forward, recovery plans and trajectories will be focused on restoring activity back 
to pre-COVID levels.  The CCG has worked with providers to manage demand on services by 
reviewing pathways such as advice and guidance and triage services. 
 

 
4 Data shown is a ‘snapshot’ from month 3 of each quarter 
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Upcoming changes to Key Performance Standards  
Cancer 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS) 

A new ‘Faster Diagnosis Standard’ will ensure that all patients who are referred for the 
investigation of suspected cancer find out, within 28 days, if they do or do not have a 
cancer diagnosis. This should help to reduce anxiety for patients and speed up diagnosis 
times.  

This standard was due to come into effect from April 2020, however was delayed due to 
COVID-19.  Hospitals have started to record this data in in shadow form and systems will be 
expected to meet the new standard, initially to be introduced at a level of 75%, from 
Quarter 3 of 2021/22.  

Access Standards 

Following a national review, changes to standards in mental health services, cancer care, 
elective care and urgent and emergency care are being field tested at a selection of sites 
across England.  Revised standards were originally expected to come in during spring 2020, 
but the programme of work has been delayed due to COVID-19.  NHS England and 
Improvement is currently seeking views on new urgent and emergency care standards 
which will inform final guidance in 2021/22. 
 

NHS Oversight Framework – How are local health services 
performing?  
 
CCGs are assessed on their performance each year by NHS England. This is done though the 
NHS Oversight Framework, with the overall result derived from our performance against a 
broad range of indicators plus a review of CCG leadership and our financial management. 
 
In November 2020, later than usual due to COVID, performance results for the previous 
year (2019/20) were published. East and North Hertfordshire CCG was once again rated as 
outstanding, one of only a handful of CCGs to achieve this top rating for four years in a 
row.  
 
 
 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/clinically-led-review-nhs-access-standards/
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The assessment is a detailed review of more than 50 indicators which show how well the 
CCG is working in four key areas:  
 

• Better Health: how the CCG contributed towards improving the health and 
wellbeing of its population;  

• Better Care: focusing on care redesign, performance against national standards, and 
outcomes in important clinical areas;  

• Sustainability: how the CCG is remaining in financial balance, and is securing good 
value for patients and the public from the money it spends;  

• Leadership: assessing the quality of the CCG’s leadership, our plans, how the CCG 
works with its partners, and our governance arrangements  

 
Further details of the assessment methodology can be found on the NHS England website.  
The results for our 2020/21 assessment (the year that this Annual Report covers) will not be 
published until July 2021 at the earliest. 
 
 

ENSURING QUALITY 
The work of our nursing and quality team 
The CCG’s ambition is to commission high quality, safe and clinically effective services for 
our patients. The indicators in the NHS Outcomes Framework; clinical effectiveness, 
patient experience and patient safety, allow the CCG to gain assurance about the quality of 
services being delivered by our providers and enables us to challenge and intervene when 
necessary. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted our health services during 2020/21 
including how we commission and monitor services to deliver high quality care to our 
patients. The Nursing and Quality Team has maintained all core functions during the 
pandemic. 

The team has: 

• continued to monitor quality, patient experience and patient safety of our providers 
through regular meetings with our providers, and undertaking risk-based quality 
assurance visits where indicated 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/nhs-outcome-framework-health-inequalities-indicators/
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• monitored and reviewed data from a number of sources, including the GP hotline, 
to ensure early warnings of a potential decline in quality are identified and 
appropriate action taken. The GP hotline is a direct way for GPs and practice staff to 
let the CCG know if there are any issues with healthcare providers 
 

• contributed to a regular integrated performance and quality report for the 
Governing Body 
 

• maintained a robust Quality Committee which reports to the Governing Body, 
providing assurance on the quality of services we commission. The committee is 
alerted to any key quality or safety issues, relating to core services as well as the 
impact of COVID-19 
 

• worked in partnership with providers and other commissioners to ensure quality 
priorities are aligned to the current and future health needs of the local population. 
This has been particularly key with the impact of COVID-19 
 

• hosted the ‘designated professionals’ for Hertfordshire, who are members of local 
Safeguarding Boards and Partnerships 
  

• continued to monitor the quality of primary care. The CCG supports practices in 
relation to Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections and uses the expertise of our 
own specialists and external partners to help practices improve the quality of their 
services 
  

• reviewed complaint themes and trends from our main providers. ‘Serious incidents’ 
in healthcare are adverse events, where the consequences to patients, families and 
carers, staff or organisations are so significant or the potential for learning is so 
great, that a heightened level of response is justified. The CCG’s Serious Incident 
Panel meets weekly to review investigation reports to make sure they are robust 
and have considered all aspects of how an incident happened and what is being 
done to learn from it. 
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‘Never Events’  

‘Never Events’ are particular types of serious incidents which meet the following criteria: 

• They are wholly preventable, where guidance or safety recommendations that 
provide strong systemic protective barriers are available at a national level, and 
should have been implemented by all healthcare providers 

• They have the potential to cause serious patient harm or death, although serious 
harm is not required to have happened in order to classify as a Never Event 

• There is evidence that the category of Never Event has occurred in the past 
(nationally) and a risk of recurrence remains. 
 

In 2020/21, three Never Events were reported by organisations where East and North 
Hertfordshire CCG is the host commissioner; these all occurred at East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust and related to our CCG area’s patients. The details of the incidents 
are as follows:  

Organisation Type of Never Event Detail 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS 
Trust 

Unintentional connection 
of a patient requiring 
oxygen to an air flowmeter 

A patient requiring oxygen was 
given air as the equipment was 
connected to an airflow outlet 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS 
Trust 

Wrong site surgery Incorrect mole/lesion was 
removed from patient 

East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS 
Trust 

Wrong site surgery  Patient had a wrong site 
procedure undertaken 

For each of the first two Never Events the level of harm sustained by the patient was minor, 
and the CCG is assured that the actions put in place by the provider relating to the 
processes in place, equipment used, and training and education of staff, are robust and will 
prevent a future incident of a similar nature as long as the actions are embedded. This will 
be reviewed by the CCG during our routine programme of quality assurance visits. 

The third Never Event currently remains under investigation at the time of writing the 
report. 

 

https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/never-events-policy-and-framework/
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Maintaining quality during the COVID-19 pandemic 

We would normally be looking back at our key achievements over the last 12 months, and 
the key work we have undertaken to improve the quality of our local services. However this 
year has been unique. In addition to maintaining the core functions detailed above, the 
Nursing and Quality Team has supported the response to COVID-19, helping our providers 
to deliver safe care to our patients. Key focus areas of our work are: 

Infection Prevention and Control 

• Developed a range of guidance, observational tools, and training material to 
support health and social care providers to interpret national guidance on infection 
prevention and control 
 

• Undertook quality visits to a range of providers to provide support and seek 
assurance that they are able to see patients safely. This includes primary care, care 
homes, and community providers 
 

• Delivered training sessions and webinars to providers on infection prevention and 
control 
 

• Provided management and support during COVID-19 outbreaks; including those in 
primary care and care homes as well as those occurring within the main providers 
 

• Advised mass vaccination sites and undertook quality assurance visits 
 

• Responded to a significant number of ad-hoc infection control queries relating to 
both COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 related issues  
 

Primary Care 

• Supported practices in key areas of quality and safety, undertaking risk-based 
quality visits where appropriate 
 

• Developed a template to undertake ‘virtual’ quality visits to practices 
 

• Helped practices to identify learning and improvements following the publication of 
the annual GP Patient Survey (2020) 
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• Met with key GP leads, including Primary Care Network (PCN) Clinical Directors to 
understand any quality or safety related issues emerging as a result of the pandemic 
 

• Supported the development and implementation of ‘hot’ sites as well as processes 
to see shielding patients safely 
 

• Supported practices with IPC measures, developing guidance and checklists, and 
undertaking support visits to offer advice and support to help practices become 
‘COVID-secure’ 
 

• Helped to establish PCN vaccination sites, and undertook quality assurance visits to 
all sites, identifying good practice and areas for improvement 

 
 
 
 
Care Homes 

• Delivered IPC training to all care homes in line with the national timescales, and 
continue to deliver IPC training to all care homes, supported living and domiciliary 
care providers 
 

• Outbreak cells were established, consisting of a multidisciplinary and multi-
organisational team, to support care homes, residential and nursing homes, learning 
disabilities, supported living and assisted living during an outbreak 
 

• Processes are in place to ensure learning is identified from any outbreaks and 
identify themes and trends. Action has then been taken to make any required 
improvements to processes and guidance 
 

• Monitoring calls take place to support care homes and seek assurance about the 
care being provided to residents; this is being undertaken jointly by the CCG and 
HCC. A risk-based approach is used to determine the frequency of the calls 
 

• Due to restricted visiting in care homes, the CCG has also worked with Hertfordshire 
County Council to implement a remote monitoring plan to ensure safe care is 
maintained, and strengthened processes to ensure professionals visiting the homes 
in a clinical capacity (like community nurses and GPs) can provide feedback about 
the quality of care being provided 
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• A multi-agency Vaccination Cell has been established to support the vaccination 
process for care home residents and staff 
 

Quality and Safety Assurance 

• Established regular virtual meetings with our main providers to discuss key COVID-
related quality related risks, issues and mitigation 
 

• Attended provider internal meetings and reviewed provider internal committee 
papers where available to seek assurance regarding key quality matters 
 

• Established new ways of working to monitor services remotely including virtual visits 
 

• Worked with other stakeholders including Healthwatch to obtain patient feedback 
regarding health and social care services during the pandemic 
 

Workforce 

• Continued to be actively involved with the ICS workforce programme, looking at 
ways of attracting, recruiting and retaining staff in the Hertfordshire health and 
social care sectors. This has included work to ensure we have the right levels and 
skills of staff for the future 
 

Redeployment 

• A number of clinical and non-clinical staff within the team have been redeployed to 
support organisations including East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust, Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust 
and Herts Urgent Care. 
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Caring for vulnerable residents 
Safeguarding adults 

The CCG works alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse 
and neglect so that everyone living in Hertfordshire is able to make a full and positive 
contribution to society.  

Our Director of Nursing and Quality and Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding are both 
members of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board (HSAB), the Domestic Abuse 
Executive Board and the Multi-agency Prevent Board.  

The pandemic has increased the risk of abuse and neglect experienced by the most 
vulnerable people in our community due to changes in services, reduced family or 
professional visits, financial scamming, online grooming and increasing pressures within 
households. A global surge in domestic abuse has been reported during the pandemic. In 
the UK calls to the national domestic abuse helpline were 49% higher than average in the 
last week of the first lockdown. 

The CCG Safeguarding Adults Team supported the Hertfordshire response to COVID 
including the work below: 
 

• At the start of the pandemic concerns were raised across the Hertfordshire multi-
agency partnership that advance planning and DNACPR (do not attempt 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation) directives were being completed outside the legal 
framework of the Mental Capacity Act (MCA). The national joint statement on 
advance planning from the Royal Colleges was shared with primary care, CCG staff 
and care providers and the impact of this on practice was monitored. Inappropriate 
DNACPR or advance planning for an adult with care and support needs is considered 
abuse. Care homes, Hertfordshire County Council and health providers have 
remained vigilant when completing or reviewing DNACPR, advance planning or 
treatment escalation plans. Where the decision or documentation of the decision 
causes concern a safeguarding referral is made, an enquiry is held under section 42 
of the Care Act and appropriate action taken to rectify the situation 
 

• We shared relevant information about the MCA and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) with CCG staff, hospital and community service providers, 
including guidance for when an individual without mental capacity is unable to 
comply with self-isolation or social distancing and easy-read resources 
 

• Assurance was secured from community services that consent for COVID swabbing 
was being gained in adherence with the MCA.  We produced and shared briefings 
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about mental capacity and consent for flu and COVID vaccinations 
 

• We took part in regional and national safeguarding networks to share best practice 
and raise awareness of current safeguarding adult themes 
 

• We produced briefing documents highlighting key concerns which were shared 
across the CCG and primary care and created a joint virtual presentation with the 
Safeguarding Children Team which was delivered to GPs 
 

• We worked with partnership agencies to support care homes and care providers to 
monitor quality 
 

• Represented the CCG in domestic abuse response work, including facilitating 
transport for victims who have, or have been exposed to COVID, into refuge and 
facilitating the display of domestic abuse posters at swabbing sites  
 

• We worked with private providers to ensure safeguarding processes were in place 
for asylum seekers being accommodated in Hertfordshire 
 

• The team supported CCG staff in managing complex cases through individual case 
discussions and group supervision. Support and guidance was also given for provider 
colleagues and primary care to manage complex cases through individual case 
discussions and interventions 
 

• Commissioned a review of cases that relate to domestic abuse, mental health issues 
and alcohol abuse 
 

• Successfully delivered two domestic abuse conferences and four Level 3 
safeguarding training afternoons for primary care on a virtual platform with 
excellent feedback 
 

Safeguarding children 

Primary Care 

• The Designated Team continues to support and offer expert safeguarding advice to 
GP Practices throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. A bespoke practice support tool 
underpins this activity in addition to an updated safeguarding template 
incorporated within the supporting documentation used for CCG quality visits.  
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• An audit is being undertaken in partnership with children’s services to review the 
quality of information sharing by primary care colleagues which will provide 
valuable feedback to the CCG.  It is envisaged that the findings from this audit will 
support the development of future processes to ensure that this vital aspect of 
safeguarding within primary care is consistently standardised and of high quality. 
 

• GP practices contribute to section 17/47 reports that provide updates on known 
risks/concerns. This supports children’s services to carry out a full assessment in 
response to referral of significant harm. An audit completed by the Designated 
Team showed on average a report took 25 minutes to complete. Infrequently it took 
up to an hour. 
 

Secondary (hospital) Care 

• The team has continued business as usual, gaining assurance via quarterly 
dashboards and the progression of all statutory annual Section 11 assurance visits in 
2020, along with supporting public health commissioners with the same. Action 
plans continue to be monitored via provider organisation quarterly safeguarding 
meetings. 
 

• The team continues to work with the East of England regional team to support work 
in relation to the impact of COVID on children and young people and the 
exploitation of children and adults.  
 

• The team continues to work with the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children 
partnership to manage, review and escalate issues as they emerge and to support 
the monitoring of our most vulnerable children.  The team has also adapted and 
delivered training related to learning lessons from five children who were the 
subjects of Serious Case Reviews between 2017 and 2019. 
 

• There is a perceived, yet unknown risk due to the invisibility of children over the last 
year and, as yet, the impact on children who are not known to be vulnerable is not 
fully understood. The team will be working closely with provider organisations and 
the partnership to consider approaches to ensuring invisible children are identified 
and not overlooked. 
 

• Team members were redeployed to support providers during the first lockdown and 
support HUC in the current lockdown. 
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Looked after children  

• In response to the COVID-19 pandemic the Designated Looked After Children’s (LAC) 
team has implemented closer working practice between the LAC Health team and 
social care in order to identify and share information around specific vulnerable 
children and young people. 
 

• The Designated LAC team is a member of a new regional group on child sexual 
exploitation with a remit to understand and influence the regional health response 
 

• An audit with CAMHS is taking place to review outcomes for LAC referrals made into 
the service and information sharing to health colleagues.  The findings from this 
audit will be used to identify and build upon good practice so that all health 
partners are consistently informed of relevant information with regards to Looked 
after children and young people and referral progress to support their identified 
health needs. 
 

• The Joint Strategic Needs assessment (JSNA) for LAC, under the direction of public 
health has begun. The JSNA will provide data and information to support the CCG’s 
strategy for looked after children in Hertfordshire for 2021–2023. 

 

Child Deaths 

• The team continues to support child death arrangements within Hertfordshire with 
the addition of a Nurse Specialist to the CCG team to facilitate this role. A workshop 
held during the year has led to increased participation using a virtual platform. 
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Improving the health of people with a learning disability   
 

• The Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) continued throughout the year, 
and the national target of 100% completion of reviews was met (Dec 2020). Both 
the Hertfordshire LeDeR Steering Group and Improving Health Outcomes Group 
(IHOG) continued to meet virtually for assurance that work to reduce health 
inequalities continues to be a priority and learning from reviews is applied.    
 

• Delivery of Annual Health Checks for people with learning disabilities has remained 
a priority during the pandemic.  A phased pathway to completing Annual Health 
Checks was developed by the Learning Disability Nursing Service which enabled 
checks to continue with reduced time in face-to-face contact.  The national target 
for Annual Health Check delivery has been reduced to 67% (from 75%) to account 
for the impact of the pandemic.   
 
The official year end national data is usually published in June for the preceding 
year.  Data from NHS Digital released for Q1-4 shows that the CCG completed 1,977 
annual health checks in 2020/21.  NHS digital register data for Q4 is 
incomplete.  Work is underway within the CCG to seek solutions to be able to 
support practices to monitor their QOF registers through Ardens more effectively. 
 

• The STOMP/STAMP programme to address over-medication of people with a 
learning disability or autism with psychotropic medications was paused during the 
pandemic.   

The steering group reconvened in November 2020 and individual casework had 
resumed by this point.  Although the STOMP/STAMP programme has continued 
since, there is a temporary pause on starting new reductions of medications due to 
pressures within the system.  However, the STOMP nurse continues to support 
those mid-reduction and work continues on the action plan. 
 

• Care and Treatment Reviews continued in a virtual adapted format for both 
community and inpatient formats.  6-8 week monitoring visits of specialist LD 
hospitals continued in both adapted virtual and on-site formats depending on the 
outcome of risk assessments. Admissions and discharges from specialist hospitals 
continued with risk assessment process applied to inform these. Host commissioner 
responsibilities continued, overseeing community and inpatient specialist LD 
hospital services. 
 

• During the second wave of COVID, LD inpatient services were impacted by COVID 
outbreaks. Staffing contingency and business continuity plans were mobilised, with 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/learning-disabilities/improving-health/mortality-review/
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commissioners having oversight with HPFT on its staffing, patient safety and 
wellbeing.  
 
Arrangements were put in place to support vulnerable inpatients with LD, ensuring 
regular contact with families and social workers.  
 

• A great deal of work has taken place between health and social care to promote and 
support the COVID vaccination for people with LD. Hertfordshire patients with a 
learning disability were encouraged to come forward to be vaccinated as part of the 
priority cohorts in February and March. 
 

 

REDUCING HEALTH INEQUALITIES 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is committed to taking action on the inequalities 
experienced by the population that we serve. The CCG supports a number of initiatives 
which aim to improve social inclusion, reduce isolation and improve mental wellbeing in 
some of the most disadvantaged communities, and in those living with long-term 
conditions.  

While most of our population enjoys good health and have better health outcomes 
compared with the rest of the country, we know that significant health inequalities exist 
and some of our residents are dying from illnesses such as circulatory diseases, cancer and 
respiratory diseases at a younger age than we would expect.  
 
Those at high risk include: people who are socio-economically disadvantaged; those with 
protected characteristics, for example people from a Black, Asian or minority ethnic 
background and those who are socially excluded, for example the homeless and people 
from a Gypsy, Roma or Traveller background. 

There are differences in people’s health outcomes in different districts. For example:  

• Life expectancy for women in east Hertfordshire is two years longer than in north 
Hertfordshire. In the Welwyn Hatfield area – the gap is 8.9 years between the most 
and least deprived areas of this borough.  

• More people in the borough of Broxbourne have been diagnosed with diabetes than 
other areas of the county  

• Stevenage generally tends to have poorer health outcomes than other districts in 
the county.  
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• Deaths from heart disease are more common in Stevenage than the rest of 
Hertfordshire  
 

Working with partners to tackle health inequalities  
The CCG understands that by working together with partners across the health and social 
care system to identify and address health inequalities we can help secure improved health 
outcomes for our local population.  Our colleagues in Public Health Hertfordshire lead this 
work and have a number of statutory responsibilities.  

‘Population health management’ is an approach that will help us to target our collective 
resources where evidence shows that we can have the greatest impact. Local government 
and health organisations, together with the community and voluntary sector, will deliver 
joined-up services to defined groups of the population. In this way, we will prevent, reduce, 
or delay need before it escalates; and prevent people with complex needs from reaching 
crisis points. 

We know that people’s health, access to services and experiences can be affected by many 
factors. The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed how health inequalities can affect people not 
just over a lifetime but in a matter of weeks. The CCG is committed as a commissioner to 
planning services that meet the needs of everyone in our communities and we strive to 
continue to improve access for patients, in part by meeting our Public Sector Equality Duty 
and our requirements under the Equality Act 2010. We are also working hard to give equal 
priority to physical and mental health needs.  

Tackling health inequalities for people of all ages, or ‘life stages’, is a key local ambition. The 
Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy is based around these four life stages: 

• Starting well 
• Developing well 
• Living and working well 
• Ageing well 

The strategy will be reviewed and refreshed during 2021/22 following disruption this year 
from the COVID pandemic. Engagement with a wide range of stakeholders will take place to 
gain a better understanding of the diversity and variety of health and wellbeing activity that 
takes place across the county and the role that local areas, networks and communities can 
play in helping to achieve improvements. 
 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/health-in-herts/health-in-herts.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-council/partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/hertfordshire-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-2016-%E2%80%93-2020.pdf
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The role of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board  
The Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, Hertfordshire 
County Council and local district and borough councils, Healthwatch Hertfordshire and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, to plan how best to meet the needs of Hertfordshire’s 
population and tackle local inequalities in health. East and North Hertfordshire CCG is one 
of the key decision makers represented on the Board.  

The CCG works with partners taking a joined-up approach to tackle the causes of poor 
health as well as supporting people to make healthier lifestyle choices and improving 
healthcare. Hertfordshire has a strong history of partnership working and to date has had 
one of the largest pooled Better Care Funds in the country. This brings NHS and social care 
money into a single shared fund to help prevent older and vulnerable people going into 
hospital when they don’t need to and provide them with support in their community. 
 

The CCG’s approach on inequality 
Using insight 
 
To help plan our work and identify need, we use information, data and insight.  This is 
provided by our partnership with Mede Analytics and the information available to us 
through Public Health Hertfordshire, Herts Health Evidence and Public Health England. We 
use the NHS RightCare Pack for our area to help us understand how we compare to other 
parts of the country with similar demographics. These packs have been developed by a 
partnership of the NHS and a number of universities and aim to support health and care 
systems design and deliver services that work to reduce health inequalities in access to 
services and health outcomes for their diverse local populations. 
 
One of the challenges facing Hertfordshire is how we deliver the best care for our 
increasingly ageing population. We expect the number of over-75s to increase by 37% in 
the next 10 years. We are working to increase the support available, and we aim to identify 
people at risk of avoidable hospital admission sooner, before they reach the point where 
they are no longer managing to cope. We will achieve this by creating integrated teams; 
with primary care, community health, mental health and learning disability, ambulance and 
social care services working together in the community. 

We will ensure people who are most “at risk” – due to social vulnerabilities and their 
clinical needs – are prioritised for integrated care plans that are person, carer and whole-
system owned. This will include groups of people who have the biggest inequalities in 
health such as looked after children, those with serious mental illness and people with 

https://www.hertshealthevidence.org/herts-health-evidence.aspx
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
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learning disabilities, as well as those with a high frailty score. We are also seeking to 
develop personalised plans around people who have had multiple A&E attendances, 
multiple emergency admissions and those who have used 999 or 111 multiple times.  

The following will support this:  

• We have completed an analysis of needs across the CCG population, including the 
inequalities in health outcomes across the patch. This is being used to identify the 
priorities for the system going forward. At a PCN level the analysis highlights where 
there is variation in outcomes and the specific factors that may be driving those 
poorer outcomes (such as deprivation, ethnicity or other factors) and identifies 
patients at greatest risk of poor outcomes, based on those factors.  
 

• We’re prioritising the introduction of personal health budgets for more of our 
residents with complex health needs  
 

• Every Primary Care Network employs a social prescribing ‘link worker’ – focused on 
ensuring that people with non-medical issues that are making them ill, like 
loneliness, can access the help they need.  

Clinical evidence 
 
Since 2017 we have been using our ‘prioritisation framework’ to provide a structured, 
evidence-based way of considering which services could be commissioned by the CCG 
within its limited budget. This framework, used alongside our detailed equality impact 
assessment process allows our governing body to evaluate all proposals ensuring they 
produce the best outcomes for patients, offer good value for money and don’t negatively 
impact on particular groups of people.  
 
The CCG employs a number of ‘clinical fellows’ whose role is to provide clinical insight to 
support the CCG in developing its plans. They review the available evidence to develop 
robust, evidence-based care pathways, new models of care and service transformation 
plans, which support the implementation of a population health management approach 
within the CCG and STP. 
 
Improving our equality impact analysis  

The CCG is continuously improving its approach to equality impact analysis (EIA).  All CCG 
staff are reminded of the requirement to undertake thorough equality impact assessments 
at the planning stage of any project and training is available for those who need extra 
support.  
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A number of other CCG projects aim to ensure patients have access to the same standard 
of care, wherever they live and whatever their background:  

• Our GP practices use an electronic ‘clinical decision support tool’ (Ardens) which 
helps GPs to assess people’s symptoms and ensure their conditions and any 
treatment they need are managed according to recognised best practice and similar 
pathways are followed for all patients  
 

• This year, the CCG continued the roll out of its ‘rainbow badge’ scheme to educate 
staff about the health inequalities faced by the LGBTQ+ community and what 
actions should be taken to support people with particular needs. The training will 
then be rolled out to GP practices later in 2021 
 

• Across east and north Hertfordshire, a new survey was launched in March to gain 
vital feedback on end of life care to help improve services and share learning, so 
that all patients and their families are offered a choice of where and how they 
would like this care to be provided    
 

• The CCG policy on the storage of gametes was updated to ensure that it would 
better meet the needs of Trans people and others undergoing treatment which 
could affect their fertility who might wish to have IVF treatment in the future 
 

• Registering with a GP now is easier than ever, with no identity or address checks 
required. The aim is to enable everyone to access primary care and will particularly 
focus on encouraging those who are homeless or who have recently moved to this 
country to come forward 
 

• The CCG and its partners are using local data to understand the local issues 
surrounding vaccine inequality and adapt our delivery plans to address them. For 
example we invited all patients with any learning disability to have their COVID 
vaccination before the national directive as we know that this group of patients 
have other health needs which make them more vulnerable to COVID. Throughout 
the pandemic we have also made significant efforts to reach our Black, Asian and 
minority ethnic communities with our messaging, including using native-speaking 
local health professionals to film videos for social media   
 

• The CCG continues to actively support young carers living in our area. Our contracts 
with providers have been rewritten to ensure that organisations who provide care 
for our patients also take account of the needs of young carers 
 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wp-content/uploads/sites/52/2021/02/C1158-supporting-ccgs-to-address-vaccine-inequalities.pdf
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• The CCG and its community partners are working to ensure that services to look 
after people’s ulcers and wounds and prevent them developing are as good as 
possible. People with complex wounds tend to be elderly. Complex wounds can take 
months to heal and are often recurrent. The care someone receives varies 
depending on where they live and what organisation is helping them. With some 
routine checks suspended during the first wave of COVID, we are also aware that 
there may be some patients whose diabetic foot ulcers may not have been 
monitored as closely as before. There is a programme of work ongoing to 
standardise pathways across the ICS area and help those who are not getting the 
optimum care, such as people who are housebound or who have accompanying 
mental health issues 
 

• Hertfordshire’s Community Navigators and Social Prescribing Link Workers are 
making ‘keeping in touch calls’ to the most vulnerable and have helped us to 
distribute copies of a CCG booklet givng health and wellbeing advice to older 
people who may be digitally excluded.  

https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/publications/2020/november/your-guide-to-staying-well-in-hertfordshire
https://www.healthierfuture.org.uk/publications/2020/november/your-guide-to-staying-well-in-hertfordshire
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PATIENT AND PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 
The engagement team began the year determined to evolve established ways of working, 
strengthening relationships with stakeholders and building new ones with inclusive and 
representative communities. This was to be matched by the development of CCG 
colleagues’ understanding of engagement practice, helping to improve the inclusion of the 
patient voice across all work areas. 

The COVID-19 pandemic, however, meant a shift in mode and focus. From a practical point 
of view, every face-to-face mechanism of engagement stopped due to national restrictions. 
This required a change in mindset and approach and a new strategy to ensure that our 
work supports both our residents and the services we commission to tackle the challenges 
posed by the pandemic.     

Our focus shifted to engaging people about NHS services in a changing environment.  Some 
people were worried about using NHS services, either because they thought they may 
spread the virus or catch it. Therefore a lot of engagement and communications activity has 
centred on assuring people that it is safe to access the NHS.   

Throughout the pandemic response, we have been able to continue to work very closely 
with GP surgery patient participation groups (PPGs) via the Patient Locality Networks 
(PLNs), which have continued to meet online. These networks reach out into, and work 
hard to represent, their communities and engage others to have their say about services. 
This year has shown how vital that community connectivity is – from PPGs meetings online 
which resulted in attracting more people logging in to observe those sessions, to volunteers 
helping inform those who might be feeling isolated, concerned or worried about accessing 
NHS services.  

Our core governance committees are the Primary Care Commissioning Committee and 
Patient Network Quality. We also provide regular assurance to our Lay Member for Patient 
and Public Involvement, the CCG’s Governing Body, and submit a wide-ranging self-
assessment to NHS England on governance, reporting and equalities. Later in this section, 
we describe the latest assessment of our performance in this area, which we are very 
pleased to say is even stronger than last year’s. 

Internal audit recommendations and engagement with our numerous volunteer members 
also help us to regularly reflect on our engagement practice and make improvements to 
our work wherever possible.  
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        I am the Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement on the CCG’s Governing Body, 
so I attend many workshops and committees and take part in as wide a range of patient 
engagement events as possible.   
 
I undertake the same role in the CCG in the other part of the county - Herts Valleys - and 
being involved in both organisations provides me with a lot of opportunity to support the 
transformational changes we are now involved in.  I can identify and share best practice, 
and I regularly meet with the engagement leads from both CCGs where we discuss and look 
for opportunities to collaborate.   

For example, we have brought together both CCGs’ patient engagement networks for 
webinars and zoom meetings about Hertfordshire-centric services and topics, such as the 
latest developments regarding the COVID-19 pandemic and more recently the vaccination 
programme.  This has supported our efforts to maintain regular and supportive contact 
with our patient networks through the pandemic and further developed cross-county 
activity which supports our journey towards joint working. Our patient networks are clearly 
hungry for information and the opportunity to support our efforts and it is clear to me that 
our communications and engagement team has flexed, stretched and shown great 
imagination in using that appetite to best community effect.    

I’m really looking forward to taking this collaboration further to find solutions to common 
challenges, especially in terms of informing and guiding our patients and the public through 
the recovery of our local NHS services in the ‘post pandemic’ environment. Continuing to 
work together where possible helps to further shape what engagement and inclusivity 
looks and feels like in our integrated care system (ICS) to benefit the patients and the 
health of as many people as possible.  

I love getting involved in the work (‘involve me and I will understand!’) and this ordinarily 
means time away from meetings to take part in activities such as quality assurance visits, 
and ‘winter warmer’ events. Going online to engage with others has changed this 
somewhat, bringing benefits as well as disadvantages.  Online topic focussed meetings have 
attracted a broader audience for many of our sessions, and consequently a broader range 
of people to engage with. Contact has also been more frequent as many people have found 
it much easier to simply click into an online session for an hour than travel to a meeting 
after a busy working day.   

The way we engage with our patients and the public is very different now but I really feel 
that there are good things learned that we can take forward, along with picking up some of 
the activities and involvement opportunities that we have had to temporarily put aside.   I 
complete this year feeling even more confident of assuring the Governing Body about the 
range, depth and meaningfulness of our patient involvement activity. 

“ 
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Thank you to everyone involved in patient and public involvement work for what has been 
an unprecedented year; our volunteer representatives have gone above and beyond to 
support the CCG’s work and continue to be valuable ‘critical friends’ in their roles of 
community representatives.  I am committed to understand more, explore best practice, 
and support engagement activities as we work towards the COVID-19 recovery and an ever-
more integrated system in Hertfordshire.  

 
 

 

 
 

Alison Gardner,  
Lay member for Patient and Public Involvement 

 
 

What we’ve been doing 
Service design, commissioning and change 

To improve access to care and patient outcomes, we gather feedback from a range of 
stakeholders - patients, families and carers with experience of using services; patient voice 
volunteers; and stakeholder organisations such as Healthwatch Hertfordshire. Data and 
other insights also play a valuable part in our ongoing commitment to improve.  

Last summer, we ran a short engagement process with patients using a warfarin-only 
anticoagulation service in north Hertfordshire. The providers delivering the service to local 
GP practices had served three months’ notice on the contract in June and we set up an 
engagement process to get feedback from patients and other stakeholders and to provide 
them with updates on the service change.  

The CCG’s Patient Locality Network members for north Hertfordshire were also briefed on 
the process to change provider. We also kept stakeholders including MPs updated on the 
process.  

The engagement process and outcomes were a success. More than 300 patients/family 
members telephoned, emailed or wrote in – a response which was better than we 
envisaged. It meant every piece of feedback could be used to better influence the 
procurement process and contract detail. 

” 
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The overall theme from these responses was about travelling to and from appointments. 
People were concerned that moving from their GP surgery to a more central site would 
cause difficulties with transport.  Hertfordshire Community Trust (HCT), which was chosen 
to run the service, took on board the patient feedback. Later in the process, the Trust wrote 
to patients assuring them that access to the service would stay the same.  

As well as this local work, we encouraged people to engage with the Mount Vernon Cancer 
Centre review which started in 2019.. An engagement exercise is also being undertaken 
with the public on the plans for the new Princess Alexandra Hospital in Harlow which serves 
our east Hertfordshire communities.  

Community engagement and education 

The CCG’s Cancel out Cancer campaign includes an hour long interactive session to help 
people understand screening programmes, symptoms and reducing risks for cancer.  

Cancel out Cancer (CoC) had been delivered through face-to-face sessions with groups and 
organisations, including Carers in Herts and the Irish Stevenage Network, from early 2019. 
Unfortunately, expansion of this programme was impacted on by COVID-19 and in March 
2020 we had to cancel upcoming sessions indefinitely. 

The volunteers who deliver the sessions on behalf of the CCG were understandably 
disappointed by this cancellation. However, a suggestion to transfer the sessions online re-
invigorated the team to work on a solution.  The reshaping of how the information sessions 
were delivered meant new materials, while volunteers learnt how to present the sessions 
online – something everyone was learning in the early part of the pandemic. 

The new-look sessions were launched at the end of the summer and by the end of March 
2021, more than 200 people had taken part in sessions following GP practice texts to 
patients, community connections and marketing to stakeholders. These people were able 
to participate in CoC sooner rather than later thanks to the hard work of the volunteer 
team to take sessions online. 

A work programme for 2021 has been produced to ensure more volunteers are trained to 
be presenters, and to improve marketing and stakeholder relationships to lead to more 
sessions. A long-term strategy will also be produced for the campaign beyond 2021. 

The session uses Cancer Research UK information and educational materials and the format 
of the interactive engagement workshops are similar to a Dementia Friends session. To get 
involved, please visit: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/canceloutcancer  
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/canceloutcancer
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Patient representatives Justin Jewitt and Peter Wilson sit on the CCG’s Cancer Steering 
Group, and lead the Cancel out Cancel Working Group. Here they reflect on the shift to 
delivering sessions online, and what it meant for them. 

              
           Out of adversity comes opportunity. Cancel out Cancer face-to-face presentations 
stopped abruptly in March - no-one wanted them and no-one wanted to do them.   

Then we moved online! It took a working group of challenged 60+ year old volunteers who 
learned a lot about virtual meetings, digital technology and patience, plus laughter, to get 
into online presentations by October. 

Now I am a Martini presenter - it’s easy for me to present to any group 
any time, any place, anywhere! There is no travelling, no need to book 
meeting rooms, and no limit to the number of people who can attend;  
if more than 30 people want to sign up for a session, then we just put on 
more than one presentation at a time! A virtual revolution for us all. 

 
Justin Jewitt 

             The Cancel out Cancer presenters were meeting in the early stages of lockdown. We 
were discussing how the programme could be transformed from face-to-face and 
presented online. We are a vocal, innovative and co-operative group and suggestions were 
flying thick and fast (even over Zoom) each one triggering several more. One thing was 
clearly lacking, and I said “What we need is a set of slides supported by a presenter 
workbook.”  That was it, I had logged into the meeting with a scant knowledge of Zoom and 
I left with a task, a copy of the presenters’ manual and some background experience with 
PowerPoint. 

It was a steep learning curve - challenging but engaging. We have now been presenting 
online to appreciative audiences since the summer and judging by the feedback, it feels like 
we are making a significant difference  

Transforming Cancel out Cancer was a challenge and a worthwhile and 
rewarding occupation (it still is). The team was locked down but the result 
has freed us to reach larger and wider audiences. Would I do it again? 
You bet. 

 
Dr Peter Wilson  

 

“ 

” 
“ 

” 
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Activity and planning with CCG teams and external 
stakeholders  
 
Long Term Conditions Strategy 

This strategy was updated in 2020 to reflect how a proportion of patients need long-term 
care as a result of COVID-19, and that a significant number of patients have delayed care 
and unmet needs. It has also brought a new focus to patients with long-term conditions 
and forced care to be delivered in different ways which can be adopted post-pandemic. The 
objectives for engagement and communications include: 
 

• campaigns, covering living well at the end of life, and prevention of conditions 
• a central point of information which patients, carers and health care professionals 

can access 
• a rolling education programme about living with, and managing, long term 

conditions. 
 
We will work closely with the CCG’s Project Management Office to meet these objectives. 
  
 
Primary care networks 

GP practices in east and north Hertfordshire are grouped into primary care networks 
(PCNs), with an aim to ensure a more proactive and coordinated approach to health and 
social care. We have worked where possible to raise awareness of PCNs and the part they 
play in community health and wellbeing.  
 
One project focused on how patients’ views should be heard at PCN level. Guidance for 
PCNs on working with all their patient participation groups (PPGs) more closely and in a 
collaborative way was limited. It was therefore agreed by the Governing Body that the CCG 
help provide local guidance on best practice. The work to put together this guidance 
included CCG Primary Care Development colleagues, patient representatives, and PCN 
clinical directors. 

In 2021/22 we will continue to work to raise the profile of PPGs in their local PCNs and 
encourage them to work more closely together across boundaries.  
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Supporting our volunteers 

We provide support to our regular volunteers and celebrate their contribution to our 
organisation and in 2020/21 we were really grateful for the amount of support and input 
from Patient Locality Network (PLN) members. PLN members work with the CCG by 
representing their GP practice patient participation groups (PPGs), help us link into 
communities, and reach out to people in their networks who have ‘lived experience’ of 
using NHS services e.g. people with long term conditions.  

As noted already, moving our engagement work from face-to-face to online was hard to 
adopt at first, as it was a new way of doing things for virtually everyone including CCG staff. 
Through perseverance and learning together, we were able to run PLN meetings, and four 
Patient Network Quality meetings, online. It has led to more flexibility in when we hold 
meetings and other sessions, and members are able to join from the comfort of their home.  

Meeting online isn’t an option for every volunteer we work with or indeed every patient 
and public group we want to engage with. Therefore, we want to explore inclusive and 
sustainable solutions that can help everyone stay connected.  

We send regular email updates to PLN members during the COVID-19 response, helping 
people who may have felt particularly anxious or isolated hopefully feel better connected. 
We have received positive feedback for this additional communication method and plan to 
keep the email updates going beyond the pandemic response.   

Training and support for our volunteers helps them feel supported in their role. They are 
made aware of training workshops and online information from trusted sources as the 
Kings Fund. NHS England also provides a suite of opportunities for patient voice 
representatives which we will promote to volunteers. 

In a first for the two Hertfordshire CCGs, we ran three online webinars for both sets of 
patient network members. This helped meet an objective our engagement team set earlier 
in 2020, to hold two development and networking days for volunteer members. 

Instead of holding a winter celebration event for volunteers in December, we ran a more 
informal evening event online during which participants reflected on the year’s events. It 
gave us a chance to thank everyone for the different activities they had undertaken and in 
the spirit of the festive season, we also ran a short quiz.  

The Health Involvement Network is a ‘closed’ Facebook group to help improve our virtual 
engagement. The member includes volunteers as well as people registered with a GP 
practice in our area who want to be kept up to date on views and best practice from the 
health and care world. You can find out more details on our social media engagement 
activities here: https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media
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Access to services for veterans 

The CCG’s has supported Healthwatch Hertfordshire’s work with the Hertfordshire Armed 
Forces Covenant Board.  

The first stage of the work was to help Healthwatch identify and understand the healthcare 
access needs of local veterans and how organisations respond to this. We then took part in 
a co-production meeting bringing together veterans, NHS professionals and members of 
the Hertfordshire Armed Forces Covenant Board. The session involved positive discussions 
on a way to taking Healthwatch’s findings forward. 

Healthwatch’s report has set out some key considerations and actions for the CCG and 
other organisations. In response, the engagement teams in Hertfordshire will also work on 
stakeholder engagement to help identify veterans in our area, whilst raising awareness of 
the benefits of the identification. This, for instance, would mean encouraging veterans to 
be explicit about their career in the Armed Forces when registering with a GP.  



Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
_____________________________________________________________________    78 

These highlights are just a snapshot of the engagement activity we have undertaken over 
the course of the past year. You can see some of our work alongside Healthwatch, the 
voluntary and community sector and of course our public volunteers on our website at: 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved  

 
You said, we did 
Here are a few highlights of the difference patients and stakeholders have made to our 
work:  

Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 
 
Engagement 
about the COVID-
19 pandemic 
response 

 
We want to support 
the CCG in sharing 
information about 
NHS services, 
testing, vaccination 
and have the chance 
to influence 
messages through 
feedback 

 
Our Patient Locality Network (PLN) shared 
information about a range of COVID-related 
help and guidance for communities, including 
testing, access to NHS services, vaccinations, 
community safety (e.g. ‘hands-face-space’), 
and access to support. 
 
PLN members took part in two webinars 
about winter communications to take 
messages back to their communities about 
staying healthy. 
 
They have received regular updates on the 
system response to the pandemic, including 
Local Resilience Forum newsletters 
 

 
Cancel Out Cancer 

 
Volunteers wanted 
to overcome the 
COVID-19 
restrictions on face-
to-face engagement 
by exploring online 
options to deliver 
the sessions 
 

 
We identified that the volunteers could use 
online platforms and worked together to 
learn the features of these programmes. IT 
colleagues helped to set up accounts with MS 
Teams so that we were able to offer more 
than one choice of online programme to 
potential participants. New materials were 
developed to make the sessions online 
friendly. 
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved


Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
_____________________________________________________________________    79 

Project You Said We Did/Are Doing 
 
Primary Care 
Network 
engagement 

 
PPGs need to play a 
meaningful role 
within primary care 
networks to help 
community 
engagement and 
collaborate on PCN-
centred work  
 

 
The experiences of Patient Locality Network 
members, clinical directors, and research 
from other areas helped set out a ‘best 
practice’ framework for PCNs.  
 
We also advise PLN members on how PPGs in 
their networks can get better connected  

Involving all of our community 
We want to ensure all of our population is considered and consulted in our decision-
making. Our activities are evidence-based and intelligence-led, with projects subject to 
rigorous equality impact assessments. These are published as part of our Governing Body 
papers on the website here: https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-
in-public  

Engagement with partners, stakeholders and community groups acting as advocates or 
representatives in Hertfordshire contributes to this work. In 2020/21, the CCG has 
continued to be involved in, or engaged with, many groups including: 

• Local authority health and wellbeing boards 
• COVID-19 response LRF ‘cells’  
• Carers Co-production Board 
• Hertfordshire Tackling Loneliness Steering Group  
• Hertfordshire Equality Committee 
• Mental Health Crisis Concordat.  

If there is no existing stakeholder group to reference or work with, we look to engage with 
specialist organisations such as local CVS organisations. 

We aim to ensure public involvement meetings and access to engagement meet the needs 
of those taking part.  We ensure there are options to engage face-to-face, online, by 
telephone or post. We also work with an external company to produce different formats of 
documents and materials, including ‘easy read’ format.  

Herts Health Matters is a fortnightly e-newsletter sent to our patient volunteer network 
and anyone who signs up via the website. It summarises local and national health related 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-in-public
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news, and highlights involvement and volunteering opportunities and local events: 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media  

We will build on exploring inclusive and sustainable solutions that can help everyone stay 
connected, overcoming digital exclusion brought about by a change in approach because of 
the pandemic. Traditional face-to-face engagement in halls and conference centres were 
not particularly accessible to people with mobility needs, carers, or those who rely on 
public transport, so a balance does need to be struck to support as many people as possible 
to get involved. 

 
NHS England Oversight Framework 

While everyone is responsible for maintaining and protecting the good reputation of our 
CCG, our team are subject experts and support a range of work to ensure engagement and 
inclusion; the public and patient voice is a key part of this.  

Some of this is demonstrated through a national assessment by NHS England which 
includes a Patient and Community Engagement Indicator to help CCGs demonstrate 
compliance with statutory guidance on patient and public participation in commissioning 
health and care. 

The CCG was very pleased to receive a ‘Green Star’ rating for the 2019/20 submission. The 
rating for 2018/19 was Green, and for 2017/18 was Amber, so this is encouraging progress. 
You can read more about the CCG’s overall ‘outstanding’ rating on page 52. 
 

The year ahead 
A revised Communications and Engagement Strategy now takes into account the work that 
had taken place and needed to continue as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic response.  

We will continue to ensure that we help people by being equipped to: 

• feed back their experiences of care in order to ensure that patients’ needs continue 
to be taken into consideration 

• access the practical, financial and mental health support they need to cope with the 
impact of the pandemic on their daily lives.     

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/newsletter-social-media
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Other activities we will focus on include: 

• workshops for PLN members to hear from key speakers and have a platform within 
which to talk with one another about best practice and overcoming challenges; 
equip volunteers with training and development opportunities as part of this 
 

• supporting the PLN and PCN colleagues to develop a wider reach to their population 
and stakeholders  
 

• revisiting the young carers project from 2019 to ensure the improvements made 
have kept up with their needs, and start another similar project with a different 
group of young people  
 

• engagement work related to living with, and managing, long term conditions  
 

• informing and helping build the engagement model for the integrated care provider 
(ICP) system 
 

• working closely with Herts Valleys and West Essex CCGs particularly looking at 
volunteer recruitment and development. 

 
We want to say a huge thank you to patient member volunteers and stakeholders for 
supporting our engagement work. This is particularly when the issue of engagement and 
how it can be done meaningfully has proved challenging at times. Your support helps us 
make important decisions, improve services and ensure quality is at the heart of what we 
do.  

To get involved with any of the activities you have read about, or simply have your say on 
local health services in east and north Hertfordshire, then visit 
www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved, call 01707 685 397 or email 
enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net  

 

 

 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/get-involved
mailto:enhertsccg.engagement@nhs.net
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The view from Healthwatch Hertfordshire          
 

         We help people to find out about local health and social care services; and listen to 
people’s views and experiences of using these services. Using this information, we work 
with decision makers, like East and North Hertfordshire CCG, to help improve services and 
champion the involvement of patients, carers, and service users in changes to care.  

We have again worked closely with the CCG over the past year, despite the considerable 
challenges faced by the NHS. This has included sharing the findings of our research projects 
looking at the experiences of people during the pandemic and planning our work to identify 
the health-related issues in relation to the veteran community.  

We have also shared information and intelligence on service providers to enhance the 
CCG’s quality monitoring activities and improve patient experience.  Here the patient 
experience helps identify areas for improvement, and the CCG has welcomed this input 
when contact with patients has not always been easy to maintain. 

The last year has made some of usual co-operative work unachievable – public meetings 
where Healthwatch has previously provided independent chairing or facilitation have not 
been possible.  We do look forward to continuing to work in partnership to help improve 
services for patients and would like to take this opportunity to thank the CCG for its 
continued support. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Geoff Brown, Chief Executive,  
Healthwatch Hertfordshire 

 

  

“ 

” 
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THE WORK OF HERTFORDSHIRE, BEDFORDSHIRE 
AND LUTON (HBL) ICT SERVICES 
Hosted by East and North Hertfordshire CCG, HBL ICT delivers IT services to a number of 
NHS clients, including the CCG and some of its key provider organisations. In July 2020, we 
successfully introduced Milton Keynes CCG and its associated GP practices as the seventh 
member of the HBL Partnership. In 2021 West Essex CCG became the 8th member 
organisation. 

Like all parts of the NHS, 2020 has been a very different year for HBL ICT than the one we 
initially thought we would embark upon. ICT has provided a robust digital response to the 
pandemic, supporting both the initial operational and the recovery phase, and in December 
successfully supported the digital requirements of the vaccination programme. 

The strategic investments made by the partnership have enabled us to increase the 
capacity of our core network, support users with our new communication channels to the 
service desk and rapidly deploy new collaboration technologies and additional end-user 
devices to trusts and to GP practices. This has enabled clinicians and corporate staff to 
adapt and adopt agile ways of working to maintain clinical care. 

We have received very positive feedback for the significant contribution, and the pace and 
scale at which it was delivered across the two Integrated Care Systems that we are part of. 

Financial position 
At the end of financial year 2019/20, HBL ICT met the control total specified by the 
Partnership Board, including the national efficiency target of 1.1%. In 2020/21, investment 
has been required in order to manage the introduction of Milton Keynes CCG. 

Funding sources remained consistent with previous years, but due to a rise in activity and 
additional customer requirements, a modest growth in revenue was achieved. The 
expenditure linked to this development was successfully managed to generate a small 
saving. Despite the unavailability of capital budgets, HBLICT managed to maintain its 
current infrastructure without any further use of external funds. This was done mainly 
through the realisation of efficiencies from active investments previously deployed. 

A further challenge this year due to COVID-19 has been to manage a different financial 
income regime from our member organisations, this included providing some degree of 
flexibility in managing the additional operational costs that were incurred in supporting our 
partners with their digital response to the pandemic. 
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Supporting the pandemic response 
Key achievements in 2020/21 include:  

 
Remote support for all customers 

• Introduced a fully remote support model with a well-used ‘live chat’ option which 
resolves more incidents than previous model 
 

• Launched a new appointment system for remote support sessions. 150 
appointment slots are available each week, guaranteeing a mutually convenient 
time to resolve the issue for the customer 
 

• Further developed the ServiceNow Customer Portal Service which routes requests 
to the correct team; saving internal time and resources and improving resolution 
times for our customers 
 

• Resolved around 20,000 incidents through the Registration Authority team including 
a fully remote ID checking and smartcard issuing service for all partners and primary 
care 
 

• Operated flexibly and responsively to account access and permission changes for 
staff whose roles changed during the pandemic 
 

• Made a comprehensive software centre catalogue available to all partners 
empowering individuals to install their own approved apps, freeing up valuable time 
and resources. 

 
Infrastructure and hardware 

• Deployed nearly 5,000 laptops to partner organsiations to enable remote and field 
working 
 

• Implemented a range of collaboration platforms to support voice and video 
conferencing services, including MS Teams and Cisco WebEx 
 

• Refreshed the wi-fi across the partnership, ensuring that wi-fi services are fit for 
purpose now and into the future 
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• Completed a redesign and expansion of VPN services across the partnership, 
starting up an additional 4,000 users including many in primary care 
  

• Introduced more robust cyber security controls to support a more remote 
workforce 
 

• Completed migrations from the legacy N3 network to HSCN – giving a more secure 
service with greater commercial flexibility for local organisations to acquire services 
from different providers. 
 

• Completed the LAN refresh across 120 remote sites - improving network 
performance for all staff across the 5 CCGs, HCT and HFPT and increasing our 
defences against cyber-crime. 
 

• Developed our hybrid cloud, leveraging the best of both public and private cloud 
digital services. 

 
Transformed access to primary care 

• Provided 400 multi-media monitors and 1000+ webcams and headsets to GP 
practices to enable video consultations with patients 
 

• Procured, built, and delivered more than 1,000 additional laptops and brought back 
300 laptops into service that needed updating 
 

• Supported 39 COVID ‘hot’ sites with IT infrastructure and ongoing support 
 

• Provided agile IT solutions to support COVID vaccination centres across the 
partnership 
 

• Managed the procurement of e-Consult across Hertfordshire  
 

• Deployed additional functionality across GP Connect to give GPs, NHS 111 clinicians, 
and those in urgent and emergency care settings providing direct care, access to all 
primary care medical records through the GP Connect solution 
 

• Deployed ‘EPS Phase 4’ across all practices, within ongoing support on usage. This 
allows electronic prescriptions to be issued without the patient having a nominated 
pharmacy on their record 
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PREPARING FOR EMERGENCIES 
The CCG has a responsibility in law to be fully prepared and able to respond effectively in 
the event of an incident which challenges the capacity or capability of the local health 
system.  

In 2020/21 we remained fully compliant with all nine areas of NHS England’s Core 
Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR).  

We have focused on:  

• Leading the Health Incident response in relation to COVID-19, including regular 
attendance at all Hertfordshire multi-agency COVID-19 incident response meetings 
such as the Strategic Coordination Group (SCG), Tactical Coordination Group (TCG), 
Health Protection Outbreak Board and Outbreak Tactical Coordination Group 
meetings 
 

• Continuing to work on our capability to respond to the most concerning issues on 
the community risk register in cooperation with our external partners such as the 
Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) and the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 
 

• Ensuring regular attendance at meetings within the local health economy such as 
the Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP), LHRP Sub-Group, Urgent Care 
Programme Board and Health Economy Tactical Coordination Group (HETCG) 
 

• Ensuring that the CCG remains compliant with preparations in relation to European 
Union (EU) Transition and Exit including reporting, providing assurance that the 
CCG’s business continuity plans are robust and working with multi-agency partners 
to ensure wider system resilience (for example,  Hertfordshire County Council 
(HCC), Hertfordshire Constabulary and Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue 
 

• Supporting all commissioned providers and primary care to ensure they have 
appropriate plans in place in relation to EU Transition and Exit and any associated 
ongoing impacts 
 

• Supporting commissioned providers and primary care to improve business 
continuity processes 
 
 
 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/gf/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/eprr/gf/
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/fire-and-rescue/are-you-ready-for-anything.aspx
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In 2021/22 our priorities will be:  

• To continue to lead the ongoing COIVD-19 incident response and transition to 
recovery and business as usual in Hertfordshire 
 

• To continue to develop our capability to deal with issues that are part of the 
community risk register 
 

• Reviewing our work programme and embedding this within the organisation 
 

• To ensure that the CCG retains its organisational memory from the work completed 
in relation to COVID-19 Incident response and EU Exit to inform future work 
programmes and incident response. 
 
 

COVID-19 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 imposes a series of duties on local bodies in England and 
Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland to be known as Category 1 responders.  These duties 
include the duty to assess the risk of an emergency occurring and to maintain plans for the 
purposes of responding to an emergency.  The range of Category 1 responders includes 
certain bodies with functions which relate to health.  NHS England is a designated Category 
1 responder. 

The Act also provides the mechanism to impose duties on other local bodies to be known 
as Category 2 responders to co-operate with, and to provide information to Category 1 
responders in connection with their civil protection duties.  The CCG is a Category 2 
responder. 

Local arrangements for Civil Protection 

The NHS declared an NHS Level 4 incident during March 2020, as the country moved to a 
confirmed pandemic.  A ‘Level 4’ incident is one that requires NHS England's national 
command and control to support the NHS response.  They co-ordinate this response in 
collaboration with the CCG whom in turn then provides support at a tactical level through a 
local health leadership role. The CCG plays a key role on several cells supporting the Local 
Resilience Forum, including the health economy tactical group, swabbing and testing cell 
and PPE cell.  The CCG regularly takes parts in crisis management exercises, which simulate 
major incidents occurring such as a pandemic, to help it plan for rapid changing scenarios 
and uncertain times. The incident level was stepped down to level 3 at the end of March 
2021. 
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New ways of working 

In April 2021 COVID-19 was declared as a national emergency. In order to discharge our 
responsibilities as a Category 2 responder, an Incident Control Centre (ICC) was established 
in response to COVID-19.  Single Points of Access (SPOCs) were established and key roles 
and responsibilities agreed to operate the ICC 24/7.   

A two-tier Director on Call rota was established and remains in place including onsite 
support from an ICC Manager, an ICC Officer, a Loggist and administrative support. ICC 
action cards have been developed for all key roles to manage the incident response.  

The Command and Control structure for the CCG is as follows: 

• Strategic: CCG Executive Team  
• Tactical: Incident Control Centre 
• Operational: Cells/key work programmes. 

A battle rhythm was established to support the day to day functioning of the ICC, outlining 
the key meetings. Initially a daily ICC briefing was held at 4pm to update Directors on Call 
and Associate/Assistant Directors on the key actions taken in the ICC, any new actions or 
guidance issued from NHSE and receive any risks or escalations from across the 
organisation or key work streams (cells). This now takes place weekly. 

The CCG is part of the core membership of the Hertfordshire strategic and tactical 
coordinating groups which inform the wider strategy for the management of the ongoing 
incident at a local Hertfordshire level and feed into the ICC’s battle rhythm.   

NHSE/I has published a number of new pathways and guidance to deliver critical pathway 
and service changes in response to the incident. 9 CCG workstreams (cells) were 
established in response to these publications in order to implement the required actions 
and service changes.  These are:  

• ICC  
• Communications 
• Primary care and localities 
• Planned Care 
• Unplanned care 
• Contracts and Performance, including service changes across all key providers 
• HR and Governance 
• Pharmacy 
• Recovery 
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ICC oversight is maintained by the CCG’s Organisation Performance Delivery (OPD) group 
meeting. The OPD group membership consists of the CCG Executive Team and is facilitated 
by the CCG’s Performance Management Office (PMO) with ADs attending by invite as 
required. The OPD group acts as an advisory group to the CCG’s Governing Body whose 
members are also copied into the agenda and meeting minutes and are able to attend if 
required. 

The governance described above supports the CCG to: 

• Engage at the Hertfordshire Strategic Co-ordinating Group in order to represent the 
population of Hertfordshire from a strategic multi-agency health perspective 

• Engage at the Hertfordshire Tactical Co-ordinating Group to ensure involvement at a 
local level with joint working from our local Hertfordshire system  

• Continue to engage with Hertfordshire Director of Public Health on the Health 
Protection Outbreak Board 

• Provide updates about CCG and system progress to the Governing Body through the 
OPD reporting 

• Continue to work with NHSE/I for situational awareness and reporting 
• Chairing Hertfordshire-wide meetings with the other commissioners and providers 

on the HETCG to provide a tactical health response 
• The CCG also works as part of the Hertfordshire communications cell to plan and 

deliver COVID communications for the public, staff and stakeholders. 
 

EU Transition and Exit 
 
The UK formally left the European Union (EU) with a deal. The Department of Health and 
Social Care (DHSC), supported by NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) led the 
response to EU Exit across the health and care sector and was responsible for the planning 
and preparations to avoid any disruption to services.  

 
The CCG supported these preparations and since December 2018 when the Government 
announced it would prepare for a no deal EU Exit, we have focused on preparing our local 
NHS operational response across Hertfordshire and the wider Integrated Care System, 
aligned to the NHSE/I and DHSC structures.  

 
As members of Hertfordshire Local Resilience Forum (LRF), the CCG led on local 
preparations specifically related to the ‘health-related reasonable worst case scenarios’ 
issued by the UK Government to cover all possible eventualities, including that a trade deal 
is not agreed with the EU.  
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On 24 December 2020 the UK Government announced that it had reached an agreement 
on the UK’s future relationship with the EU ahead of the EoTP and therefore the potential 
issues and agreed mitigations currently do not need to be relied upon. The EoTP risks will 
continue to be reviewed regularly and take into account the challenge of COVID-19, and 
any potential challenges during the transition period where a number of standstill 
agreements will be in force. 
 
The situation remains under a watching brief over the coming weeks/months. 
 

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT   
 
Introduction 

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in 
a way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve.  Sustainability means 
spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building 
healthy, resilient communities.  By making the most of social, environmental and economic 
assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of 
rising cost of natural resources.  Demonstrating that we consider the social and 
environmental impacts ensures that the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act (2012) are met. 

To fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, the CCG has created a sustainable 
development management plan (SDMP). 

Our sustainability mission statement is:  The vision for a sustainable health and care system 
by reducing carbon emissions, protecting natural resources, preparing communities for 
extreme weather events and promoting healthy lifestyles and environments. 
 

Policies 

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of an 
SDMP.  The Governing Body approved our SDMP so our plans for a sustainable future are well 
known within the organisation and clearly laid out. 

Sustainability and social values will be embedded into all procurement specifications, along 
the lines of guidelines delivered in training by the Sustainable Development Unit. 
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Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare 
estates, but also to patient health.  Examples of recent years include the effects of heatwaves, 
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our Governing 
Body approved plans to address the potential need to adapt the delivery of the organisation's 
activities and infrastructure to mitigate climate change and adverse weather events. 

 
Partnerships 

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery.  The NHS policy 
framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a 
sustainable manner.  Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be 
provided in part through contracting mechanisms. 
 

Head Office Occupancy 

The CCG occupies a small head office space, which is rented from NHS Property Services 
who also provide facilities management on behalf of the organisation.  The energy rating of 
the building is ‘F’, which indicates the energy efficiency of the building fabric and the 
heating, ventilation, cooling and lighting systems. 

 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

CCG Net Internal Area of Charter House (m2) 1,730 1,796 1,796 

Number of staff (Whole Time Equivalent) 286 282 286 

Average floor space per staff member (m2) 6.04 6.37 6.25 
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Total Energy Cost (All Energy Supplies) 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £81,249 on energy in 2020-21. 

Energy used (consumption in kWh)5 

 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 kg CO2e (20-216) 

Gas (natural) 
consumed 623,464 497,344 409,945 452,162 238,173 43,793 

Electricity 
consumed 575,969 620,989 352,221 351,077 314,680 73,364 

 
Paper 

The CCG is committed to supporting the movement to a paperless NHS and began 
monitoring performance in this area from a baseline in 2017-18. 

 
Paper consumed 

Material use / 
Primary 
material 
production 

17-18 kg CO2e 
(17-18) 

18-19 kg CO2e 
(18-19) 

19-20 kg CO2e 
(19-20) 

20-21 kg CO2e 
(20-21) 7 

Paper spend £) 2,783  3,308  2,829  630 8  

Paper products 
used (Tonnes) 4.19 3,890 5.00 4,778 3.94 3,753 0.78 717 

 

 

 

 
5 Please note that East and North Hertfordshire CCG shares a building with other organisations and pays a 
percentage of the overall cost for utilities. It is not possible to identify consumption by organisation so the 
figures shown are for the overall building. 
6 Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
7 Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
8 Decrease due to most CCG staff working predominantly from home in 2020/21 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2020
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Travel 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG spent £18,538 on business travel costs in 2020-21.  
This has substantially reduced compared to previous years due to the majority of CCG staff 
working from home. We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our 
community by promoting active travel to staff and to the patients and public that use our 
services.  CCG staff can claim cycle mileage for their business travel and the CCG has joined 
the government’s ‘cycle to work’ scheme. This allows staff to purchase a bike and cycle 
safety equipment as a tax-free benefit. 

Financial 
Year 

Total Pedal 
Cycle Mileage 
claimed as 
expenses 
(miles) 

Total Travel 
Mileage 
(cars) 
claimed as 
expenses 
(miles) 

Average 
Whole 
Time 
Equivalent 
(WTE) staff 
employed 

Average 
Travel 
Mileage 
(cars) per 
WTE staff 
employed 

Total kg CO2e from 
Travel Mileage 
(cars)  
 
Estimated using 
figures for the 
average car of 
unknown fuel type, 
see here.   

2015-16 19 251,159 248 1,013 75,569 

2016-17 18 269,889 272 992 81,204 

2017-18 10 221,613 263 842 65,059 

2018-19 0 203,344 285 713 59,116 

2019-20 66 205,709 290 709 57,395 

2020-21 36 32,906 285 115 9,305 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2019
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Waste Disposal and Recycling 

 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Waste disposal9 spend (£) 11,267 18,359 10,281 10,528 

 

 
General 

Waste (£) 

General 
Waste 

(Tonnes) 

Recycling 
(£) 

Recycling 
(Tonnes) 

Confidential  
(£) 

Confidential 
(Tonnes) 

2019-20 £1,320.21 6.497 £1,184.20 6.29 £4,469.00 18.53 

2020-21 £897.00 1.68 £855.00 2.57 £1,735.00 7.23 

 
Water and Sewage Cost 

 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Water costs (£) 3,787 8,888 5,110 5,447 

 
Key Initiatives 2020-21 

During 2020/21 the organisation has successfully moved largely to remote working as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic. This has directly contributed to the reduction of paper 
use. In addition, the Clinical Funding Team has redesigned its IT system so that they can 
work in a paperless environment.  
 
Remote working has also facilitated the reduction in car usage amongst our staff and 
energy used within the office building, supporting the lowering of our carbon footprint as 
an organisation.  The cycle to work scheme allows colleagues to choose a bike up to the 
value of £2,000, paid across 12 equal payments across the year, as a salary sacrifice 
scheme. The scheme aligns with the aims of the Five Year Forward View, contributing to 
the organisations reduction in carbon emissions and promoting physical activity as part of 
the health and wellbeing strategy.   

 
9 This includes confidential waste, general waste and mixed recycling including glass 
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SUMMARY 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s Annual Accounts are included within this Annual 
Report.  The accounts have been prepared under a Direction issued by NHS England under 
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012).  
CCGs have a statutory duty to keep their expenditure within the resources available.  There 
are six separate duties with this regard, although there is some overlap between them and 
some are not relevant to the CCG in 2020/21.  The duties, their relevance in 2020/21 and 
the performance of East and North Hertfordshire CCG in 2020/21 are set out in the 
following table.   
Further details are provided in note 15 of the accounts on page 217 of this Annual Report. 

 

Duty [and section of 2012 Act] Relevance in 
2020/21 Achievement 

Expenditure does not exceed sums allotted 
to the CCG plus other income received 
[223H(1)] 

Applicable 
 Breakeven 
(Cumulative underspend 
of £18.851m) 

Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions [223I(2)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2020/21 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions [223I(3)] Applicable 

 Breakeven 
(Cumulative underspend 
of (£18.851m) 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions [223J(1)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2020/21 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions [223J(2)] 

Not applicable;  
no specified matters in 2020/21 

Revenue administration resource use does 
not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions [223J(3)] 

Applicable   (Underspend £320k) 
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FUNDING ALLOCATED TO THE CCG 
In response to COVID-19 pandemic, NHS England put in place a temporary financial regime 
to cover the period 1st April - 30th September 2020 and a revised framework was 
implemented for the period 1st October 2020 – 31st March 2021.  

In the first half of the year allocations and budgets were nationally mandated and 
retrospective adjustments were applied to ensure CCG delivered a breakeven financial 
position. This effectively means the CCG operated in a non-cash limited environment 
responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. This framework delivered a simplified arrangement 
for payment and contracting with providers.  

In the second half of the year, the regime reverted to being cash limited locally, with CCGs 
and health systems receiving allocations to reflect expected costs, including those related 
to responding to the COVID pandemic and to support the restoration of services. The 
simplified arrangement for payment and contracting with providers was retained. 

These temporary financial arrangements effectively centralised CCG financial management 
and also have greater focus on system partnerships to manage overall resources. Systems 
were issued with funding envelopes comprising funding for NHS providers equivalent in 
nature to block value and prospective top-up payments and a system-wide COVID funding 
envelope. A summary of the framework adopted in 2020-21 for the two halves of the year 
is as shown in the table below. 

 

Month 1 - 6 2020-21 Month 7 - 12 2020-21

Allocations and 
Budgets

Budgets were set based on 2019-20 actual expenditure at 
Month 11, uplifted for inflation. Allocations were adjusted 
retrospectively to achieve a breakeven position against 
actual expenditure, on each service line, and including 
expenditure in response to the pandemic.

Financial Envelope for HWE ICS provided by NHSE.  The CCG’s 
allocation within this has been set against NHSE estimations of 
budget required. ‘Top-ups’ are provided through the ICS for 
growth and COVID expenditure to achieve a breakeven position. 
Financial performance will be measured against a breakeven 
control total.

Block payments above £250k mandated from commissioners 
to providers, top-ups made by NHSE to allow providers to 
breakeven against shortfall in income and COVID 
expenditure.

Block payments above £500k continue. Ability to adjust these 
payments to recognise newly-commissioned services not in the 
baseline in 2019/20. Requirement to top-up Mental Health 
Providers to achieve Mental health Investment Standard. 
Providers supported within the overall ICS financial envelope.

Independent Sector Nationally commissioned.

Commissioning was returned to CCGs, working with main 
providers from 1st January 2021, under a national framework 
agreement. No requirement to include this within the financial 
plan.

Non-NHS Providers
‘Light touch’ contract management to support sustainability 
and recovery.

Support to providers was phased out and normal activity 
resumes.

Primary Care
Protected income at 2019-20 levels. Covid expenditure is 
reimbursed.

Additional requirements of Care Home DES and Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme have been included in the CCG’s 
baseline budgets.

Efficiencies and QIPP
No requirement to deliver efficiencies and QIPP schemes 
deferred.

Expectation that a level of efficiency will be delivered, although 
no formal efficiency reporting.

NHS Providers

Contracting and commissioning stood down.  No invoicing for NHS Non-Contract activity.
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CCG ALLOCATION 
The total allocation received by the CCG for the 2020/21 financial year was £908.658m 
including  

• £8.529m for the Hospital Discharge Programme; 
• £5.638m for COVID-19 reimbursement; 
• £18.851m being the brought forward cumulative underspend.  The CCG was not 

authorised to spend this brought forward funding. 

 

NHS EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE CCG 2020/21 
EXPENDITURE 
An analysis of 2020/21 expenditure shows that the majority of the CCG expenditure relates 
to services commissioned with NHS Acute Providers (50.1%), Primary Care Services (excl. 
prescribing) (12.6%), Mental health Services (10.9%), Prescribing (9.7%) Community Health 
Services (6.9%) and Continuing Healthcare (5.5%) as shown in the table below. 

  

Annual 
budget 
(£'000) 

Forecast 
Outturn 

(£'000) 

Annual 
Variance 

(£'000) 
Spend % 

of total 
        
Allocation 908,658 908,658 -   
        
NHS Contracts - Acute 445,760 445,765 4 50.1% 
Non-NHS Providers - Acute 1,949 1,769 (179) 0.2% 
Mental Health Services 97,187 96,924 (263) 10.9% 
Community Health Services 60,567 61,032 465 6.9% 
Better Care Fund 18,437 18,405 (32) 2.1% 
Continuing Care Services 50,038 48,942 (1,096) 5.5% 
Prescribing 85,530 86,330 801 9.7% 
Primary Care Services (excl. Prescribing) 111,376 111,998 623 12.6% 
Other Programme Services 7,077 6,949 (128) 0.8% 
        
Total Programme Expenditure 877,921 878,115 194   
Running costs 11,886 11,693 (194) 1.3% 
      
Total CCG Expenditure 889,807 889,807 0 100.0% 
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Total CCG in year     (0)   
Cumulative underspend brought forward 18,851 0 (18,851)   
        
Total (including cumulative underspend) 908,658 889,807 (18,851)   

 The cumulative underspend of £18.851m will be carried forward into 2021/22. 
 

HOSPITAL DISCHARGE PROGRAMME AND COVID-19 
FINANCIAL SUPPORT 
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the need to ensure hospital beds were available 
to those who needed them most, health and care systems were financially supported by 
NHSEI under the Hospital Discharge Programme (HDP) to ensure people who no longer 
needed to stay in hospital were discharged safely from hospital to the most appropriate 
place and continued to receive the care and support they needed after they left hospital.  
Any expenditure incurred by the system under this programme representing the cost of 
post-discharge recovery and support services, rehabilitation and reablement care for up to 
six weeks following discharge from hospital was re-imbursed by NHSEI.  

The programme ensured Social Care needs assessments and NHS Continuing Healthcare 
(NHS CHC) assessments of eligibility were made in a community setting and did not take 
place during the acute hospital inpatient stay (Discharge to Assess). Lessons learnt in this 
integrated way of working will be embedded as this approach has been recommended to 
be implemented for 2021-22, although supported by a different funding arrangement. 

For the financial year 2020-21, the total amount spent by the CCG under the Hospital 
Discharge Programme was £8.529m. 

In addition to the HDP, COVID-19 funding was made available to support the CCG in 
responding to increased costs arising as a result of our response to the pandemic. Areas of 
funding support included: 

• Remote management of patients/non-patient activities 
• Support of stay at home 
• NHS 111 additional capacity 
• Backfill for higher sickness absence 
• Primary Care consumables 
• Bank holiday opening of GP Practices 
• Digital support to GP Practices 
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For the financial year 2020-21, the total amount spent and reimbursed under as COVID-19 
financial support was £5.638m. 

 

MENTAL HEALTH INVESTMENT STANDARD 
A very important requirement in the 2020/21 planning guidance related to the Mental 
Health Investment Standard, under which all CCGs were required to increase their spending 
on mental health services by at least the percentage increase in the CCG’s programme 
allocation growth.  In 2020/21 the CCG’s programme allocation growth was intended to be 
5.94%. The CCG targeted the increased investment at delivering the Mental Health Five 
year forward view and other national priorities. This included investment in: 

• Continued expansion and growth in specialist perinatal mental health services 
• Expansion of IAPT services to people with Long Term Conditions, such as diabetes, 

respiratory and MSK. 
• Embedded the new community integrated primary and secondary mental health 

care models to enable increase number of people access the service. 
• Continue to meet Core 24 standard for psychiatric liaison 
• Increased focus on delivering the nationally set trajectory for the reduction of Out 

of Area Placements to zero 
• Commitment as a system to reducing the number of suicides across Hertfordshire 

and maintain effective suicide bereavement support services 

Spending on Learning Disability and Dementia services is currently excluded from the 
Mental Health Investment Standard calculation, although the CCG did invest to reduce the 
reliance on inpatient care for people with a learning disability, autism or both to meet the 
NHS Long Term Plan commitments.  

Achievement of the Mental Health Investment Standard is measured by comparing 
expenditure in 2020/21 to that in 2019/20, after taking into account any mental health 
specific recurrent or non-recurrent allocations received by the CCG in either of these years.  
These adjustments are made to ensure that changes in spending are not skewed by non-
recurrent allocations and are limited to reviewing spending funded from the CCG’s general 
allocation. 

CCGs are required to calculate if their spending met the Mental Health Investment 
Standard and to publish a formal declaration on this, i.e. whether in 2020/21 East and 
North Hertfordshire CCG’s spending on mental health services increased by at least 5.94%.  
This statement will be subject to a separate audit assurance engagement through the CCG’s 
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auditor. This report from the Auditor will be published alongside the CCG’s own formal 
declaration. 

The table below provides the CCG’s calculations demonstrating that in 2020/21 East and 
North Hertfordshire CCG did meet the requirements of the Mental Health Investment 
Standard.   

Description £000 unless stated otherwise 

2020/21 Mental health spending  109,472 

Less spending on Learning disability and dementia (29,836) 

Less spending covered by allocations received (4,181) 

2020/21 spending funded by general allocation 75,455 
  
2019/20 spending funded by general allocation 69,908 

Increase in spending 5,547 
  
Increase in spending (%) 7.93% 
   

Has the Mental Health Investment Standard  
been met? Yes 

  

FUTURE FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has a strong underlying financial level of performance 
and has met its revenue Control Total every year since inception. At the end of 2020/21 the 
CCG delivered an in-year breakeven financial position which maintained the cumulative 
underspend of £18.851m, well above the standard national requirement (1% of its 
allocation). 

In recognition of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, NHS England has maintained the 
same financial framework introduced in the second half of 2020-21. The thrust of this 
framework is to encourage more system joint working and financial risk management. The 
financial planning guidance for 2021/22 mainly focused on the first 6 months of 2021/22. 

The Financial Envelope for Hertfordshire and West Essex (HWE) ICS has been provided by 
NHSEI, comprising adjusted CCG allocations, system top-up and COVID-19 fixed allocations, 
based on those provided in the second half of 2020/21 with allowance for inflation and 
policy priorities.  
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The requirement for the CCG to continue to increase funding within Mental Health in line 
with their allocation growth continues. East and North Herts CCG is planning to meet the 
Mental Health Investment Standards (MHIS) 

Commissioning of Independent Sector services has now been returned to CCGs however 
CCGs and providers will need to work together to effectively utilise total available capacity 
across the NHS and Independent Sector in a way that enables significant reduction in 
waiting lists and waiting times, whilst prioritising those with greatest need.  

For the year 2021/22, the CCG is planning to deliver a breakeven financial position and to 
meet all of its statutory financial duties. 
 

FINANCIAL RISKS 
The ongoing and long-term impact of the COVID pandemic will become more apparent 
during 2021/22 and it is probable that the some of the increased spend attributed to COVID 
may become recurrent needing a recurrent funding source.  

During the pandemic there has been a downward pressure on demand and some demand 
has not been met, e.g. with waiting lists for care increasing.  Whilst funding has been made 
available to the NHS nationally to start to tackle these increases and the increased demand 
on mental health services, the extent to which demand will bounce back is unknown and 
this may outstrip the funding, and indeed the capacity, available to meet it. 

In order to mitigate these risks, East and North Hertfordshire CCG is fully engaged with the 
ICS finance community to manage all emerging risks both at individual organisation level 
and at a system level.  

 

REVIEW OF STATUTORY DUTIES  
East and North Hertfordshire CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on us by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislative and regulations. We are clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which we are responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions. 
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_______________________________________     
Dr Jane Halpin  
Accountable Officer 
 
Date signed: 10 June 2021  
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PART ONE: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 
MEMBERS’ REPORT 
The Governing Body is made up of a group of individuals, who are appointed to the CCG 
with the main function of ensuring that the organisation has made appropriate governance 
arrangements, and for formulating policy and directing its affairs. 

On 31 March 2021 Dr Prag Moodley was the Chair of the CCG and Jane Halpin was the 
Accountable Officer. There are nineteen members of the CCG Governing Body. 

Information about our Governing Body members and their responsibilities can be found on 
our website: https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/ccg-governing-body  

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/ccg-governing-body
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MEMBER PRACTICES 
 
During the year 2020-21, the membership body of the CCG was formed of 51 member 
practices (down from 52 member practices as a result of a merger), grouped below under 
their respective Primary Care Network: 

Hitchin and Whitwell 

• Bancroft Medical Centre  
• The Portmill Surgery 
• Regal Chambers Surgery 
• Whitwell Surgery 

 

Icknield 

• Birchwood Surgery 
• The Garden City Surgery 
• Nevells Road Surgery 
• The Sollershott Surgery 
• Ashwell Surgery 
• The Baldock Surgery 

Stevenage North 

• Chells Way Surgery 
• Manor House Surgery 
• Stanmore Medical Group   
• Symonds Green Health Centre 

Stevenage South 

• Knebworth and Marymead Surgery 
• Bedwell Medical Centre  
• King George Surgery 
• Shephall Way Surgery 

Welwyn Garden City and Villages  

• Bridge Cottage Surgery 
• Peartree Lane Surgery 

Welwyn Garden City A 

• The Garden City Practice 
• Hall Grove Surgery 
• Spring House Medical Centre 

Hatfield 

• Burvill House Surgery 
• Lister House Surgery 
• Potterells Medical Centre 
• Wrafton House Surgery 

Hertford and Rurals 

• Castlegate Surgery (closed 30/04/2020) 
• Church Street Surgery (closed 30/04/2020) 
• Hanscombe House Surgery 

• New River Health 10 
• Wallace House Surgery 
• Watton Place Surgery 
 
 

 

 
10 Castlegate Surgery and Church Street Surgery merged to form New River Health on 01/05/2020 
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Ware and Rurals 

• Buntingford Medical Centre 
• Dolphin House Surgery 
• Puckeridge Surgery 

Hoddesdon and Broxbourne 

• Amwell Surgery 
• Hailey View Surgery 11 
• The Limes Surgery 
• Park Lane Surgery 
 
 

Stort Valleys and Villages 

• Central Surgery 
• Church Street Partnership 
• Much Hadham Health Centre 
• Parsonage Surgery 
• South Street Surgery 

Lea Valley Health12 

• Abbey Road 
• Cromwell and Wormley Medical Centres 
• High Street Surgery 
• Stanhope Surgery 
• Stockwell Lodge Medical Centre 

 

Broxbourne Alliance 

• Cuffley and Goffs Oak Medical Centre 
• The Maples 
• Warden Lodge Medical Practice 

 
 
  

 
11 Haileybury College Surgery became a branch surgery of Hailey View Surgery on 01/04/2020 
12 Lea Valley Health PCN split into Lea Valley Health PCN and Broxbourne Alliance from 01/07/2020 
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Composition of Governing Body 

The Chair of the CCG is Dr Prag Moodley. The Chief Executive was Beverley Flowers until 31 
May 2020 with Dr Jane Halpin taking up the role from 1 June 2020 and Sharn Elton taking 
up the role of Managing Director from 1 June 2020.   

From April 2020 to the date this report was signed (10 June 2020), the Governing Body was 
composed of the following members:  

 
Role Name 
Chair Dr Prag Moodley  
Deputy Clinical Chair Dr Ashish Shah 

Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) Beverley Flowers (until 31 May 2020) 
Dr Jane Halpin (from 1 June 2020) 

Managing Director Sharn Elton (from 1 June 2020) 
Director for Primary Care Development Denise Boardman (until 30 June 2020) 

Director of Operations Sharn Elton (until 31 May 2020) 
Jo Burlingham (interim from 6 June 2020) 

Director of Clinical and Professional Services Dr Rachel Joyce 
Chief Finance Officer Alan Pond 

Director of Nursing and Quality Sheilagh Reavey (until 31 July 2020) 
Jane Kinniburgh (from 1 August 2020) 

Director of Primary Care Transformation Avni Shah (from 1 December 2020) 
Chief Digital Officer  Phil Turnock   
Lay Member Dianne Desmulie 
Lay Member and Deputy Chair Linda Farrant 
Lay Member Alison Gardner 
GP Member Dr Tara Belcher 
GP Member  Dr Sarah Dixon  
GP Member Dr Russell Hall 
GP Member Dr Rini Saha  
GP Member Dr Rupal Shah  
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor Dr Dermot O’Riordan 

 
 
 
 
 



Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
_____________________________________________________________________    108 

Committee(s), including Audit Committee 
 
The members of the Governance and Audit Committee throughout the year and up to the 
signing of the Annual Report and Accounts and unless otherwise stated: 
 

• Linda Farrant – Lay Member (Governance and Audit), Deputy Chair of the Governing 
Body and Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee. 

• Dr Ashish Shah– Governing Body Deputy Clinical Chair  
• Alison Gardner – Lay Member (Public and Patient Involvement)  

 
The Remuneration Report starting on page 147 provides details of the membership of the 
Remuneration Committee. 
 
The Governance Statement, from page 112 provides details of the attendance of the 
Governing Body and its Committee members at their respective meetings, namely: 
 

• Governing Body in Public 
• Governing Body in Private 
• Governing Body Workshops 
• Governance and Audit Committee 
• ICT Stakeholder Board 
• Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 
• Locality Committees 
• Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
• Quality Committee 
• Remuneration Committee 

 

Register of Interests 

The Governing Body maintains an up-to-date Register of Interests, which formally records 
the declarations of interests made by its employees and members and is available on the 
Clinical Commissioning Group’s website.  Any interest that arises during the course of a 
meeting is declared immediately and recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  This ensures 
that the Governing Body acts in the best interests of the organisation and avoids situations 
where there may be a potential conflict of interest.  To view the Register of Interests please 
visit our website: www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest  
 

http://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/declarations-interest
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Personal data related incidents 

The organisation has not reported any Information Governance Serious Untoward Incidents 
to the Information Commissioner’s Office in 2020/21. 
 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors  

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms:  

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their 
audit report  

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  
 

Modern Slavery Act  
NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the 
Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not 
meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement 
as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.  
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning 
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive to be 
the Accountable Officer of NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  
 

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 
is answerable; 
 

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction); 
 

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities); 
 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money; 
 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)); 
 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in 
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on 
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position 
and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
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• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis; 
 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and, 
 

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 
 

• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 
 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. I also confirm that:  
 

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the 
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that 
information.  
 

• that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report 
and accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable. 
 
 
 

…………………………………………… 

Dr Jane Halpin  
Accountable Officer 
 
Date signed: 10 June 2021 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

Introduction and context 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the 
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG 
is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such 
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local 
population.  

As at 1 April 2020, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from 
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  
 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as 
set out in this governance statement. 
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Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 
are relevant to it. 
 

UK Corporate Governance Code 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However the CCG follows the principles in the code that are most relevant to it given its 
size and nature, but does not comply with the code as a whole. The following section 
discusses the most relevant parts of the code where the CCG has complied. 
 

Governance Structure 

The Governing Body has created the statutorily-required Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee.  Additionally the Governing Body has established six Locality 
Committees, a Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee, a Quality 
Committee, and an Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board and a 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 

 



Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
_____________________________________________________________________    114 

 
Council of Members 

NHS East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group is a membership 
organisation currently made up of 51 GP member practices.  The main function of the 
Council of Members is to provide clinical leadership across east and north Hertfordshire. All 
of the GP practices are members and a representative from each practice make up the full 
council. The Council of Members meet annually and discuss various themes relating to 
primary care.  

 
Governing Body 

The Governing Body met regularly last year in both public and private sessions.  During the 
year the Council of Members and the Governing Body worked together to consider the 
benefits of developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnerships 
(ICPs) for Hertfordshire and west Essex.  This is in line with national NHS requirements that 
these will cover all of the country by April 2021, and the NHS Long Term Plan sets out 
evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of Integrated Care working.   
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The Governing Body reviewed its roles and structures and the CCG locality structures to 
begin to make the move towards integrated working. 
 
An ICS acts as a strategic planner and commissioner for the health and care needs of a 
whole population and aligns the system in terms of strategy, commissioning and 
delivery.  It commissions care from ICPs that focus care needs for specific population 
cohorts.  ICPs coordinate care delivery at local level between multiple providers, reducing 
barriers between organisations and enabling a shift in focus from traditional disease or 
pathway based approach to a holistic and individual value based approach.  It is about 
partners working together to deliver commissioned care pathways and how it is delivered 
to best meet the needs of their populations. 

 
Governance and Audit Committee 

The Governance and Audit Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It provides 
assurance to the Governing Body that the organisation’s overall internal control and 
governance system operates in an adequate and effective way.  The committee’s work 
focuses on the adequacy of the controls on finance, risk management and clinical quality.  It 
does this by reviewing the assurance framework, strategic and operational risk and obtaining 
independent assurance on controls.  It also oversees internal and external audit 
arrangements, for both financial and non-financial systems.  As part of its role the 
committee reviews audit reports and monitors implementation of recommendations.  
Members also undertake in-depth analysis of specific risks. 

During its work, activities and areas of review throughout the year, the committee ensured 
that any areas of particular concern were brought to the Governing Body's attention through 
the Governance Report. 
 
 
ICT Stakeholder Board 

The Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board is a committee of the 
Governing Body.  This committee brings together the stakeholders of the ICT Shared Service 
and its role is to ensure focus on strategy, policy and the overall operational performance of 
information and communications technology. 
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Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

The Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee has a focus on the 
partnerships that the CCG has with Hertfordshire County Council, in particular covering the 
Better Care Fund, mental health and learning disability services and children and young 
people. It also considers areas of joint interest such as care homes, home care and public 
health issues. During the year the Board discussed issues such as SEND transformation, the 
development of new joint Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy, community perinatal 
mental health services, the future contractual arrangements with Hertfordshire Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust and the Core 24 model of mental health support in acute hospitals.  
 
 
Locality Committee(s) 

There are six Locality Committees of the Governing Body, which are responsible for ensuring 
the Governing Body is informed by the members of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
that local knowledge is fed into the decision making process.  The committees are 
responsible for ensuring that members have the opportunity to contribute to the 
development of policy and commissioning strategy. 
 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

The role of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee is to carry out the functions relating 
to the commissioning of primary medical services provided under General Practice Contract 
arrangements, for example, General Medical Services and Alternative Provider Medical 
Services contracts.  This is with the exception of those functions relating to individual GP 
performance management, which have been reserved to NHS England.   

The remit of the committee has covered premises, supporting transformation and resilience 
in general practice, technological developments, workforce, education and training, new care 
models and mergers, monitoring quality and improving standards. 
 

Quality Committee 

The Quality Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It works to ensure that 
commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe manner, ensuring that 
quality sits at the heart of everything the organisation does.  It is responsible for providing 
assurance and information on quality to allow the Governing Body to fulfil its role and 
responsibilities in relation to quality.  It also reports on quality related risks to the Governance 
and Audit Committee.  The committee takes on overall responsibility for leading the 
organisation’s patient care, quality and safety agenda and reports directly to the Governing 
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Body on these matters.  To support it in this role the committee involves a Patient Network 
Quality representative to provide an invaluable patient perspective. 
 
 
Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  It makes 
recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about pay and remuneration for 
all ‘Very Senior Managers’, and Governing Body members, including GPs and Lay Members of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group.  A Very Senior Manager typically has Executive Director 
level responsibility and reports to the Chief Executive. No individual is involved in determining 
their own remuneration. 
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Governing Body Attendance for 2020/21 
 
Members’ attendance records are detailed in the following table: 

 Public Private Workshops 

Number of meetings held during 2020-21 4 4 1413 

Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 
Dr T Belcher North Herts 4/4 4/4 13/14 
D Boardman14 Director for Primary Care Development 1/1 1/1 4/5 
J Burlingham15 Interim Director of Operations 3/3 3/3 8/9 
D Desmulie Lay Member – Primary Care Commissioning 4/4 4/4 13/14 
S Dixon Stort Valley and Villages 4/4 4/4 14/14 
S Elton Managing Director 4/4 4/4 13/14 
L Farrant Lay Member – Governance and Audit, Deputy Chair 3/4 3/4 13/14 
B Flowers16 Chief Executive 1/1 1/1 4/5 
A Gardner Lay Member – Public and Patient Involvement 2/4 3/4 11/14 
Dr R Hall Stevenage 4/4 4/4 12/14 
J Halpin17 Accountable Officer 2/3 1/3 5/9 
Dr R Joyce Director of Clinical and Professional Services 1/4 2/4 12/14 
J Kinniburgh18 Director of Nursing and Quality 1/2 0/2 3/6 
Dr P Moodley Chair 3/4 3/4 14/14 
Dr D O’Riordan19 Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 3/4 4/4 1/1 
A Pond Chief Finance Officer 3/4 3/4 12/14 
S Reavey20 Director of Nursing and Quality 1/2 1/2 7/8 
Dr R Saha Stevenage 4/4 4/4 13/14 
Dr A Shah Welwyn and Hatfield, Deputy Chair – Clinical 3/4 3/4 13/14 
Dr R Shah Upper Lea Valley  4/4 4/4 12/14 
A Shah21 Director of Primary Care Transformation 0/1 0/1 1/3 
P Turnock Chief Digital Officer  4/4 4/4 13/14 

 

 

 
13 Weekly workshop meetings held in April 2020 due to COVID-19; November 2020 and March 2021 workshop 
meetings were cancelled as Governing Body Public and Private meetings took place 
14 D Boardman left the CCG on 30 June 2020 
15 J Burlingham appointed as Interim Director of Operations on 6 June 2020 
16 B Flowers was Chief Executive until 31 May 2020 
17 J Halpin appointed as Joint Chief Executive Officer, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 1 June 2020 
18 J Kinniburgh appointed as Director of Nursing and Quality, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 1 August 2020 
19 This role is not required to attend workshop meetings, attendance at workshop meeting on 18 June 2020 to 
approve the Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20 
20 S Reavey left the CCG on 31 July 2020 
21 A Shah appointed as Director of Primary Care Transformation, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 1 
December 2020 
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Governing Body Committee Attendance for 2020-21 
 
Members’ attendance records are detailed in the following tables: 

 
Governance and Audit Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2020-21 5 
Name: Title: Attendance: 
L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 5/5 
Dr A Shah Deputy Chair – Clinical 5/5 
A Gardner  Lay Member – Public and Patient Involvement 5/5 

* Chair of Governance and Audit Committee 
 
 
Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board 

Member Organisations: Out of total of 322 meetings 
Bedfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 3/3 
East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group * 3/3 
HBL ICT Shared Services Director 3/3 
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust 3/3 
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust 3/3 
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group 1/3 
Luton Clinical Commissioning Group 3/3 
Milton Keynes Clinical Commissioning Group 3/3 

* Chair of Information Communication Technology Stakeholder Board 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
22 Meeting 20 April 2020 was cancelled due to COVID-19 
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Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2020-21 2 
Name: Title: Attendance: 
Dr T Belcher GP Lead, North Herts 2/2 
Jo Burlingham23 Interim Director of Operations 0/2 
S Elton * Managing Director, ENHCCG 1/2 
R Harrington Head of Community Commissioning for adult disabilities, HCC 1/2 
T Hennessey Assistant Director of Health Integration, HCC/ ENHCCG 2/2 
M Ingram Operations Director, Specialist Services for Children, HCC 1/2 
J Kinniburgh24 Director of Nursing and Quality 0/2 
K Lalli Head of Integrated Accommodation Commissioning, HCC 0/2 
L Mercy25 Consultant in Public Health, HCC 1/2 
S Orr Head of Family Services Commissioning, Children’s Services, HCC 1/2 
T Parlow Head of Integrated Community Support Commissioning, HCC 0/2 
S Pattison Head of Integrated Health and Care Commissioning Team, HCC 2/2 
S Reavey26 Director of Nursing and Quality, ENHCCG 1/1 
Dr R Saha GP Lead, Stevenage 1/2 

* Chair of Joint Commissioning and Partnership Programme Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
23 J Burlingham appointed as Interim Director of Operations on 6 June 2020 
24 J Kinniburgh appointed as Director of Nursing and Quality, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 1 August 2020 
25 L Mercy left the CCG 
26 S Reavey left the CCG on 31 July 2020 
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Locality Committees 27 

Lower Lea Valley: Out of total of 4 meetings 
Chair (Dr Russell Hall) 4/4 
CCG Director (Alan Pond / Sharn Elton) 3/4 
Practice representatives28:  

 Dr Aneela Sattar 4/4 
 Dr Alison Jackson 4/4 

North Herts: Out of total of 3 meetings 
Chair (Dr Tara Belcher) 3/3 
CCG Director (Alan Pond) 3/3 
Practice representatives:  

 Dr Tara Belcher 3/3 
 Dr Adrian Wood 3/3 
 Bernadette Milwood 3/3 

Stevenage: Out of total of 2 meeting 
Chair (Dr Rini Saha) 2/2 
CCG Executive Director (Sheilagh Reavey) 1/2 
Practice representatives:  

 Dr Kolade Daodu 2/2 
 Dr Rajeev Kaja 2/2 

Stort Valley and Villages: Out of total of 4 meetings 
Chair (Dr Sarah Dixon) 4/4 
CCG Executive Director (Sharn Elton)  4/4 
Practice representatives:  

 Dr Sian Stanley 4/4 
Upper Lea Valley: Out of total of 3 meetings 
Chair (Dr Rupal Shah) 3/3 
CCG Director (Alan Pond / Sharn Elton) 3/3 
Practice representatives:  

 Dr Giles Pratt 3/3 
 Dr Rob Mayson 3/3 
 Dr Fin O’Reilly 3/3 

Welwyn and Hatfield: Out of total of 4 meetings 
Chair (Dr Ashish Shah) 4/4 
CCG Director (Alan Pond) 3/4 
Practice representatives:  

 Dr Preenal Shah 4/4 
 Dr Mark Steward 4/4 
 Dr Tom Gillham 4/4 

 
27 Attendance includes Council of Members meeting. 
28 Clinical Directors are the nominated representatives for Member Practices in their respective Primary Care 
Networks (PCNs) at all Locality Commissioning Meetings. 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

 Public Private 

Number of meetings held during 2020-21 6 529 
Name Title/Locality Attendance: 
D Boardman30  Director for Primary Care Development 1/1 0/0 
Dr F Chowdhury  Independent GP 6/6 5/5 
D Desmulie* Lay Member – Primary Care Commissioning 6/6 5/5 
S Elton31 Managing Director 5/5 5/5 
L Farrant  Lay Member – Governance and Audit 6/6 5/5 
B Flowers32  Chief Executive 1/1 0/0 
A Gardner Lay Member – Public and Patient Involvement 5/6 4/5 
Dr R Hall GP Lead, Stevenage 6/6 5/5 
J Kinniburgh33 Director of Nursing and Quality 3/4 3/4 
A Pond  Chief Finance Officer 6/6 5/5 
S Reavey34  Director of Nursing and Quality 2/2 1/1 
Dr A Shah  Welwyn and Hatfield 6/6 5/5 
A Shah35 Director of Primary Care Transformation 2/2 2/2 
Dr R Shah GP Lead, Upper Lea Valley 6/6 5/5 

* Chair of Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
29 Meeting in Private on 21 May 2020 was cancelled due to COVID-19, only the meeting in Public took place 
30 D Boardman left the CCG on 30 June 2020 
31 S Elton appointed as Managing Director on 1 June 2020 
32 B Flowers was Chief Executive until 31 May 2020 
33 J Kinniburgh appointed as Director of Nursing and Quality, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 1 August 2020 
34 S Reavey left the CCG on 31 July 2020 
35 A Shah appointed as Director of Primary Care Transformation, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 1 
December 2020 
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Quality Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2020-21 4 
Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 
Dr S Dixon  GP Lead, Stort Valley and Villages 4/4 
L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 4/4 
A Gardner  Lay Member - Public and Patient Involvement 4/4 
Dr R Hall  GP Lead, Stevenage 4/4 
J Jewitt or Nominated Deputy Patient Network Quality 4/4 
J Kinniburgh36 Director of Nursing and Quality 3/3 
L Mercy37 Consultant in Public Health 2/3 
S Reavey38  Director of Nursing and Quality 1/4 
Dr R Saha GP Lead, Stevenage 0/4 

* Chair of Quality Committee 
 
 

Remuneration Committee 

Number of meetings held during 2020-21 239 
Name: Title/Locality: Attendance: 
L Farrant * Lay Member – Governance and Audit 2/2 
Dr D O’Riordan Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 2/2 
Dr A Shah Deputy Chair – Clinical 2/2 

* Chair of Remuneration Committee 
 

 

 

 

 

 
36 J Kinniburgh appointed as Director of Nursing and Quality, Herts & West Essex ICS & CCGs on 01 August 
2020 
37 L Mercy left the CCG 
38 S Reavey left the CCG on 31 July 2020 
39 Held as Remuneration Committee meetings in Common with Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group 
and West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group 
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Discharge of Statutory Functions 

The CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislation and regulations.  As 
a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated 
with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions.  Responsibility for each duty and power has been allocated 
to a lead Executive Director.  Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the 
necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
 

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness  

The CCG enhanced its risk management standards with guidelines from ISO31000:2018 on 
managing risk, thereby focusing on the following components: 

• Principles – Sustaining a dynamic and continuously improving risk management 
system that is customised, innovative, dynamic, structured, and inclusive; 

• Framework – Senior management leads the proactive integration of risk 
management on all levels across the CCG; and 

• Processes – Systematic review and application of policies and practices that support 
open communication, consultation, and risk reporting 

To implement these enhancements, the CCG reviewed its risk management policy and 
procedures, setting out the Risk Management Framework and Assurance Framework, 
which would enable robust and effective risk management at all management levels. It 
embedded the principles of risk management into its governance and leadership culture by 
establishing a Risk Review Group with meetings every two months to engage and support 
its senior leadership team in managing existing and emerging risks to which the CCG is 
exposed. Patient representatives on project working and steering groups are party to 
discussion about risks to project deliverables.  

Within the Risk Management Framework, the risk is defined as "the effect of uncertainty on 
objectives". The components supporting and sustaining risk management across the CCG 
were refreshed, including the Strategic Objectives and effectiveness arrangements. An 
essential improvement arrangement was the implementation of DatixWeb – a web-based 
risk management system by RLDatix, which allows an all-in-one solution that assists in 
managing and addressing risks, controls, and action plans, simple and easily managed 
procedures. The risk management system provides a centralised repository for all CCG risks 
and an overview of the entire risk assessment process, allowing users to see the current 
risk status quickly. With this system in place, risks are reported quickly, available, 
accessible, and a live risk register can be produced. This has enhanced the quality of 
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decision-making and aligned business functions across the CCG, resulting in proactive risk 
identification and assessment culture. The technology forms an integral part of the CCG's 
system control risk management. 

The following are the CCG’s risk escalation levels: 

• Corporate Risk Register: this is a repository for risks scored 12 and above. All risks 
scoring 12 and above are escalated automatically onto the Corporate Risk Register. 
These risks are reported to the CCG’s Governing Body at its meetings in public. 
 

• Directorate, Cells, and Project Risk Registers: risks scored below 12 are monitored 
on these registers.  
 

The Treasury Guidance on Assurance Frameworks (2012) defined the Assurance Framework 
as "a structured means of identifying and mapping the main sources of assurance and co-
ordinating them to the best effect". With this definition, the CCG’s Governing Body 
determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving its Strategic 
Objectives, referred to as risk appetite. It sets the Strategic Objective and then seeks to gain 
assurance around the operation of controls and processes to deliver those objectives. It 
also identifies the leadership and responsibilities for risk management.  Assurance is gained 
through the 'Three Lines of Defence' of the assurance process below: 
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First Line of Defence – Management Functions 
There is strong leadership and commitment to comply with the CCG's Risk Management 
Policy.  All risk leads are responsible for identifying, assessing, managing, and reporting risks 
to objectives and identifying what assurances are in place to provide Governing Body with 
confidence that processes and controls are effective. The risk leads are also responsible for 
putting actions into place to mitigate risks and report activities or circumstance that may 
give rise to new or changed risk. The Risk Review Group ensures that the necessary 
processes are in place to achieve compliance with the statutory requirements. 
 
Second Line of Defence – Oversight Functions 
The second line of defence is made up of the functions that specialise in risk management 
or compliance.  The Governance and Corporate Affairs team is responsible for facilitating 
risk management activity across the CCG.  This includes providing training and advice to 
staff in managing risk, embedding best practise risk management, co-ordinating and 
reporting risk information to the Governing Body and its committees. The Governance and 
Audit Committee provide advice to the Governing Body on the status of governance, risk 
and internal controls and sources of assurance. 
 
Third Line of Defence – Independent Functions 
The third line of defence relates to the functions that provide assurance about control 
system risk management's effectiveness. The assurances are from outside the institution 
such as Internal Audit, External Audit. 
 

Specific Arrangement for COVID-19 Risks 

In response to COVID-19, the CCG ensures governance and oversight from the CCG 
Governing Body and Executive team. As a Category 2 responder, the following Command 
and Control were established during this COVID-19 as follows: 

• Strategic: CCG Executive Team  
• Tactical: Incident Control Centre (ICC) 
• Operational: Cells/key work programmes. 

The ICC was established with a two-tier Director on Call, onsite support from ICC Managers, 
an ICC Officer, a Loggist and administrative support; to manage the command and control 
and oversee NHSE requirements, system leadership and distribution/ allocation of new 
tasks/ guidance to relevant cells. A Battle Rhythm was established to support the ICC's day-
to-day functioning, outlining the key meetings that need to be attended.  The ICC policy, 
action cards and battle rhythm gave clear structure to this, and the oversight functions 
were maintained at the Executive Level. A Single Points of Access (SPOCs) was established 
to operate the ICC 24/7. A weekly ICC briefing to update Directors on Call and 
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Associate/Assistant Directors on the key actions taken in the ICC, any new actions or 
guidance issued from NHSE and receive any risks or escalations from across the 
organisation or key workstreams (cells). The CCG is part of the core members of the 
Hertfordshire Strategic and Tactical Coordinating Groups, which inform the broader 
strategy for the management of the incident at a local Hertfordshire level and feed into the 
ICC’s battle rhythm.   

The CCG’s Organisation Performance Delivery (OPD) group manages the oversight functions 
and decision making about service transformation and changes in response to COVID-19, 
implementation of new guidance and the impact on the current provision of core services. 
The OPD group membership consists of the CCG Executive Team and is facilitated by the 
CCG’s Performance Management Office (PMO), with AD’s attending as required. The OPD 
group acts as an advisory group to the CCG’s Governing Body and is managed by developing 
key workstreams/cells reporting into OPD with escalation into the Governing Body 
membership.  

The Cells are grouped into eight workstreams, with dedicated senior leads cross 
directorates to deliver the required outcomes. Each cell is given a list of activities, which 
will be documented centrally, and risks to those activities are managed through the Datix 
risk management system. 

The ‘Cells’ established are:  

• Communications 
• Primary care and localities 
• Planned Care 
• Unplanned care 
• Contracts and Performance  
• HR and Governance 
• Pharmacy 
• Recovery 

As part of the ‘Recovery’ initiatives, the CCG established a ‘COVID-19 Secure Group’ and 
invites colleagues across the Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) to 
address issues and risks in the subsequent phases of staff returning to the site. 

The CCG aligns its risk management arrangements by identifying a new Strategic Objective 
– ‘SO9’ and establishing a Cell Risk Register to capture COVID-19 related risks.  
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Committee effectiveness 

Governing Body members have undertaken mandatory training throughout the year, which 
included risk management, health and safety, bullying and harassment, information 
governance, equality and diversity and equality impact assessments.  Annual mandatory 
training enables the members to regularly keep their knowledge and skills up-to-date. In 
addition, each member is allocated sufficient time to discharge their respective duties and 
responsibilities effectively. 

The Governance and Audit Committee supports the Governing Body and the Accountable 
Officer by reviewing the internal controls, the level of assurances to gain confidence about 
the reliability and quality of these assurances. The scope of the committee’s work is defined 
in the terms of reference, encompassing all the assurance needs of the Governing Body and 
Accountable Officer. Within this, the Committee has a particular arrangement with the 
work of Internal Audit and External Audit and Financial Reporting. In December 2020, the 
Governance and Audit Committee undertook a self-assessment of their effectiveness with a 
positive outcome covering good practice, objectivity and independence, skill mix to 
perform it function, effective communication, Internal Auditors and External Auditors and 
other stakeholders 
 
Capacity to Handle Risk  

The Governing Body delegates to the Chief Executive and Executive team primary 
ownership and responsibility for operating risk management and control.  It is 
management's job to provide leadership and direction to the employees regarding risk 
management and control the organisation's overall risk-taking activities about the agreed 
level of risk appetite. The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for risk management 
within the organisation.  The Director of Nursing and Quality has delegated responsibility 
for clinical risk, and the Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility for financial risk 
and information risk. The Governing Body determines the amount and type of risk that the 
CCG is willing to take to achieve its strategic objectives. This risk appetite is influenced by a 
number of key factors, including (but not limited to) the overall level of risk and the 
economic, regulatory and operational landscape. 

Strategic risks are identified by the Executive team based on the Strategic Objectives and 
informed by other sources.  The Clinical Commissioning Group is an active member of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and regularly participates in Hertfordshire County Council's 
scrutiny meetings to discuss local health issues.  This joint activity level enables 
stakeholders to work with the organisation to understand and manage any risks that may 
impact them.  The Assurance Framework and highest-scoring risks are published for 
Governing Body Meetings. They are reviewed three times a year, providing a further 
opportunity for public engagement with stakeholders in risks that impact them. 
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All Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that key and emerging strategic risks 
are identified, assessed and managed.  They also monitor the effectiveness of risk 
assessment, mitigating actions and assurances in place.  The Directorate teams are 
responsible for reviewing their work areas to identify risks to achieve objectives and actions 
to mitigate these. 
 
Members of the Governing Body have attended specific training in risk management.  Risk 
management training is also mandatory for all managers and staff.  As of 31 March 2021, 
the risk management training compliance for the CCG was 94.41%. 
 

Risk Assessment  

Risk assessment is the overall process of risk identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation, 
starting with the CCG setting its strategic objectives to which risks are identified. It is 
conducted systematically, iteratively and collaboratively, drawing on the knowledge and 
views of stakeholders to recognise and describe risks that might help or prevent the CCG 
from achieving its strategic objectives. 

The risk analysis within the risk assessments reviews the nature and characteristics of the 
risk. This includes articulating the causes, possible events and impact of uncertainty using 
the ‘If’, ‘Then’ and ‘Resulting in’ structure to ensure a clear risk statement. The risk sources, 
the likelihood of events and consequences, the nature and magnitude of consequences, 
complexity and connectivity, the effectiveness of existing controls, and the confidence 
levels gained for the assurance are discussed and challenged. Gaps in controls and 
assurance are evaluated and further actions identified and implemented.  If the residual 
risk is not acceptable, further actions are identified and assigned to named individuals and 
timescales for implementation is agreed.  

Corporate risks are monitored and reviewed on a bi-monthly basis by the Risk Review 
Group. Its outcomes are documented and reported to the Executive Team, Governance and 
Audit Committee and Governing Body. Any feedback is communicated to the risk leads at 
the Risk Review Group meeting to improve and assist interaction with those responsible 
and accountable for risk management activities. 
 
All levels of staff use the Risk Management Policy. It contains the risk scoring matrix and 
descriptors, which helps staff to ensure that risks are scored consistently so that priority 
can be given to the risks that could hinder the achievement of objectives.  It also details the 
process by which risks are managed and escalated to the Corporate Risk Register. The 
Assurance Framework details the risks that, at a strategic level, could have an impact on 
achieving the organisation's objectives.    
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The following table details the strategic objectives of the organisation and the ‘primary’ risks affecting these, which reflect both the ‘in-
year’ and ‘future’ risks faced by the CCG. 

 
SO1 - Living well and preventing ill health  
To support people to improve their health 
and wellbeing, and to live well with long 
term conditions via three enabling 
approaches to prevention 

 
F2 - If the CCG fails to implement its medium-term initiatives, which are designed to 
improve patient outcomes, then there is a risk that efficiency and effectiveness 
improvements will not be delivered, resulting in higher costs and the need to cut other 
services impacting on the achievement of improved patient outcomes and other 
objectives.  
 
M2 - If the Medical Directorate do not deliver their portfolio of improvement/ 
transformation projects THEN activity and demand on current services will continue to 
grow (i.e. aging/frail population) resulting in increased demand for services which would 
mean that the current level of services will be inadequate for the needs of the population 
and little or no improvement in patient outcomes. This would also likely cause financial 
pressure for the CCG and/or providers and may result in cuts to services.  
 
PMOT1 - If GPs prescribe high doses of opioid analgesics for chronic pain which are not 
regularly reviewed Then there is a risk that patients would continue to be prescribed very 
high doses of opioid analgesics, sometimes inappropriately which do not provide any 
additional clinical benefit and can increase patient harm and mortality Resulting in 
potentially serious harm to patients including dependency, reduction of quality of life and 
reputational damage to the CCG  
 

 
SO2 - Integrated Commissioning for 
Better Outcomes 
To improve outcomes through integrated 
commissioning taking a person-centred, 
place-based and outcomes-focused 

 
NQ1 - If East and North Herts NHS Trust fail to address the ongoing quality and safety 
issues (eg sepsis, VTE), then the quality of care may be compromised potentially resulting 
in patient harm.  
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approach, working closely together to 
improve clinical quality, patient 
experience and affordability, and give 
equal priority to physical and mental 
health needs. 

NQ2 - If there continues to be a shortage of appropriately skilled staff then there is a risk 
that the CCG will not be able to effectively commission new services or provide existing 
services potentially resulting in diminished services, poor outcomes for patients and 
failure to deliver core services.  
 
NQ6 - If providers for which we are associates to the contract (i.e. Princess Alexandra 
Hospital (PAH) / Royal Free Hospital (RFH) fail to address quality issues, then quality of 
care may be compromised resulting in harm to patients.  
 
NQ14 - If the national shortage of beds for Children and Young People who need an 
admission for a mental health crisis continues then this will have a knock on impact on 
local areas as children wait longer than is ideal for a bed and then are often placed 
outside Hertfordshire resulting in families finding it difficult to maintain contact and 
poorer patient outcomes.  
 
NQ15 - If we don't achieve/make reasonable adjustments in healthcare settings and/or 
offer regular GP health checks to patients with learning disabilities then we may fail to 
identify serious underlying health conditions potentially resulting in detrimental health 
outcomes including reduced life expectancy patients with learning disabilities.  
 
NQ17 - If the CCG does not implement systems and processes to ensure that any CHC 
funded clients who are deprived of their liberty are done so lawfully, through the 
authorisation process Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS), which will come into force in 
April 2022 (replacing the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) following the Mental 
Capacity (Amendment) Act (2019)). Then there is a risk of eligible clients having their 
human rights unlawfully breached, leading to patient harm and reputational damage; 
resulting in the CCG being fined.  
 
NQ18 - If requirements for health checks for adults with severe mental illness are not met, 
then there are risks of unsafe or poor quality care for patients, poor patient experience & 
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outcomes resulting in Enforcement Action/ Notice imposed by regulators and Loss of 
reputation for ENHCCG.  
 
NQ20 - If there is insufficient capacity in the team due to vacancies, redeployment of staff, 
covering additional COVID-19 functions including the ICC and core cells, and the significant 
volume of care home work such as supporting IPC outbreaks, training and mutual aid 
requests, then this will impact on core functions and the ability to deliver business as 
usual within the Nursing and Quality team, resulting in reduced visibility and identification 
of quality and safety issues, and potential for negative impact on wellbeing of staff. 
  

 
SO3 - Improving urgent care services 
To deliver improved urgent and 
emergency care pathways across our 
commissioned services for unplanned 
care. 

 
OP1 - If there is increased demand and/or reduced capacity (e.g. workforce, 
infrastructure, pandemic, major incident, winter) then there may be reduced patient flow 
throughout the system resulting in an inability to sustain commissioned services which 
may potentially have a detrimental effect on patient outcomes.  
 
OP3 - If the CCG is not sufficiently prepared for Pandemic Flu then there is a risk that, if 
pandemic flu occurs, delivery of essential services could be compromised resulting in poor 
outcomes for patients and staff welfare.  
 
OP5 - If the CCG does not continue to respond to the evolving COVID-19 (Corona virus) 
pandemic, then there is a risk that, as COVID-19 becomes wider spread, delivery of 
essential services could be compromised resulting in poor outcomes for patients and staff 
welfare.  
 
OP6 - If: non-elective (NEL) activity continues to remain high (higher than expected), then 
there will be increased pressure in the system, patients may wait longer in the Emergency 
Department (ED), increased cost. Resulting in: Potentially poorer patient outcomes and 
experience, less money to spend on other services within the local health system.  
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SO4 - Delivering health and care more 
efficiently and effectively 
To deliver health and care more efficiently 
and effectively, and successfully achieve 
financial and activity targets, including 
successful delivery of Quality, Innovation, 
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
initiatives. 
 

 
FRR4 - If there are failures in the management and monitoring of declaration of interest, 
then there is a risk that undeclared interests would cause potential conflicts, resulting in 
perceived reputation risk and breach of statutory requirements.  
 
PMOT2 - If external factors cause prices of medicines to increase (for example due to 
national drug shortages) then the CCG may overspend on the annual prescribing budget 
and QIPP targets will not be met Resulting in an additional financial burden on the CCG 

 
SO5 - Data and Technology 
To deliver a CCG business strategy that 
will enable the digital innovation portfolio 
within the CCG, transitioning from 
analogue to digital ways of working and 
conducting business, whilst enabling 
greater collaboration and integration of 
services provided to the CCG's population. 
The digital innovation portfolio that will 
enable the CCG to develop as an 
organisation and transform with partners 
into a single ICS from the current the 
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP and 
enabling the emerging strategies of the 
ICP and PCN's within the STP footprint. 
 

 
There are currently no risks rated 12 or above. 

 
SO6 - Workforce 
To ensure that the CCG recruits retains 

 
There are currently no risks rated 12 or above. 
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and develops staff to ensure the 
organisation has the capability to 
successfully deliver its ambitions and 
objectives, and transition to an ICS. 
 
 
SO7 - Participation and Engagement 
To ensure that the public are involved in 
designing, planning and monitoring the 
health and care services we commission 
and are encouraged and supported to take 
responsibility for their own health and 
wellbeing. 
 

 
The risk identified to this objective also impacts on SO9 - see risk CE11 below. 
 
 
 

 
SO8 - Sustainability of General Practice  
To deliver the NHS Long Term Plan 
through the reform of the GMS Contract 
as outlined in "Investment & Evolution" 
document. This is supported by the 
Hertfordshire and West Essex Integrated 
Health and Care Strategy and the Primary 
Care Strategic Framework & Primary Care 
Vision document. 
 

 
PC2 - If providers of primary care services do not meet the required regulatory standards 
set by CQC then there is a risk that quality of care to patients is compromised and services 
may be suspended or terminated resulting in reduced provision of primary care services 
for the local population and potential patient harm and increased pressure on adjacent, 
remaining services 
 

 
SO9 – COVID-19  
To maintain a system of internal control, 
and able to respond as required by NHS 
England and NHS Improvement to ensure 

 
PCC6 - If Practices do not deliver as much routine and preventative work as can be 
provided safely including vaccinations immunisations, and screening then This will cause 
an avalanche of work once the recovery phase has been lifted resulting in 1) Delayed 
waiting times for patients 2) additional capacity pressures  
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safe and effective services for patients 
during the pandemic 

 
MD7 - If ENHT's mechanism for reducing their diabetes patient backlog is not successful 
then patients may not be seen resulting in harm to patients.  
 
C&P10 - If patients are expecting appointments and have not been properly discharged 
from the Community Ophthalmology service as agreed with the CCG, then there is a risk 
that they will not receive the treatment and care they need, resulting in deterioration of 
conditions.  
 
C&P12 - If there is a lack of access to dental services then this will impact on a patient's 
treatment and care resulting in a potential deterioration of health 
 
CE11 - If we do not effectively communicate the roll out of the COVID-19 vaccination 
programme to patients, staff and stakeholders - managing their expectations and 
providing timely information, then we risk undermining public confidence in the 
programme, resulting in fewer people in priority groups taking up their invitation to be 
vaccinated. 
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Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical 
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. 
 

Internal Audit 

The organisation uses an internal audit function to monitor the internal controls in operation 
to identify areas of weaknesses and make recommendations to rectify them.  The system is 
embedded in the activity of the organisation through an annual Internal Audit Work Plan.  
RSM currently provides the Internal Audit services for the organisation. The Head of Internal 
Audit reports independently to the Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee. It 
provides objectivity and independent assurance on the effectiveness of its internal control 
system, including the application of the Risk Management Framework.  The annual Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion provides independent overarching assurance to the organisation. 
 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2017) requires CCGs to have systems in place to satisfy themselves on an annual basis that 
their registers of interest are accurate and up-to-date. To do this, the CCG carries out an 
annual refresh of its declaration of interest register and uses the template audit framework 
published by NHS England to support CCGs.  

The organisation received substantial assurance for this audit with one low priority 
recommendation. 
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Data Quality 

In 2020/21, the monthly validation of all ‘Secondary Uses Service’ data was stood down for 
acute providers as a result of COVID-19 as they were being paid on a block arrangement. 
Data quality challenges continued for a few acute trusts where they have been able to 
review them.  The Commissioning Information Groups were held monthly with our main 
providers (East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust) 
were also stood down in 2020/21 in line with national guidance and will be reviewed once 
the NHS E/I planning guidance is published for 2021/22.  

NHS Digital publishes data quality reports monthly for Admitted Patient Care, Outpatient, 
A&E/Emergency Care Data Set, Maternity in acute hospitals; these are reviewed by the 
information team. Any issues that these highlight would be picked up again when the 
Commissioning Information Groups recommence.  The CCG has access to the national 
Hospital Episode Statistics data, through Mede/Analytics, to undertake bespoke comparative 
data analysis to be compared alongside any national benchmarking reports such as Right 
Care. 
 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the 
NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable 
information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a Data Security 
and Protection toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical 
commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt 
with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. Risks to data security are managed through a 
series of management, technical, operational and privacy controls. 

 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit 

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit is an online self-assessment tool that all 
organisations must complete if they have access to NHS patient data and systems to provide 
assurance around the controls they have in place to manage information risk.  The toolkit 
enables organisations to measure and publish their performance against the National Data 
Guardian's ten data security standards. 

The CCG has assessed its position against the Toolkit and is on track for completion by the 
revised deadline of 30 June 2021.  Policies and processes for the management of information 
have been agreed at the Information Governance Forum. 
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We place high importance on ensuring robust information governance systems and processes 
to help protect patient confidentiality and corporate information.  We have established an 
Information Governance Management Framework and have developed information 
governance processes and procedures in line with the Information Governance Toolkit.  We 
have ensured that all staff members undertake information governance training annually, 
which is mandatory and ensures they know their roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.  The 
Chief Finance Officer is the Senior Information Risk Owner, and continues to embed an 
information risk culture throughout the organisation.  One of the Corporate Governance 
Managers is the Data Protection Officer, in line with the General Data Protection Regulation. 
 

Business Critical Models 

The CCG uses activity models that are based on official Government produced information; for 
example, population demographics, provided by the Office for National Statistics (ONS).  It is 
assumed that the ONS, as a nationally recognised body will have undertaken quality assurance 
processes with regard to construction of these models. 
 
The CCG currently uses a local risk stratification model that was jointly developed between 
health and social care and is made available through Mede/Analytics.  This model is used to 
identify a discrete group of patients who are at risk of being admitted to hospital as an 
emergency, who may be better looked after through local community services.  The CCG has 
developed a model to calculate the elderly frailty index (EFI) using primary care data. 
 
The organisation does not use any other sophisticated models beyond those described above, 
but is currently undertaking further analysis to develop new risk stratification models using 
the wider range of data that is now available through the data integration and 
pseudonymisation at source project. 
 

Third Party Assurances 

The CCG has a contract with Mede/Analytics to provide Business Intelligence support as a 
Data Processor.  As a third party supplier, assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of 
the annual Data Security and Protection Toolkit and they have registered and paid a data 
protection fee to the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). In addition there is a 
confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and Mede/Analytics and they have 
been audited by NHS Digital with an assessment of minimal risk of inappropriate exposure 
and/or access to data provided by NHS Digital. The audit also identified a number of areas of 
good practice. 
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The CCG also has a contract with NHS Arden and GEM Commissioning Support Unit (AGEM 
CSU) to provide Data Services for Commissioning (DSCRO) services.  As a third party supplier 
assurance is provided by satisfactory completion of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit 
and they are entered on the Data Protection Register with the ICO.  Further assurance is 
provided by the inclusion of a confidentiality clause in the contract between the CCG and 
AGEM CSU. 

The organisation does not have any other contracts with third party suppliers who have 
access to and process patient identifiable data.  All other third party contractors are assessed 
on an annual basis and contract clauses included where appropriate. 
 

Nationally Outsourced Services  
The CCG receives some administrative services from nationally commissioned organisations 
and in 2020/21 also received Service Auditor Reports on these services, which it reviews: 

• Electronic Staff Record system provided by NHS Business Services Authority and IBM 
UK Ltd 

• Finance and accounting services provided by NHS Business Services Authority 
• GP payments to providers of General Practice services in England provided by NHS 

Digital 
• Prescription payments provided by NHS Business Services Authority (BSA) 
• Primary Care Support England services for processing GP and Pharmacy payments 

and pensions administration provided by Capita 

The audit report on Finance and Accounting services identified an exception in relation to the 
operating effectiveness of controls relating to the authorisation of manual credits. For one 
out of 25 samples a credit request was actioned by SBS when the client did not have the 
appropriate approval limit. Management responded that process and control training has 
been provided to all users to prevent a recurrence of this error. As a result of this the auditor 
therefore qualified their opinion of the overall effectiveness of the service providers controls 
during 2020/21. 

The audit report on GP payments to providers of General Practice services in England 
recorded exceptions as follows, Capita stated:  

- that they have controls in place to reconcile the physical count of cheques received 
against the number stated in the list received from Capita Intelligent Ophthalmic 
payments, validate cheques received with Locum forms and Market entry, and 
perform independent quality checks to ensure the physical count of cheques was 
performed accurately, however during the period 1 April 2020-17 January 2021 these 
controls were not in place due to restrictions relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
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- that they have controls in place to restrict local administrator access to the 
Ophthalmic Payments System to authorised personnel from the IT access control 
team and the Ophthalmic Payments Team. Capita were not able to provide the full 
list of users with such access and were therefore unable to demonstrate that the 
control was operating effectively. That there are controls in place to ensure that 
instances when an account should be revoked in the active directory (AD), UNIX, 
NHAIS, or Ophthalmic Payments systems are actioned in a timely manner in 
accordance with the access control policy. During the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 
2021, the above mentioned revocations could not be evidenced in all instances for 
any of the above mentioned systems. 

- that leavers Active Directory (AD) accounts are disabled 24 hours from notification, 
for 2 out of 40 leavers selected it was noted that AD had not been revoked within 24 
hours of notification. For 22 out of 40 leavers the AD account had been revoked 
within 24 hours of notification, however late notification led to access being revoked 
more than 24 hours after termination date. 

As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on the overall effectiveness of 
the service providers controls during 2020/21 

The audit report on Electronic staff records (ESR) recorded exceptions as follows: 

For the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, exceptions were identified in 
relation to the controls intended to enforce segregation of duties for changes to the 
NHS Hub, and ensure that unauthorised changes to the NHS Hub are detected and 
investigated. As a result, controls were not suitably designed to achieve Control 
Objective 1 (“Controls provide reasonable assurance that changes to the system 
software, hardware, and network components are documented and approved.") 
during this period. 

Further, for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, exceptions were 
identified in relation to the suitability of the design of controls intended to ensure 
that access to the development and production areas of the NHS hub is controlled 
and appropriately restricted. There were insufficient logical access controls in place to 
appropriately restrict access to the development and production area of the NHS 
hub. As a result, controls were not suitably designed to achieve Control Objective 2 
("Controls provide reasonable assurance that security configurations are created, 
implemented and 

As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on the overall effectiveness of 
the service providers controls during 2020/21 
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The audit report on Prescription payments by BSA recorded exceptions as follows, BSA 
stated: 

- Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance that payments are made to 
the correct, valid contractors. However, controls surrounding requests to set up new 
contractors or amend contractor details in MDR(Org) having valid approval were not 
operating effectively. 

- Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance that payments are accurate 
and complete. However, controls surrounding the completeness of prescriptions 
scanned against prescriptions declared by pharmacies, were not suitably designed. 

- Controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance that access to systems is 
appropriately restricted. However, controls surrounding the periodic access review of 
Database Administrator users were not suitably designed. 

As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on the overall effectiveness of 
the service providers controls during 2020/21 

These Service Auditor Reports and the gaps in assurance were provided to the CCG’s External 
Auditor, but did not impact on their risk assessment or audit approach. 

 

Control Issues 

According to the Head of Internal Audit Opinion, the Governing Body can have a substantial 
assurance since the controls on which the CCG relies to manage issues are appropriately 
designed, consistently applied, and operating effectively. 

 
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 

To ensure the Clinical Commissioning Group resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively the CCG has implemented processes, which are described below: 

• the CCG has reviewed detailed financial policies, which set out the systems to be 
adhered to in order to ensure that resources are used efficiently 

• developed and implemented strategic and operational plans, which include an agreed 
annual budget approved by the Governing Body 

• worked closely with providers to review and agree changes to services to best meet 
need arising from the COVID-19 pandemic 
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• corporate wide process for the development and review of business cases for 
investment.  Processes include assessment of value for money and contribution to 
the achievement of CCG objectives 

• reports on finance and quality presented on a monthly basis to the Governing Body, 
with actions identified when performance is off track 

• report on identified key financial risks to regular meetings of the Governance and 
Audit Committee 

• implementation of an internal audit programme that is targeted at the strategic risks 
and key financial control processes 

• annual fraud risk assessment undertaken by an independent party, providing 
recommendations for key actions 

• comprehensive suite of Fraud and Bribery policies agreed and in place with local 
counter fraud specialist delivering an agreed work plan 

• requirement as part of mandatory training that all staff undertake counter fraud and 
bribery training 

• training for staff on how to raise concerns under the whistleblowing policy – with the 
mechanisms being used appropriately 

• training for staff to be Speak up Inclusion Champions 
• training for more staff to be Mental Health First Aider  
• NHS Right Care allows the organisation to compare the amount we spend, the health 

services we commission and the health of our population against that of other areas 
in England.  These comparisons help the CCG to identify whether our population is 
receiving high quality, efficient and effective health services 

• the NHS Benchmarking Network CCG Functions Project provides comparisons about 
CCG’s in their own right, rather than just the services they commission 

• regular reporting to the Governing Body on financial planning, in-year performance 
monitoring and central management costs 

 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG was again rated as outstanding in November 2020, making 
this the fourth time in a row the CCG has achieved the highest rating for the quality of 
leadership in the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework.  
 
Counter fraud arrangements 

The Clinical Commissioning Group contracts RSM to provide the counter fraud provision by 
way of a nominated lead local counter fraud specialist (LCFS).  The LCFS is accredited by the 
NHS Counter Fraud Authority and qualified to undertake the duties of that role. 
 
RSM provides the Clinical Commissioning Group with a LCFS Annual Report, which details all 
work undertaken in respect of counter fraud activities for the reporting year and measures 
each task as specified in the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for NHS Commissioners: 
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Fraud, Bribery and Corruption.  The LCFS work plan is designed to meet the requirements set 
out in the Standards and each task is designed to provide compliance with each of the 
standards described.  The LCFS work plan is designed to address the locally and nationally 
identified fraud risk areas in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer holds Governing Body level responsibility for the delivery of the 
LCFS work and provides the support to the LCFS in achieving this.  The LCFS works with the 
Chief Finance Officer in submitting the annual NHS Counter Fraud Authority Self-Review 
Tool.  An action plan is produced on the findings of this tool which is monitored at the 
Governance and Audit Committee for any areas not deemed as fully compliant with the 
standards. 

Please see page 174 of this report for the CCG’s ‘whistleblowing’ procedures. 
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HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded 
that: 

The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management, 
governance and internal control.  

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given 40 

Provider Quality Assurance  Substantial Assurance 

Conflicts of Interest  Substantial Assurance 

Primary Care Commissioning (Finance Function) Substantial Assurance 

Primary Care Networks  Substantial Assurance 

Delivery of the Local Digital Roadmap  Reasonable Assurance 

Risk Management Culture and Assurance Framework Substantial Assurance 

Key Financial Controls and Payroll Substantial Assurance 

Cyber Security and DSP Toolkit Advisory 

Follow up  Good Progress 
 
 

 

 
40 Definitions: a) Substantial: The controls upon which the CCG relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, 
consistently applied and operating effectively. b) Reasonable: The controls upon which the CCG relies to 
manage this risk are suitably designed and consistently applied.  However, some issues have been identified 
that need to be addressed. 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management 
and internal control 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 
the Internal Auditors, the Executive Directors and senior management within the Clinical 
Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework.  I have drawn on performance information available to me.  My 
review is also informed by comments made by the External Auditors in their annual audit 
letter and other reports. 
 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 
manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principal objectives have 
been reviewed. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the: 

• Governing Body 
• Governance and Audit Committee 
• Quality Committee 
• Internal Audit 
• External Audit 

 

Conclusion 
As Accountable Officer, and based on the review processes outlined above, I can confirm 
that the Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the actual controls position and 
there are no significant internal control issues identified for the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 
The information on pages 147 and 148 is not subject to audit, except for ‘payments to past 
senior managers’. 
 
 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
 
The members of the Remuneration Committee for the year were as follows. The committee 
met twice during 2020/21 and all members were in attendance. 41 

• Linda Farrant – Lay member (Governance and Audit), Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee 

• Dr Ashish Shah – Deputy Clinical Chair  
• Dr Dermot O’ Riordan – Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 

 

REMUNERATION OF VERY SENIOR MANAGERS  

The Accountable Officer of the CCG is paid a salary in excess of £150,000 per annum for the 
joint post of Accountable Officer of Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs and ICS and is a 
shared arrangement between East & North Hertfordshire, Herts Valleys and West Essex CCGs 
and the ICS. This has been approved by NHS E/I and the national remuneration committee 
considering senior manager pay and benchmarking was undertaken with similar sized 
organisations to ensure that salaries are competitive and in line with that of similar systems.   

 
POLICY ON REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGERS (not subject to audit) 

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Remuneration Committee used the remuneration 
guidance provided by NHS England to inform its decisions regarding the pay of all very senior 
managers. We can confirm that the pay of all our very senior managers is within the pay 
ranges identified in the guidance. Additional payments have been agreed on a post-by-post 
basis for additional responsibilities and complexity, as assessed by the Remuneration 
Committee. 
 

 
41 Held as Remuneration Committee meetings in Common with Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and 
West Essex Clinical Commissioning Group 
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SENIOR MANAGERS PERFORMANCE RELATED PAY (not subject to audit) 
 
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that there will be no performance related pay for 
senior managers. 

 

POLICY ON SENIOR MANAGERS’ CONTRACTS (not subject to audit)  
 
As at 31 March 2021 there were 8 permanent executive team managers.  GPs on the 
Governing Body are engaged on fixed term contracts: 

• Dr Belcher (4 year fixed term from 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2022)   
• Dr Chowdhury [1] (4 year fixed term from 20 February 2019 to 31 March 2023) 
• Dr Dixon (4 year fixed term from 1 May 2018 to 30 April 2022) 
• Dr Hall (4 year fixed term from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2022) 
• Dr Moodley (4 year fixed term from 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2022)  
• Dr O’Riordan (from 29 January 2015 to 28 January 2022)  
• Dr Saha (4 year fixed term from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2022) 
• Dr A Shah (4 year fixed term from 10 September 2018 to 9 September 2022) 
• Dr R Shah (from 1 May 2019 to 31 March 2022) 
 
Lay members are also employed on fixed term contracts: 

• Linda Farrant (1 April 2013 to 31 March 2022) 
• Dianne Desmulie (27 November 2014 to 26 November 2022) 
• Alison Gardner (1 August 2019 to 31 March 2022) 
 
 
 

PAYMENTS TO PAST SENIOR MANAGERS (subject to audit) 
There have been no payments to past senior managers. 

  

 
[1] Dr Chowdhury is an independent GP on the Primary Care Commissioning Committee but is not a member of 
the Governing Body 
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SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES (AUDITED SECTION) 
 
The salary and pension entitlements of East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s senior managers are disclosed in the following two tables. The definition 
of a senior manager is a person in a senior position having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the clinical 
commissioning group. This means those who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a whole rather than the decisions of 
individual directorates or departments, people including advisory and lay members. The Chief Executive confirms that this definition covers members 
of the Governing Body only. 
 

SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES IN 2020/21 

TABLE 1: SINGLE TOTAL FIGURE 

   2020-21 

Name  Role Note 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Jane Halpin  Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020) -29.23% 1,12 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 
Beverley Flowers  Accountable Officer (to 31 May 2020) 2 10-15 0 0 0 2.5-5 15-20 

Alan Pond  E & N Herts CCG Chief Finance Officer (to 31 July 2020)/ 
Chief Finance Officer (from 1 August 2020) -29.23% 1 70-75 0 0 0 35-37.5 105-110 

Sharn Elton  Director of Operations to 31 May 2020/ 
Managing Director from 1 June 2020   125-130 0 0 0 105-107.5 230-235 

Denise Boardman  Director of Primary Care (to 30 June 2020) 12 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 
Jo Burlingham Interim Director of Operations (from 6 June 2020) 3 85-90 0 0 0 82.5-85 170-175 

Rachel Joyce  
Medical Director (to 30 September 2020)/ 

1,4 65-70 0 0 0 45-47.5 110-115 
Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October 2020) -29.23% 

Sheilagh Reavey  Director of Nursing & Quality (to 31 July 2020) 5 260-265 0 0 0 0 260-265 
Jane Kinniburgh  Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020) -29.23% 1,12 20-25 0 0 0 0 20-25 
Avni Shah  Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020) -29.23% 1 10-15 0 0 0 5-7.5 15-20 
Frances Shattock Director of Performance & Delivery (from 1 March 2021) -29.23% 1 0-5 0 0 0 0-2.5 0-5 
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Phil Turnock  Chief Digital Officer  6,12 105-110 5,600 0 0 0 110-115 
Prag Moodley CCG Chair   7 115-120 0 0 0 £NIL 115-120 
Ashish Shah  CCG Deputy Chair  7,8 125-130 0 0 0 £NIL 125-130 
Tara Belcher  GP Board Member 7 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Sarah Dixon  GP Board Member 7 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Russell Hall  GP Board Member   50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Anindita Saha  GP Board Member 7,9 100-105 0 0 0 £NIL 100-105 
Rupal Shah  GP Board Member 7,10 60-65 0 0 0 £NIL 60-65 
Dianne Desmulie   Lay Member    10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
Linda Farrant   Lay Member    15-20 200 0 0 0 15-20 
Alison Gardner   Lay Member  11 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
Dermont O'Riordan  Secondary Care Specialist Doctor   10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Notes           

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase 
excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. 
It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide.  

The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual. 

The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage incurred on official duties, unless included in the notes below. The benefit arises from 
the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. East and North Hertfordshire CCG 
pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate in 2020-21 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable 
and is disclosed above.     

Note 1- Upon appointment to the Hertfordshire and West Essex Joint Executive Team (JET), the member's remuneration has been apportioned across the ICS and three CCGs and 
only that relating to East & North Hertfordshire CCG has been disclosed above, based on 29.23% of their total remuneration. For transparency the member's total remuneration 
across the ICS and Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs is disclosed in the table below.            

Note 2 - Beverley Flowers was Joint Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability & Transformation Partnership (STP) lead to 31 May 2021 at 40% WTE. The remuneration disclosed 
above relates only to the CCG role. Total remuneration is shown in the table below.     

Note 3 - Jo Burlingham was appointed to the Board in an Interim role in June 2020, and prior to this held the position of Associate Director of Operations & Resilience. The 
remuneration disclosed relates to the period when appointed to the interim senior manager role.  
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Note 4 - Rachel Joyce was also Clinical and Professional Director for Hertfordshire & West Essex STP for the period April to Septemeber 2020 at 40% WTE. The remuneration 
disclosed above relates only to the CCG role. Total remuneration is shown in the table below.     

Note 5 - On 1 August 2020 a joint appointment across the ICS and its 3 CCGs was made to the post of Director of Nursing & Quality. As a consequence the Director of Nursing & 
Quality roles in each CCG, including in E & N Hertfordshire CCG became redundant. A redundancy payment was made to Sheilagh Reavey in line with contractural entitlements. 
The remuneration disclosed includes £35,000-£40,000 basic pay for the period in office, £160,000 in respect of a compulsory redundancy payment, £55,00-£60,000 for payment in 
lieu of contractural notice and £5,000-£10,000 for payment of accrued and untaken leave.             

Note 6 - The taxable benefit relates to the member having a lease car and the excess amount that is taxable for the reimbursement of mileage incurred on official duties.  

Note 7 - Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under 
the "Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non pensionsable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus 
an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. The salary  banding above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where applicable.  

Note 8 - The total remuneration for Dr Ashish Shah includes £5,000-£10,000 relating to a locality workforce lead role.     

Note 9 - The total remuneration for Dr Anindita Saha includes £35,000-£40,000 relating to a clinical lead role.      

Note 10 - The total remuneration for Dr Rupal Shah includes £0-£5,000 relating to a clinical lead role.       

Note 11 - Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of Herts Valleys CCG Board in 2020/21 for Patient and Public Involvement. The costs disclosed above are recharged by Herts 
Valleys CCG.           

Note 12 - Jane Halpin, Jane Kinniburgh, Phil Turnock and Denise Boardman are not members of the NHS pension scheme.       
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The table below shows the total remuneration where the Senior Manager was appointed as a Director in more than one of the Hertfordshire and 
West Essex CCGs and ICS and where a sharing arrangement existed. 42 

Name  Role 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

All pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Jane Halpin  Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020) 140-145 0 0 0 0 140-145 

Alan Pond  E & N Herts CCG Chief Finance Officer (to 31 July 2020) / 
Chief Finance Officer (from 1 August 2020) 135-140 0 0 0 70-72.5 205-210 

Rachel Joyce 
Medical Director & STP Clinical Director (to 30 September 2020)/ 

145-150 0 0 0 102.5-105 250-255 
Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October 2020) 

Jane Kinniburgh  Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020) 80-85 0 0 0 0 80-85 
Avni Shah  Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020) 40-45 0 0 0 17.5-20 60-65 
Frances Shattock Director of Performance & Delivery (from 1 March 2021) 10-15 0 0 0 0-2.5 10-15 

Beverley Flowers Accountable Officer & STP Lead (to 31 May 2020) / 
Director of Integration & Systems Transformation (from 1 June 2020) 135-140 0 0 0 25-27.5 160-165 

      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
42 Alan Pond, Rachel Joyce and Beverley Flowers are on the payroll of East and North Hertfordshire CCG; Jane Halpin, Jane Kinniburgh and Frances Shattock are on the payroll of 
West Essex CCG; Avni Shah is on the payroll of Herts Valleys CCG 
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TABLE 2: SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES IN PREVIOUS YEAR (2019/20) 

   2019-20 

Name  Role Note 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

All pension 
related 
benefits       

(bands of 
£2,500) 

TOTAL       
(bands of 
£5,000) 

      £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Beverley Flowers Accountable Officer  1 90-95 0 0 0 7.5-10 100-105 
Alan Pond Chief Finance Officer   130-135 300 0 0 22.5-25 155-160 
Denise Boardman Director of Primary Care   115-120 100 0 0 0-2.5 115-120 
Sharn Elton Director of Operations    115-120 100 0 0 5-7.5 120-125 
Rachel Joyce Medical Director  2 85-90 0 0 0 27.5-30 110-115 
Sheilagh Reavey Director of Nursing & Quality   115-120 0 0 0 10-12.5 125-130 
Phil Turnock (from 1 October 2019) Chief Digital Officer  3 50-55  3500  0 0 0 55-60 
Prag Moodley CCG Chair   4 115-120 0 0 0 £NIL 115-120 
Ashish Shah  CCG Deputy Chair  4,5 120-125 0 0 0 £NIL 120-125 
Mark Andrews (to 30 September 2019) GP Board Member 6 35-40 0 0 0 £NIL 35-40 
Tara Belcher  GP Board Member 4 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Sarah Dixon  GP Board Member 4 45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 
Sachin Gupta (to 17 October 2019) GP Board Member 4 30-35 0 0 0 £NIL 30-35 
Russell Hall  GP Board Member   50-55 0 0 0 £NIL 50-55 
Alison Jackson (to 30 June 2019) GP Board Member 4 10-15 0 0 0 £NIL 10-15 
Anindita Saha  GP Board Member 4 55-60 0 0 0 £NIL 55-60 
Rupal Shah (from 1 May 2019) GP Board Member 4 45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 
Nabeil Shukur (to 29 February 2020) GP Board Member   45-50 0 0 0 £NIL 45-50 
Dianne Desmulie   Lay Member    10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
Linda Farrant   Lay Member    15-20 300 0 0 0 15-20 
Alison Gardner  (from 1 August 2019)  Lay Member  7 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Dermont O'Riordan  Secondary Care Specialist Doctor   10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 
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Notes         

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase 
excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. 
It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide. 
 
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual. 
 
The taxable benefits referred to in the table above relate to the re-imbursement of mileage incurred on official duties, unless included in the notes below. The benefit arises from 
the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. East and North Hertfordshire CCG 
pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance payments" rate in 2019-20 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable 
and is disclosed above. 
 
Note 1 - Beverley Flowers was appointed as Joint Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) lead as from June 2019 at 40% WTE. The 
remuneration disclosed above relates to the CCG role and remuneration relating to the STP post is shown in the table below.  
 
Note 2 - Rachel Joyce was appointed as Clinical and Professional Director for Hertfordshire and West Essex STP as from April 2019 at 40% WTE. In addition to the remuneration 
disclosed above which relates to the CCG role, remuneration relating to the STP post is shown in the table below. 
 
Note 3 - The taxable benefit relates to the member having a lease car and the excess amount that is taxable for the reimbursement of mileage incurred on official duties. 
 
Note 4 - Where a GP Board member is working under a ‘contract for services’ and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under 
the ‘Practitioner Pension Scheme’. The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus 
an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority. The salary banding above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution, where applicable.  
 
Note 5 - The total remuneration for Dr Ashish Shah includes £1,711.09 paid via payroll to his limited company and a further £7,195.68 paid directly to the member. Both payments 
relate to a locality workforce lead role. 
 
Note 6 - The total remuneration for Dr Mark Andrews includes £12,671 relating to a clinical lead role. 
 
Note 7 - Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of Herts Valleys CCG Board in 2019/20 for Patient and Public Involvement. The costs disclosed above are recharged by Herts 
Valleys CCG. 
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FAIR PAY DISCLOSURE (AUDITED ELEMENT OF REMUNERATION REPORT) 
         
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in the organisation and 
the median remuneration of the CCG's workforce, as at the reporting date (31 March 2021).  
        
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in East & North Hertfordshire CCG at the reporting date was £125,000-£130,000 
(2019-20: £130,000-£135,000). This was 2.99 times (2019-20: 3.37) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £42,685 (2019-20: 
£39,332).    
      
In 2020-21 and 2019-20, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's 
Governing body. In 2020-21 remuneration ranged from the highest paid director to £19,342 (2019-20: highest paid director to £17,465).  
       
The main reason for the decrease in the ratio is due to the movement in the highest paid individual because of new management arrangements. 
        
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include 
employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.   
        
As a number of Director posts included in the Fair Pay disclosure were shared across the three CCGs and the ICS, for transparency, if the calculations 
had been based on the total salary for those directors, the following disclosure would apply.  
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in East & North Hertfordshire CCG at the reporting date was £170,000-£175,000 
(2019-20: £130,000-£135,000). This was 4.04 times (2019-20: 3.37) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £42,685 (2019-20: 
£39,332).   
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PENSIONS BENEFITS 2020/21 (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 
 
TABLE 3: PENSIONS BENEFITS 
 

Name  Role 
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Relating to the period 1 April 2020 to 31st March 2021   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
                      
Jane Halpin Accountable Officer (from 1 June 2020)-29.23% 1,2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Beverley Flowers  Accountable Officer (to 31 May 2020) 4 0-2.5 0 0-5 5-10 85 3 92 0 

Sharn Elton Director of Operations (to 31 May 2020) /  
Managing Director (from 1 June 2020) 

  
  5-7.5 7.5-10 55-60 125-130 918 100 1,052 0 

Alan Pond  Chief Finance Officer (to 31 July 2020) / ICS Chief Finance Officer  
(from 1 August 2020)-29.23% 1 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 45-50 507 39 565 0 

Denise Boardman  Director of Primary Care Development (to 30 June 2020) 2,3 0 0 45-50 145-150 1,165 0 0 0 
Jo Burlingham Interim Director of Operations (from 6 June 2020)    2.5-5 7.5-10 30-35 60-65 420 66 521 0 

Rachel Joyce  
Medical Director (to 30 September 2020)/ 

1,5 2.5-5 0-2.5 20-25 50-55 395 41 452 0 
Director of Clinical & Professional Services (from 1 October 2020)-29.23% 

Sheilagh Reavey  Director of Nursing & Quality (to 31 July 2020)   0 0 40-45 130-135 1,067 12 1,103 0 
Jane Kinniburgh  Director of Nursing & Quality (from 1 August 2020)-29.23% 1,2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Avni Shah Director of Primary Care Transformation (from 1 December 2020)-29.23% 1 0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 5-10 44 4 50 0 
Frances Shattock Director of Performance & Delivery (from 1 March 2021)-29.23% 1 0-2.5 0 0-5 0 0 0 1 0 
Phil Turnock  Chief Digital Officer  2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Prag Moodley  CCG Chair 6 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Ashish Shah  Deputy Clinical Chair 6 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Tara Belcher   GP Board Member  6 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Sarah Dixon  GP Board Member  6 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Russell Hall  GP Board Member    £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Anindita Saha  GP Board Member   6 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Rupal Shah  GP Board Member  6 £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL £NIL 
Linda Farrant  Lay Member  7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Dianne Desmulie  Lay Member   7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Alison Gardner   Lay Member  7,8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Dermot O'Riordan  Lay Member  7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Notes           

Note 1 - Where members have been appointed to the Hertfordshire and West Essex Joint Executive Team (JET), the disclosures above only relate to the CCG's proportion of 
pension benefits based on 29.23% from the date of appointment. For transparency the table below shows members total pension benefits across Hertfordshire and West Essex 
CCGs and ICS.            

Note 2 - Jane Halpin, Jane Kinniburgh, Phil Turnock and Denise Boardman are not members of the NHS pension scheme. 

Note 3 - Denise Boardman ceased to be a member of the NHS pension scheme on 31 March 2020, retired on 30 June 2020 and is now in receipt of her pension. Values disclosed 
for accrued pension and Lump Sum related to accrued pension are those being paid or already paid. No Cash Equivalent Transfer Value is disclosed at 31 March 2021 because the 
pension is already being drawn.           

Note 4 - Beverley Flowers held the position of joint Lead Officer for Hertfordshire & West Essex Sustainability & Transformation Partnership (STP) for the period to 31 May 2020 at 
40% WTE. The disclosure above has been adjusted to reflect the CCG role only to 31 May 2020. For transparency, figures for the STP role, which is hosted by W Essex CCG are 
disclosed in the table below.            

Note 5 - Rachel Joyce held the position of Clinical and Professional Director for Hertfordshire & West Essex STP for the period April to September 2020 at 40% WTE. The disclosure 
has been adjusted to reflect the CCG role only for this period. For transparency, figures for the STP role, which is hosted by W Essex CCG are disclosed in the table below.  

Note 6 - Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under 
the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and for GPs who are members of the Practitioner scheme, submit GP SOLO forms 
to reflect the employers pension contribution of 14.3% plus 0.08% administration levy to the NHS Pensions Authority.        
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Note 7 - As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions.        

Note 8 - Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of Herts Valleys CCG Board in 2020/21 for Patient and Public Involvement.         

Note 9 - NHS employees contribute towards their pension benefits. In 2020/21 contribution rates were 14.5% of salary where the individual earned in excess of £111,377 and 
13.5% where the individual earned between £70,631 and £111,377. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the 
scheme.            

Note 10 - Cash equivalent transfer values (CETV)           

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
membership of the pension scheme. This may be more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details 
include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional 
pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.             

Note 11 - The real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or 
contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement).       

Note 12 - The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the individual was entitled to 
GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. This is more likely to affect the 1995 Section and the 2008 Section. The benefits and CETV do not currently allow 
for a future potential adjustment for the McCloud judgement          
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The table below shows the member's total pension benefits for the full year where the Senior Manager was appointed as a Director in more than 
one of the Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs and ICS and where a sharing arrangement existed.       
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OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS 
Table 4: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months (not subject to audit) 

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last 
longer than six months.  

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021 20 

Of which… 
Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting 5 
Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting 3 
Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting 4 
Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting 1 
Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting 7 

 
Table 5: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last longer 
than six months (not subject to audit) 

 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021  7 

Of which… 
Number assessed as caught by IR35 7 
Number assessed as not caught by IR35 0 

 
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the 
departmental payroll 0 

Number of engagements re-assessed for consistency / assurance purposes 
during the year  0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35  0 
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Table 6: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements (not subject to audit) 

For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. 
 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or senior 
officials with significant responsibility’ during the financial year. This figure 
should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements   

26 

 

EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY (NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

The total spend on consultants in 2020/21 is shown on page 203 of the accounts. 
 
 

EXIT PACKAGES AND COMPENSATION FOR LOSS OF OFFICE AGREED IN THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package (compensation for loss of office) 
during the financial year to value of £224,478. This consisted of £160,000 in respect of a 
compulsory redundancy payment, £57,683 for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £6,795 
for payment of accrued but untaken annual leave. In 2019-20, there were two exit packages 
totalling £14,499 in respect of contractual pay in lieu of notice. 

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the 
Agenda For Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are the full cost of 
departures agreed in the year. 
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STAFF REPORT  

Please note that sections subject to audit will be identified as such in their heading. All other 
sections are not subject to audit. 
 

Trade Union Facility Time 
Union representatives have a statutory right to reasonable paid time off from employment to 
carry out trade union duties and to undertake trade union training.  Union duties must relate to 
matters covered by collective bargaining agreements between employers and trade unions and 
relate to the union representative’s own employer, unless agreed otherwise in circumstances of 
multi-employer bargaining, and not, for example, to any associated employer.   

Union representatives and members also have a statutory right to reasonable unpaid time off 
when taking part in trade union activities.  Employers can also consider offering paid time off.   
 
Activities can be, for example, taking part in: 

• branch, area or regional meetings of the union where the business of the union is under 
discussion 

• meetings of official policy making bodies such as the executive committee or annual 
conference 

• meetings with full time officers to discuss issues relevant to the workplace. 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came into force on 
1st April 2017 and put in place the provisions in the Trade Union Act 2016 requiring relevant 
public sector employers to publish specified information related to facility time provided to 
trade union officials. The specified information is provided in Tables 1-4 below.  
 

Table 7: Relevant union officials   

Number of employees who were relevant  
union officials during 2020/21 

Full-time equivalent  
employee number 

2 2 
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Table 8: Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 0 

1-50% 2 

51%-99% 0 

100% 0 

 
Table 9: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Description Figures 

Total cost of facility time £5,437 

Total pay bill £17,926,000 

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time 0.03% 

 
Table 10: Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours 21.74% 
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About our CCG staff 
As at 31 March 2021, East and North Hertfordshire CCG employed a total of 329 staff (285.52 
full time equivalents).  These figures include all governing body members and 3 staff on 
external secondment to partnership organisations. In 2020/21 our staff turnover was 13.98%. 

The table below details how many senior managers are employed by the CCG by banding (as at 
31 March 2021). 

Agenda for Change Band Headcount FTE 
8a 44 39.62 
8b 30 28.49 
8c 10 9.80 
8d 15 15.00 
9 1 1.00 

Very Senior Manager (VSM) 6 5.21 
Medical & Dental (M&D)43 25 8.75 

 

Equality and Diversity  
The Equality Act 2010: The Public Sector Equality Duty 

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due regard to the 
need to:  

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  

 

 

 
43 This figure includes GPs who are Governing Body members, GPs who are offering clinical support to the CCG in 
another capacity, such as clinical leads, public health doctors and clinical fellow, plus Named GPs who perform a 
safeguarding role.  
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Throughout 2020/21, East and North Hertfordshire CCG’s engagement approach was fully 
cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of opportunity for the population 
of east and north Hertfordshire in the context of all its commissioning engagement activities in 
the future.  

The CCG met statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS 
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce Race 
Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and diversity work and 
identify where improvements can be made.  
 
NHS Workforce Race Equality Standards (WRES) 

The CCG is required to implement WRES in respect of its own workforce. It is recognised that 
the small size of many CCGs means that the interpretation of the indicators should be 
approached with caution. Following the interpretation and publication of the WRES data, an 
action plan was produced and being implemented within the CCG.   
 

The CCG’s profile for staff-declared ethnicity appears in the table below (at 31 March 2021). 

Ethnic Origin Headcount % 
White - British 204 62.01% 
White - Irish 8 2.43% 
White - Any other White background 17 5.17% 
White English 1 0.30% 
Mixed - White & Black Caribbean 3 0.91% 
Mixed - White & Black African 1 0.30% 
Mixed - White & Asian 2 0.61% 
Mixed - Any other mixed background 2 0.61% 
Mixed - Chinese & White 1 0.30% 
Mixed - Other/Unspecified 1 0.30% 
Asian or Asian British - Indian 34 10.33% 
Asian or Asian British - Pakistani 6 1.82% 
Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi 4 1.22% 
Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background 4 1.22% 
Asian Sri Lankan 1 0.30% 
Asian British 1 0.30% 
Black or Black British - Caribbean 7 2.13% 
Black or Black British - African 17 5.17% 
Black or Black British - Any other Black background 1 0.30 
Chinese 3 0.91 
Any Other Ethnic Group 3 0.91 
Unspecified 5 1.52 
Not Stated 3 0.91 
Total 329 100.00% 



Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
________________________________________________________________________  166 

Equality and Diversity Action Planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) 

The CCG has an equality and diversity action plan which supports the CCG to meet the statutory 
and NHS requirements around equality and diversity. It is overseen by an Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Steering Group. This group is also coordinating the CCGs completion of EDS2, the NHS 
equality and delivery system. 
 
The group is chaired by our Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement who leads on 
equality, diversity and inclusion on our Governing Body.  The aim of the group is to refresh the 
Equality Delivery System for the NHS within the organisation, which is based around 4 goals: 

1. Better health outcomes 
2. Improved patient access and experience 
3. A representative and supported workforce, and 
4. Inclusive leadership 

Each goal has a designated lead who will identify the current processes that are working well 
and envisioning the processes that would work well in the future. 

Equality and diversity support is delivered to the CCG, via a shared service resource alongside 
Herts Valleys and West Essex CCGs. This model enables best practice and expertise to be shared 
amongst all organisations.  

 
Disability 

The CCG holds the Disability Confident award (up to 2 November 2023) which recognises our 
commitment to recruiting and developing disabled employees. This award replaces the 
‘Positive About Disabled People’ (PADP) award. 

At 31 March 2021, 93.1% of staff have declared they have no disability, with 2.1% declaring a 
disability and the remaining 4.8% declaring they do not wish to disclose. 

Gender Profile  

Gender Profile – overall workforce (at 31 March 2021) 

Gender % 
Female 65.65 
Male 34.34 

 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/disability-confident-campaign
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% gender by pay band (at 31 March 2021) 

Agenda for Change (AfC) Male (%) Female (%) 
Band 3 100% 0% 
Band 4 28.21% 71.79% 
Band 5 47.06% 52.94% 
Band 6 37.265% 62.74% 
Band 7 29.58% 70.42% 
Band 8A 15.91% 84.09% 
Band 8B 46.67% 53.33% 
Band 8C 50.00% 50.00% 
Band 8D 46.67% 53.33% 
Band 9 0 100% 
Medical & Dental 38.71% 61.29% 
Very Senior Managers (VSM) 50 50% 

 

Gender breakdown (as at 31 March 2021) 

Governing Body members, VSM and Medical and Dental staff 
Male Female 
Headcount % Headcount % 
12 36.4 9 19 48.5 
Bands 8a and above 
Male Female 
Headcount % Headcount % 
33 33 67 67 
All other bands (band 7 and below) 
Male Female 
Headcount % Headcount % 
68 34 130 67 
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Gender pay gap reporting regulations 
All public sector organisations in England employing 250 or more staff are required to publish 
gender pay gap information annually, both on their website and on the designated government 
website at www.gov.uk/genderpaygap. East and North Hertfordshire is one of the few CCGs 
nationally which is required to publish this information, as most CCGs employ fewer than 250 
members of staff. 

Gender pay reporting is different to equal pay. Equal pay deals with the pay differences 
between men and women who carry out the same jobs, similar jobs or work of equal value. It is 
unlawful to pay people unequally because they are a man or a woman.  

The gender pay gap shows the difference in the average pay (both mean and median) between 
all men and women in our workforce. Calculations are based on the hourly rate of ordinary 
salary paid to each employee on a snapshot date in the financial year. This includes staff 
employed under Agenda for Change terms and conditions, clinical advisers and very senior 
managers.   

East and North Hertfordshire CCG employs more women than men, with women making up 
approximately 65% of the workforce. 

The mean gender pay gap is the difference between the average hourly earnings of men and 
women and gives us an overall indication of the size of our gender pay gap, if any. 

On 31 March 2020 (the latest available data) the mean gender pay gap was 25.65% which is an 
increase on the 2019 figure of 10.2%.  It is likely that changes in the balance of male and female 
employees in both the lower and upper quartiles, between the two years, accounts for the 
majority of this change. 

The median pay gap is the difference between the midpoints in the ranges of hourly earnings of 
men and women. It takes all salaries in the sample, lines them up in order from lowest to 
highest, and picks the middle salary. We believe this is a more representative measure of the 
pay gap because it is not affected by outliers – a few individuals at the top or bottom of the 
range. On 31 March 2020 (the latest available data) the median gender pay gap was 1.33%. This 
means that typically women are paid 1.33% less in the CCG than men.  This is a change on 2019 
when women were paid 5.91% more than men. 

All salaries in the CCG will be reviewed as part of the progression to the ICS in order to ensure 
equity and fairness, which will have a positive impact on the gender pay gap. 

 

 

http://www.gov.uk/genderpaygap
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Religion and beliefs 

The declared religion or belief of CCG staff at 31 March 2021 appears in the table below: 

Religious Belief Headcount % 
Atheism 45 13.68% 
Christianity 114 34.65% 
Hinduism 14 4.26% 
Islam 7 2.13% 
Jainism 4 1.22% 
Judaism 1 0.30% 
Not Disclosed 101 30.70% 
Other 22 6.69% 
Sikhism 5 1.52% 
Unspecified 16 4.86% 
Total 329 100.00% 

The declared sexual orientation of CGG staff at 31 March 2021 appears in the table below: 

Sexual Orientation Headcount % 
Bisexual 3 0.91 
Gay or Lesbian 3 0.91 
Heterosexual or Straight 232 70.52 
Not Disclosed 74 22.49 
Other sexual orientation not listed 2 0.61 
Undecided 1 0.30 
Unspecified 14 4.26 
Grand Total 329 100.00 
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Sickness Absence Data  
Sickness absence data relating to the year 2020/21 extracted from ESR: 

Total days lost: 2,477 days (equivalent calendar days) 

Total absence (FTE)  2304.06 days out of a total of 106,570 available FTE days 

Average absence per 
employee: 

7.89 days (average of total days lost by CCG employee 
headcount) 

Of total days lost,  
long term absence episodes:  78  

Long term days total:  1,920 days (included in total days lost) 

The CCG’s sickness absence rate for 2020/21 was 2.16%  

This figure is based on the total full time equivalent days available to work during 2020/21 and 
how much of the full time equivalent workforce was absent. The absence rate covers calendar 
days lost and will include weekends where absence dates cover Saturday and/or Sunday. 

COVID-19 related absence was recorded separately to general sickness absence in accordance 
with government guidelines.  In addition, where sickness absence has been extended due to 
COVID-19, consideration has been given to the impact of this on sickness levels, for example 
where an operation has been delayed and has resulted in the staff member’s absence being 
longer than the norm. 
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 44 
 

Employee benefits 2020-21  Total    Admin    Programme 

 Total  
Permanent 
Employees  Other  Total  

Permanent 
Employees  Other  Total  

Permanent 
Employees  Other 

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
Employee Benefits                  
Salaries and wages 13,655  12,947  708  9,993  9,549  444  3,662  3,398  264 
Social security costs 1,459  1,446  13  1,106  1,096  10  353  350  3 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme (note 1) 2,585  2,566  19  2,125  2,110  15  460  456  4 
Other pension costs 3  3  0  2  2  0  1  1  0 
Apprenticeship Levy 56  56  0  50  50  0  6  6  0 
Termination benefits 224  224  0  224  224  0  0  0  0 
Total employee benefits expenditure 17,982  17,242   740  13,500  13,031   469  4,482  4,211   271 

                  
                  
Employee benefits 2019-20  Total    Admin    Programme 

 Total  
Permanent 
Employees  Other  Total  

Permanent 
Employees  Other  Total  

Permanent 
Employees  Other 

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
Employee Benefits                  
Salaries and wages 13,417  12,030  1,387  9,581  8,720  861  3,836  3,310  526 
Social security costs 1,415  1,415  0  1,179  1,179  0  236  236  0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 2,414  2,414  0  2,117  2,117  0  297  297  0 
Other pension costs 3  3  0  3  3  0  0  0  0 
Apprenticeship Levy 53  53  0  48  48  0  5  5  0 
Termination benefits 14  14  0  0  0  0  14  14  0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure 17,316  15,929   1,387  12,928  12,067   861  4,388  3,862   526 

Note 1 - In 2020-21, the additional employer's pension contribution of 6.3% was £768k (2019-20 £729k) and met by NHS England as previously mentioned in Note 3.3. 
Under the direction of NHS England, the entire amount was recorded under Admin expenditure in both 2020-21 and 2019-20. Had this been allocated out between admin 
and programme expenditures, the amounts would have been £604k (2019-20 £596k) and £164k (2019-20 £133k) respectively.

 
44 Admin/programme split is not subject to audit. 
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AVERAGE NUMBER OF PEOPLE EMPLOYED (SUBJECT TO AUDIT) 

           Restated 
(Note 2)  2020-21      2019-20    

 Total  
Permanently 

employed  Other  Total  
Permanently 

employed  Other 
 Number  Number  Number  Number  Number  Number 
            

Total 274.3  263.8  10.5  274.0  257.6  16.4 

Note 2 - The comparator for ‘Other staff’ was restated in order to be consistent with the 
methodology used for the current year.       

 
HR shared service model 
In order to continue to respond to the developing needs of the CCG, the human resources 
provision continues to be delivered via a shared service, hosted by Herts Valleys CCG. The 
service provides support to East and North Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs.  

As part of a shared service, the CCG benefits from economies of scale, an enhanced 
knowledge base and a wider pool of HR and organisational skills and expertise, as well as 
access to a dedicated Director of Workforce, who is representing the CCG in aspects of the 
STP workforce agenda across both Hertfordshire and West Essex.  

CCG managers have access to the HRXtra service – a telephone and online resource 
providing advice and guidance on people and employee relations issues. In 2020/21, the 
HRXtra service held monthly face-to-face clinics at the CCG to increase accessibility and build 
rapport with managers.  HRXtra have also provided a suite of management awareness 
sessions on people management topics such as having wellbeing conversations and 
compassionate leadership. 
 
The HR team moved to virtual interviews at the start of the pandemic and put together 
guidance to support those interviewing and applicants to ensure the process was seamless. 
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HR support to the CCG’s COVID response 

COVID-19 created an unprecedented need to redeploy staff both internally and externally 
and pause some business as usual operations in order to facilitate the CCG’s response across 
the system, including support for the national mass vaccination programme.  The HR team 
have liaised with their counterparts across the system to produce a memorandum of 
understanding for mutual aid requests.   

CCG staff have been deployed into both administrative and clinical roles internally within the 
CCG and externally to provider organisations. 21 CCG staff were redeployed to NHS 
providers across the Integrated Care System (ICS), including Herts Urgent Care (HUC), East 
and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation 
Trust and Hertfordshire Community Trust. The average length of redeployment was 9 
weeks.  All staff re-deployed retained their original Agenda for Change terms and conditions.  

In addition to this, there were three secondments which represented a longer term 
commitment to the pandemic response and are still ongoing.  

The HR team has supported with the co-ordination of the staff vaccination programme to 
ensure that staff who wish to receive the COVID vaccination have the availability to do so, 
working with organisations across the local system that are providing the vaccinations.    

All CCG staff were offered the opportunity to take the COVID -19 vaccine. To date, 76% of 
staff have received the 1st dose of the vaccine. 

A number of communication methods were used to raise awareness of the vaccination 
programme amongst staff to ensure that they were able to make an informed choice.  A 
range of communication channels were used to improve the uptake of the vaccination offer 
which included: 

• Staff newsletters 
• Managing Director-led staff briefings; 
• Wellbeing conversations; 
• A survey to all staff 
• Direct and confidential emails directed at each individual with no record of vaccination 
• Webinars across the ICS   
• NHS national communications and promotional material. 

 
Specialist speakers from our local GP Network were engaged to host a panel discussion to 
address BAME and other staff’s concerns about the vaccine.  225 staff from a variety of 
ethnic backgrounds, attended the event. 
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 Keeping Charter House COVID-secure 
The CCG moved to remote working from March 2020 but has kept its office open 
throughout. As a good employer the CCG has an obligation to make sure our working 
environment is safe and meets the standards expected for a COVID-secure workplace. All 
staff have completed risk assessments. A home working policy was launched in June 2020 
and all staff were asked complete a homeworking assessment.   

A project group was established to plan and deliver the changes needed in our office space. 
These changes included: 

• Using the online desk booking system to seat people 2m apart 
• Hand sanitiser and cleaning wipes available in multiple places around the building 
• Social distancing markings and reminders on each floor 
• A requirement to wear face coverings when not at your desk 
• Changes to meeting room capacity and a move to virtual meetings where possible 
• Foot operated water dispenser 
• Perspex screens and a new appointment system for HBL ICT engineers and their 

clients   

Staff were provided with an online handbook and video to help them understand the 
changes and their responsibilities for adhering to the rules. The advice in this handbook is 
regularly reviewed to take account of any further guidance that may be updated. To enable 
staff to work from home a kit list was produced, so that staff could request items they 
needed. 
 

Staff Policies 

The HR Shared Service continues to develop and refresh policies for use across the three 
CCGs via the Policy Forum. The Forum has HR, management, staff-side and staff 
representatives from each CCG and works together to adopt best practice in people 
management policy across the organisations.   

In 2020/21, emphasis has been on creating and implementing policies to support the 
business through COVID-19, including the introduction of Homeworking/New Ways of 
Working and Domestic Violence policies.  The following policies have been reviewed in light 
of changing legislation, pay and conditions or government guidance: 

• Agency and Interim Use Policy 
• Annual Leave Policy 
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• Appraisal and Performance Review Policy 
• Attendance and Wellbeing Policy 
• Bullying and Harassment Policy 
• Capability Policy 
• Disciplinary Policy 
• Flexible Working Policy 
• Homeworking Framework Policy 
• Organisational Change Policy 
• Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy 

 

Whistleblowing 

The CCG has in place a ‘Raising Concerns at Work – Whistleblowing’ policy which provides 
staff with information and reassurance regarding their rights and responsibilities in reporting 
concerns. It sets out clearly how staff can report in confidence, good faith and without fear 
of retribution. As part of this policy, the CCG has nominated a lay member- Dianne Desmulie 
- to oversee the effectiveness of this process.   

During 2020/21, the CCG introduced Freedom to Speak Up Champions to help keep the CCG 
safe and supported.  Including the Lay Member there are nine trained champions based at 
the CCG, from different directorates, levels and backgrounds.  To further support CCG staff 
eight of the champions have also been trained as Mental Health First Aiders. 
 
Training and values 

The compliance rate for mandatory training as at 31 March 2020 is 94.2%. Non-compliance is 
being addressed via system alerts to relevant staff and their managers, OLM workshops and 
regular mandatory training reporting to Directors. The OLM system is fully operational and 
managers can view a dashboard of their teams’ compliance in real time on My ESR.  

The HR and ODL Shared Service continue to offer appraisal training to managers and 
employees to support the process of undertaking meaningful appraisals.   

During 2020/21 a wide range of optional learning and development opportunities were 
offered to staff via the MindTools web portal and face-to-face through the HR ODL shared 
service. The CCG has 184 users registered with MindTools. The CCG also encourages 
protected time each Friday in order for staff to focus on personal development, including a 
regular ‘learning hour’.  
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The CCG values are:  

• Patient Centred: Putting patients at the heart of everything we do and 
communicating why we do 
 

• Collaborative working: Understanding the importance and benefits of partnership 
working to be more efficient and to improve outcomes 
 

• Compassionate and caring: inspiring others through kindness, flexibility, support and 
empowerment and going the extra mile 
 

• Striving for excellence: Being purposeful and focused on high quality standards with a 
determination and personal motivation to see things through. 

 
The values will be used within appraisals to assess if staff are modelling the right behaviours 
and linked into the recruitment process as part of value-based interviews.  

Apprenticeship Levy 

During the year, staff were also able to make use of the Apprenticeship Levy to access 
professional development qualifications. 
 
The Apprentice Levy was nationally introduced in April 2017 to help deliver new 
apprenticeships and to support quality training by putting employers at the heart of the 
system. As part of the program, the government is committed to developing vocational 
skills, and to increasing the quantity and quality of apprenticeships.   
 
Employers with annual pay bills in excess of £3 million are required to pay 0.5 % of their pay-
bill into the scheme. This means that East and North Hertfordshire CCG has an annual Levy 
budget of approximately £50k. The scheme has started to gain momentum in 2021 with four 
staff now taking part in the Apprenticeship programme.  To date ENHCCG has one project 
management L4 apprentice, two completing their MBA and one completing their MSc 
through Ashridge. The CCG will continue to encourage staff to take up further opportunities. 
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Health and safety  

The CCG is fully committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of all its staff and 
providing a secure and healthy environment in which to work. The CCG recognises its legal 
obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, to ensure the health, safety and 
welfare of its staff, so far as is reasonably practicable. The CCG also accepts such 
responsibility for other persons who may be affected by its activities.  

During 2020/201 the CCG obtained professional health and safety guidance through 
Hertfordshire County Council who also delivered virtual fire warden training for CCG staff. 
The CCG also completed its Fire Risk Assessment in line with its Annual Plan. Staff Mental 
Health First Aiders were formally trained online and existing first aiders refreshed their 
training virtually to ensure their skills were up to date.  The CCG ensured compliance with 
The Health and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) Regulations 1992 by issuing additional 
guidance to staff to reduce the risk of developing related health problems, particularly while 
working from home. The CCG also enabled staff to reclaim the costs of any equipment 
bought to enable effective working from home following a DSE assessment.  

 
Employee consultation and communications  
 
Joint Partnership Forum 
 
The Joint Partnership Forum meets regularly, virtually during much of 2020/21, and is a 
chance for staff and union representatives to discuss key issues affecting their working lives 
with executive members and make plans for improvements.  
 
This year the forum has worked to address key issues that were raised in previous years’ 
national staff surveys, which included opportunities for flexible working patterns and 
tackling bullying. Other actions taken to support the workforce included:  
  

• Setting up a working group to put in place measures to make Charter House a COVID-
secure office environment, ensuring staff know how to work safely within the 
building 

• Supporting staff to work from home by having the right processes, such as Display 
Screen Assessments, in place and providing a one-off allowance to pay for additional 
equipment identified as a result  

• Expanding the local wellbeing support available to staff and helping staff to know 
about these and what national initiatives were available to them 

• Expanding the number of trained mental health first aiders in the organisation 
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• Launching Speak Up Inclusion Champions – new roles which give staff access to a 
network of colleagues who offer a kind, impartial and compassionate listening ear to 
any concerns they have. A champion helps people to identify the way forward for 
themselves and signposts staff to additional policies that apply to their situation 

• Agreeing improvements to the office environment to make Charter House a more 
pleasant place to work    

• Widening our induction and welcome to new staff, putting in place ‘buddies’ and 
peer support in teams 

• Ensuring staff having to take mental health sickness absence are treated fairly and 
compassionately  

• Beginning a review of the staff health and wellbeing policy to update the policy and 
strengthen the associated guidance documents, for example, guidance on managing 
stress and supporting staff in requesting reasonable adjustments 

• Ensuring that appraisal training is made available to all staff who need it, and that 
this training fits in with the timetable for carrying out appraisals 

• Discussing what social activities can be run to improve staff morale. A Christmas 
virtual event was held and a walking challenge was held during March 

• Launching an IT user group to enable staff to give feedback 
• Discussing how to celebrate successes and give staff more opportunities to share 

good news 

Despite most CCG staff working remotely, the Chair of the group has received many more 
staff questions and enquiries than in previous years. The CCG would like to encourage staff 
to keep coming forward to raise their suggestions, ideas or concerns and these will be 
addressed in the most appropriate forum. 
 

Staff Survey  

The 2020 NHS National Staff Survey has demonstrated that there has been significant 
improvement in the following areas:  

• Satisfaction with opportunities for flexible working 
• CCG takes positive action on health and wellbeing 
• Staff not coming to work when not feeling well enough to perform duties  
• Enough staff at CCG to do job properly  
• Have adequate materials, supplies and equipment to do job 

The survey results are shared with teams and focus groups have taken place to enable a 
more detailed discussions about issues raised in the survey and other things that affect staff 
working lives. The sessions were run by union representatives so that staff can speak freely 
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and openly about issues or concerns. A corporate action plan will be devised in partnership 
with staff to address areas of concern. In 2020/21, the CCG’s overall staff engagement score 
(7.3/10) was in line with the national average and the same as 2019. The CCG will continue 
to develop more ways in which staff can engage in a meaningful way with management.  
 
The full reports can be viewed here: Benchmark & directorate reports 2020 – NHS Staff 
Survey Results 
 

Internal communications  

We have a range of internal communication channels for all our staff and have adapted our 
approach over the year to balance the need to keep staff informed about key national and 
local issues and not overwhelming staff with information. Our channels include email 
briefings from the chief executive (daily during spring and summer, stepping down to twice 
weekly), regular ‘tea and talk’ sessions with the managing director to discuss key issues and 
answer questions, plus the CCG and HR intranets. 
 

Staff health and wellbeing 
The CCG is fully committed to the health and positive wellbeing of its employees. The 
emphasis in this area has been especially important during the challenges of the past year 
and the CCG understands that a healthy and happy workforce is crucial to delivering 
improvements in patient care. 

The CCG introduced a new Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) in 2020, provided by Vita 
Health group accessed through a free and confidential helpline.   

During 2020/21, the CCG funded twelve members of staff to become ‘Mental Health First 
Aiders’, who support staff with a listening ear and signpost them to appropriate local 
services. The CCG also has access to occupational health services, to support staff with 
health concerns. 

The CCG continues to promote flexible working provision on job adverts and has run training 
sessions for managers to ensure opportunities for flexible work are offered equitably across 
the CCG.  

Other initiatives to help staff keep fit and healthy include the cycle-to-work scheme which 
allows staff to buy a bike at a reduced cost and pay for it monthly through tax efficient salary 
deductions.  

https://www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com/homepage/benchmark-directorate-reports-2020/
https://www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com/homepage/benchmark-directorate-reports-2020/
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The focus on staff wellbeing continues to ensure early interventions with regards to sickness 
absence.  Actions currently underway and planned to address these issues are as follows: 

• Here for You programme has been launched for NHS staff. This is a service that is 
managed by our local psychologists 

• Team building activities to support job role and partnership working 
• HR masterclasses being promoted and delivered to line managers to ensure absence 

and performance issues are addressed at an early stage 
• Compassionate leadership approach through coaching conversations with staff 
• Health and wellbeing conversation training for all managers to promote a positive 

culture for health and wellbeing 
• Launched Health and Wellbeing internet site so staff have a central point to access 

health and wellbeing resources and information for key services 
• Staff have access to the HR ODL intranet that has a wealth of information on health 

and wellbeing 
 
 

Equality of opportunity for staff 
In July, we shared with CCG staff across our ICS area, our organisation’s commitment to 
challenging inequalities in the workplace and improving opportunities for all of our staff. 
Staff are encouraged to discuss equality issues within team meetings and bring forward 
comments and suggestions. The first meeting of our new BAME Network took place in 
October, which aimed to empower staff from Black, Asian or minority ethnic backgrounds to 
engage with the organisation in a meaningful way and to discuss ways in which the 
experience and opportunities within the CCG can be improved. In August the CCG ran a 
diversity survey to get a better understanding of the issues faced by BAME staff. Action plans 
are under development to address the findings. 

COVID-19 - The take up of risk assessments and vaccinations to BAME colleagues has been 
monitored to ensure this high risk group have support in place to mitigate the risk of 
catching the virus. 

 

https://www.enhertsccg.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Jul2020/Our%20commitment%20to%20improving%20opportunities%20for%20our%20staff%20and%20challenging%20inequalities%20-%20final.pdf
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PART THREE: PARLIAMENTARY 
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 
REPORT 
 
East and North Hertfordshire CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary 
Accountability and Audit Report, which would require disclosure on remote contingent 
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges in this Accountability 
Report. However, it can confirm that there have been no such items that require this 
disclosure during 2020/21. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE  
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS EAST AND NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE  
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
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THE ACCOUNTS 
 

To follow 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACCOUNTS 
2020/21 

_______________________ 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2021 

 

  2020-21  2019-20 
 Note £'000  £'000 
     

Revenue from contracts with customers 2 (11,679)  (10,908) 
Other operating income 2 (173)  (178) 
Total operating income  (11,852)  (11,086) 

     
Staff costs 3 17,982  17,316 
Purchase of goods and services 4 882,162  870,501 
Depreciation 4 911  933 
Provision expense 4 156  54 
Other Operating Expenditure 4 448  362 
Total operating expenditure  901,659  889,166 

     
Net Operating Expenditure  889,807  878,080 

       
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2021  889,807  878,080 

 
The notes on pages 189 – 217 form part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 

  31 March 2021  31 March 2020 
 Note £'000  £'000 

Non-current assets:     
Property, plant and equipment 6 2,416  3,327 
Trade and other receivables 7 216  419 
Total non-current assets  2,632  3,746 

     
Current assets:     
Trade and other receivables 7 9,746  9,752 
Cash  8 508  391 
Total current assets  10,254  10,143 

     
Total assets  12,886  13,889 

     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 9 (57,410)  (65,125) 
Provisions  (243)  (114) 
Total current liabilities  (57,653)  (65,239) 

     
Assets less Liabilities  (44,767)  (51,350) 

     
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity     
General fund  (44,767)  (51,350) 
Total taxpayers' equity:  (44,767)  (51,350) 

 
The notes on pages 189 – 217 form part of this statement. 

The financial statements on pages 189 to 217 were approved by the Audit Committee (on behalf of the 
Governing Body) on 10 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

Jane Halpin  
Joint Accountable Officer 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2021 

  
General 

fund 
  £'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21   
   
Balance at 1 April 2020  (51,350) 
   
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21   
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (889,807) 
    
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial 
Year including balance brought forward from previous year  (941,157) 
Net funding  896,390 
Balance at 31 March 2021  (44,767) 
   

  
General 

fund 
  £'000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20   
   
Balance at 1 April 2019  (45,423) 
   
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20   
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (878,080) 
    
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year 
including balance brought forward from previous year (923,503) 
Net funding  872,153 
Balance at 31 March 2020  (51,350) 

 
The notes on pages 189 – 217 form part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

  2020-21 2019-20 
 Note £'000 £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (889,807) (878,080) 
Depreciation 4 911 933 
Decrease / (Increase) in trade & other receivables 7 209 (2,607) 
(Decrease) / Increase in trade & other payables 9 (7,715) 8,623 
Provisions utilised  (28) (58) 
Increase in provisions  157 54 
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities  (896,273) (871,135) 

     
Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Payments for property, plant and equipment  0 (1,057) 

      
Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities  0 (1,057) 

     
Net Cash Outflow before Financing  (896,273) (872,192) 

     
Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Grant in Aid Funding Received  896,390 872,153 

      
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities  896,390 872,153 

    
Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash 8 117 (39) 

    
Cash at the Beginning of the Financial Year  391 430 

    
Cash at the End of the Financial Year  508 391 

 
The notes on pages 189 – 217 form part of this statement. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
  

1 Accounting Policies 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning 
groups (CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting 
Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the 
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group 
Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The 
accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate 
to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 
  

1.1 Going Concern 

 These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.  

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published documents. 

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to 
be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining 
whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. 
If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the 
going concern basis. 
  

1.2 Accounting Convention 

 These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
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1.3 Pooled Budgets 

The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC), Herts 
Valleys CCG and Cambridge and Peterborough CCG for the provision of a number of 
services, including: 

(1) Services under the Better Care Fund (BCF). Although the BCF consists of a number 
of commissioning arrangements, only services jointly-commissioned with HCC, 
including the protection of social care services, are relevant to the pooled policy. 

 (2) Mental Health and Learning Disability Services which are jointly-commissioned. 

 (3) Equipment Services. 

 (4) Intermediate Care Services. 

As assessment has been carried out of these arrangements under the appropriate 
accounting standards and they are deemed to meet the definition of being under 
joint control under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. Under this type of arrangement, a 
joint operation is considered to be in place and this means that the CCG recognises: 

- its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
- its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 
- its revenue from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation; 
- its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; 

and 
- its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

 
1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the 
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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The CCG is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty that will materially affect these financial statements. 

 
1.5 Revenue 

The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS 
England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised 
in the period in which it is received. 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received. 
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following 
year, that income is deferred. The main source of income for the CCG is in the 
provision of Information and Technology Services to various NHS organisations. 

The value of the benefit received when the CCG accesses funds from the 
Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in accordance with 
IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an 
accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training 
expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded. 

 
1.6 Employee Benefits 

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from employees. 

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to 
carry forward leave into the following period. 

 
1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions 
Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
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contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme is taken as 
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension 
liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the 
retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

 
1.7 Other Expenses 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
payable. 

 
1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment 

1.8.1 Recognition 

 Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 · It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

· It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be 
supplied to the CCG; 

 · It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 · The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 · The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 

· Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a 
cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had 
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal 
dates and are under single managerial control; or, 

· Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward 
or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 
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Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

 
1.8.2 Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the 
cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.  

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not 
considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

 
1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, 
the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores 
the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing 
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

 
1.9 Depreciation and Impairments 

Depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and 
equipment less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that 
reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The 
estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain 
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and 
may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes 
recognised on a prospective basis.  

At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that 
any of its tangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is 
indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to 
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. 

Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken 
to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 



Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21 
________________________________________________________________________  198 

amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount 
but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no 
initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure 
to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the 
revaluation reserve. 

 
1.10 Cash  

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. 

 
1.11 Financial Assets 

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial 
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 
have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
have expired or the asset has been transferred. 

 Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

- Financial assets at amortised cost; 
- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ; 
- Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics 
of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 

 
1.12 Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the 
CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in 
the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial 
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired. 
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1.13 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS 
Standard and Interpretation to be applied in 2020-21.  

• IFRS 16 Leases – HM Treasury, in conjunction with the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board (FRAB) has decided to defer the implementation of this 
standard for a further year to 2022-23. For the NHS, this will be for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022. 

Having undertaken a detailed impact assessment of IFRS 16 and applying the 
transition processes as mandated by HM Treasury, the CCG concluded that this 
standard does not have a material impact on the financial statements of the CCG in 
2020-21, had the standard been implemented in that year. 

 

2  Other Operating Revenue 

  2020-21  2019-20 
  Total  Total 
  £'000  £'000 

Revenue from contracts with customers     
Education, training and research  0  10 
Non-patient care services to other bodies   11,554   10,484 
Other revenue  125  414 
Total Income from sale of goods and services  11,679  10,908 

     
Other operating income     
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue  4  3 
Other non contract revenue  169  175 
Total Other operating income  173  178 

     
Total Operating Income  11,852  11,086 

 
The recognition of revenue is over time. Other operating income is derived from the rendering of services. 
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2.1  Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of goods and services (contracts) 

 
Education, training 

and research  

Non-patient care 
services to other bodies  

Other Contract 
Income  Total 

2020-21 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
        

Source of Revenue        
NHS  0  11,518  0  11,518 
Non NHS 0  36  125  161 
Total 0  11,554  125  11,679 

        

 
Education, training 

and research  

Non-patient care 
services to other bodies  

Other Contract 
Income  Total 

2019-20 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
        

Source of Revenue        
NHS  0  10,369  227  10,596 
Non NHS 10  115  187  312 
Total 10  10,484  414  10,908 

 

3. Employee benefits 

3.1 Employee benefits  2020-21  2019-20 
  Total  Total 
  £'000  £'000 

Employee Benefits     
Salaries and wages  13,655  13,417 
Social security costs  1,459  1,415 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme  2,585  2,414 
Other pension costs  3  3 
Apprenticeship Levy  56  53 
Termination benefits  224  14 
Gross employee benefits expenditure  17,982  17,316 
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3.2 Ill health retirements        

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included 
in table 3.1 above. In 2020-21, there was one ill health retirement and the cost to the 
NHS Pension Scheme was £144k (2019-20 Nil).     
   

3.3 Pension costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in 
England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.   

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% 
from 1st April 2019. For 2020-21, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at 
the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on behalf of 
CCGs. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements 
do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date 
by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows: 

a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary 
(currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in 
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on 
valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
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methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount 
rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the 
benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 
employers.  

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 
completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 
contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 
funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the 
employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the 
Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, 
due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling 
relating to the McCloud case.  

"The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been 
lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016 valuations could be completed. 
The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be 
included in this process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of 
how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process. The Government 
has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control 
mechanism (as was originally announced in 2018). The review will assess whether the 
cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives and 
reported to Government in April 2021.  The findings of this review will not impact the 
2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made 
in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.” 
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4. Operating expenses 

 2020-21  2019-20 
 Total  Total 
 £'000  £'000 

Purchase of goods and services    
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 668  1,090 
Services from foundation trusts (Note 1) 159,664  74,786 
Services from other NHS trusts 424,398  416,799 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies (Note 1, 2 and 8) 90,287  188,095 
Purchase of social care 14,405  14,393 
Prescribing costs 88,956  82,038 
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS  87,780  78,146 
Supplies and services – clinical 10  10 
Supplies and services – general 1,819  1,565 
Consultancy services 745  462 
Establishment 9,754  7,256 
Transport (Note 3) 699  3,293 
Premises (Note 7) 2,131  2,004 
Audit fees (Note 4 and 5) 76  60 
Other professional fees (Note 6) 365  267 
Legal Fees 58  65 
Education and training 343  170 
Non cash apprenticeship training grants 4  3 
Total Purchase of goods and services 882,162  870,501 

    
Depreciation    
Depreciation 911  933 
Total Depreciation  911  933 

    
Provision expense    
Provisions 156  54 
Total Provision expense 156  54 

    
Other Operating Expenditure    
Chair and Non Executive Members 185  181 
Expected credit loss on receivables 2  (2) 
Other expenditure 261  183 
Total Other Operating Expenditure 448  362 

    
    
Total operating expenses 883,677  871,850 

 
Note 1  
In 2020-21, Mental Health expenditure of £86,900k was paid directly to Hertfordshire Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust under the NHS England block contract arrangement. The corresponding amount in 2019-20 
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was £79,200k but was paid to the Local Authority and reported under Purchase of Healthcare from non-NHS 
bodies.  
 
Note 2      
The commissioning of services from the independent sector providers were directly contracted with and paid 
for by NHS England in 2020-21. The impact of this is to reduce expenditure by £25,300k compared to 2019-20.  
      
Note 3      
Patient transport services of £2,962k provided by East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust is shown under 
Services from other NHS Trusts in 2020-21 under the NHS England block contract arrangement. In 2019-20, this 
was shown under Transport.    
      
Note 4      
The annual audit fee includes VAT and the net amount is £53.5k (2019-20 £45k). Audit fees for review of the 
Mental Health Investment Standard includes VAT and the net amount is £10k (2019-20 £5k).   
      
Note 5      
Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2020-21 is £1million or, 
if greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the Engagement Letter.    
  
Note 6      
Other professional fees includes the sum of £42k for Internal Audit Fees (2019-20 £41k). Internal audit fees is 
shown net of VAT.      
      
Note 7      
Premises costs also includes £343k lease costs for building.      
 
Note 8      
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies includes a £4m grant provided to Hertfordshire County Council.
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5. Better Payment Practice Code   
 

Measure of compliance  2020-21  2020-21  2019-20  2019-20 
  Number  £'000  Number  £'000 

Non-NHS Payables         

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year  
        

21,777   
      

232,598   
     

20,803    313,739  

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target  
        

21,661   
      

231,208   
     

20,620    310,523  
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid 
within target  99.47%  99.40%  99.12%  98.97% 

         
NHS Payables         

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year  
          

1,402   
      

607,725   
       

3,838    499,825  

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target  
          

1,370   
      

603,171   
       

3,715    492,428  
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid  
within target  97.72%  99.25%  96.80%  98.52% 

 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the 
due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.    
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6. Property, plant and equipment 
 

2020-21  Information technology  Furniture & fittings  Total  
  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2020  5,100  597  5,697 
       

Disposals other than by sale  0  0  0 
       

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021  5,100  597  5,697 
       

Depreciation 1 April 2020  2,154  216  2,370 
       

Disposals other than by sale  0  0  0 
Charged during the year  842  69  911 

       
Depreciation at 31 March 2021  2,996  285  3,281 

       
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021  2,104  312  2,416 

       
Purchased  2,104  312  2,416 
Total at 31 March 2021  2,104  312  2,416 

       
Asset financing:       
       
Owned  2,104  312  2,416 
        
Total at 31 March 2021  2,104  312  2,416 

 
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any revaluation reserve balance for property, plant & equipment 
in 2020-21 and 2019-20. 
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7. Trade and other receivables 
 

 Current  Non-current  Current  Non-current 

 
31 March 

2021  
31 March 

2021  
31 March 

2020  
31 March 

2020 
 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 
        

NHS receivables: Revenue 5,695  0  2,050  0 
NHS prepayments 71  0  3,083  0 
NHS accrued income 994  0  2,263  0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: 
Revenue 441  0  738  0 
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 2,296  216  1,270  419 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued 
income 27  0  154  0 
VAT 219  0  184  0 
Other receivables and accruals 3  0  10  0 
Total Trade & other receivables 9,746  216  9,752  419 

        
Total current and non current  9,962    10,171   

 
The majority of trade is within the NHS group. As the NHS is funded by Government, no credit scoring is 
considered necessary. 
 
 
8. Cash 
 

  2020-21  2019-20 
  £'000  £'000 

Balance at 1 April  391  430 
Net change in year  117  (39) 
Balance at 31 March  508  391 

     
Made up of:     
Cash with the Government Banking Service  507  390 
Cash in hand  1  1 
Balance at 31 March  508  391 

 
There were no patients' monies held by the clinical commissioning group in 2020-21 and 2019-20. 
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9.  Trade and other payables 
 

  Current  Current 
  31 March 2021  31 March 2020 
  £'000  £'000 
     

NHS payables: revenue (Note 1)  1,315  10,947 
NHS accruals (Note 1)  1,090  9,077 
NHS deferred income  234  97 
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue  7,708  5,286 
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals  44,980  37,621 
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income   81  0 
Social security costs  225  221 
Tax  198  190 
Other payables and accruals  1,579  1,686 
Total Trade & Other Payables  57,410  65,125 

     
Total current and non-current  57,410  65,125 

 
Other payables include £747k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021 (£698k - 31 March 2020). 
 
Note 1        
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, all invoicing by NHS Providers were suspended and replaced by block payments 
as instructed by NHS England and NHS Improvement resulting in a reduction in NHS payables and accruals. 
 
 
10.  Financial instruments    
 
10.1  Financial risk management       
 

International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that 
financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a 
body faces in undertaking its activities.    
    
Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, 
it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, 
financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards 
mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or 
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical 
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.     
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Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the clinical commissioning group standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body.    
         

10.1.1 Credit risk       
 

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group's revenue comes from 
parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit 
risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables 
from customers, as disclosed in the financial assets note below.    
     

10.1.2 Liquidity risk       
 

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital 
resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The 
clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need 
arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant 
liquidity risks.   
 

 
10.2 Financial assets    
 

  

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost  

Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost 

  31 March 2021  31 March 2020 
  £'000  £'000 
     

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies  5,970  3,576 
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies  744  1,009 
Trade and other receivables with external bodies  446  631 
Cash and cash equivalents  508  391 
Total at 31 March  7,668  5,606 
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10.3 Financial liabilities 
 

  

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost  

Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

  31 March 2021  31 March 2020 
  £'000  £'000 
     

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies  949  977 
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies  18,554  33,834 
Trade and other payables with external bodies  37,169  29,806 
Total at 31 March  56,672  64,617 

   
 
11. Operating segments    
    

In previous years, healthcare costs were attributed to localities, with transformation 
schemes, running costs and other costs which cannot be attributed directly to 
localities charged centrally. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, NHS England put in 
place a temporary financial regime to cover the first six months of 2020-21. There are 
limitations to this approach, one of which is the requirement to retrospectively 
adjust the CCG's allocation on a monthly basis to bring it back into financial balance.  
 
A further framework was implemented for the second half of 2020-21 which retained 
the simplified arrangements for payments and contracting whilst maintaining a 
greater focus on system partnerships and the restoration of elective services. As a 
result of these financial arrangements, locality reporting was suspended and the CCG 
therefore considers there to be only one segment in 2020-21: Commissioning of 
healthcare services. The comparator has also been restated to be consistent with the 
current year.   
 

  2020-21   2019-20 
  £'000   £'000 

Commissioning of healthcare services 889,807   878,080 
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12. Pooled budgets                 
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Hertfordshire County Council, Herts Valleys Clinical 
Commissioning Group, and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group. The pool is hosted by Hertfordshire 
County Council.        
 
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the commissioning of services as follows: mental 
health, learning disabilities, child and adolescent mental health, integrated health and social care community equipment service, 
residential and nursing care in a number of care homes, social care services complementary to the NHS. The pooled budget only 
includes that expenditure over which the partners have joint control. 
 
The clinical commissioning group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were: 
    

2020-21 

Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities 

& CAMHS  Equipment Service  Intermediate Care  
Protection of Social 

Care Services  
All pooled 

funds 

   (Note 1)               

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 
Total 

Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 
Total CCG 

Contribution 

 2020-21 
 

2020-21 
 

2020-21  2020-21  2020-21  2020-21  2020-21  2020-21  2020-21 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
                  

Original Contribution 373,552  91,632  5,956  1,428  5,794  1,960  23,413  14,771  109,791 
Expenditure and revised contribution 373,727  91,723  6,079  1,457  6,092  2,312  18,854  14,771  110,263 

 (175)  (91)  (123)  (29)  (298)  (352)  4,559  0  (472) 
  
Note 1                   
The contribution of the CCG also included £86,900k paid directly to Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (see also Note 4 Operating Expenses). This is a 
departure from previous years whereby the payment was made to Hertfordshire County Council.          
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2019-20 Covid-19  

Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities & 

CAMHS  Equipment Service   Intermediate Care  
Protection of Social 

Care Services  
All pooled 

funds 

                      

 

Total Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 
Total 

Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 

Total 
Pooled-
Budget 

 
CCG 

 
Total CCG 

Contribution 

 2019-20  2019-20  2019-20 
 

2019-20 
 

2019-20  2019-20  2019-20  2019-20  2019-20  2019-20  2019-20 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

                      
Original Contribution 178  178  360,872  84,079  5,761  1,395  5,465  1,960  23,569  14,754  102,366 
Expenditure and revised contribution 178  178  360,249  83,728  5,856  1,418  5,371  1,941  21,168  13,557  100,822 

 0  0  623  351  (95)  (23)  94  19  2,401  1,197  1,544 
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13. Related party transactions 
 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:  
      

During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health 
and Social Care Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or 
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group. 
     
Following their appointment to the Hertfordshire & West Essex Joint Executive Team 
(JET), the following Governing Body members are also Board members of Herts 
Valleys and West Essex CCGs:     

 
Jane Halpin     
Alan Pond     
Rachel Joyce     
Jane Kinniburgh     
Avni Shah     
Frances Shattock     

     
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of 
payments made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the 
GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:   

 
 

 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
     

Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall       1,922  0 5 0 
King George Surgery - Dr. A Saha       2,442  0 18 0 
Portmill Surgery - Dr. T Belcher       1,832  0 0 0 
South Street Surgery - Dr. S Dixon       2,274  0 7 0 
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley       5,083  0 61 0 
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah       1,169  0 4 0 

     
The following payments were made to the organisation below where the spouse of a GP Governing Body 
Member is a Partner in that organisation:  
     
Mills & Reeves             40  0 0 0 
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The following are payments made in the normal course of business to GP Federations of which GP practices 
are shareholders. 
     
12 Point Care       2,891  0 93 0 
Ephedra Healthcare Limited          782  0 0 0 
Stort Valley Health Care Limited       1,175  0 8 0 

  
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the 
year the CCG has had a number of material transactions with entities for which the 
Department is regarded as the parent organisation. The CCG has adopted a 
disclosure level of £5million and the most significant related parties are listed below. 
In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material transactions 
with other local government bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also 
been reflected in the list below:     

     
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust     
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust     
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust     
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust     
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust     
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust     
The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust     
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust     
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust     
Hertfordshire County Council     
     
2019-20 comparators are shown on the following page.   
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13a. Related party transactions (2019-20) 
 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:  
   

During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health 
and Social Care Ministers, clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or 
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning group. 
    
A number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Governing Body. Details of 
payments made by the CCG to their practices and related parties disclosed by the 
GPs and other Governing Body members were as follows:     

 

 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amount
s owed 

to 
Related 

Party 

Amount
s due 
from 

Related 
Party 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
     

Chells Surgery - Dr. R Hall          1,672  0 5 0 
Garden City Practice - Dr. S Gupta          1,286  0 2 0 
Hanscombe House Surgery - Dr R Shah          1,150  0 4 0 
King George Surgery - Dr. A Saha          1,974  0 23 0 
Portmill Surgery - Dr. T Belcher          1,790  0 7 0 
South Street Surgery - Dr. N Shukur & Dr. S Dixon          2,230  0 5 0 
Stanmore Medical Group - Dr. P Moodley          4,310  0 122 0 
The Limes Surgery - Dr. M Andrews               12  0 0 0 
The Maples Surgery - Dr. A Jackson          1,360  0 4 0 
Wrafton House Surgery - Dr. A Shah          1,104  0 2 0 

     
The following payments were made to the organisation below where the spouse of a GP Governing Body 
Member is a Partner in that organisation:  
      
Mills & Reeves                43  0 3 0 

     
The following are payments for services procured from GP Federations of which GPs were 
shareholders.  

     
12 Point Care          1,941  0 8 0 
Ephedra Healthcare Limited             978  0 27 0 
Generating Health Limited          2,132  0 52 0 
Lea Valley Health Limited          1,861  6 75 6 
Stevenage Health Limited             451  0 0 0 
Stort Valley Health Care Limited             625  0 35 0 
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The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the 
year the CCG has had a number of material transactions with entities for which the 
Department is regarded as the parent organisation. The CCG has adopted a 
disclosure level of £5million and the most significant related parties are listed below. 
In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material transactions 
with other local government bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also 
been reflected in the list below:     

     
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust     
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust     
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust     
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust     
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust     
North Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust     
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust     
The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust     
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust     
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust     
Hertfordshire County Council   

 
 
14. Events after the end of the reporting period     
   

The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period 
that are required to be disclosed in this note.     
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15. Financial performance targets    
    

The clinical commissioning group has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 
2006 (as amended). The clinical commissioning group performance against those 
duties was as follows:      

 
 2020-21  2020-21  2019-20  2019-20 

 Target  Performance  Target  Performance 
 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Expenditure not to exceed income  901,659  901,659  889,166  889,166 
Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 0  0  0  0 
Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 889,807  889,807  878,080  878,080 
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 0  0  0  0 
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 0  0  0  0 
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 12,013  11,693  13,453  12,228 
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